# **Mechanisms of somite**

# formation and subdivision

Ana Sofia Teixeira Franco Dias

A Thesis Submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

University of London

2017

Department of Cell and Developmental Biology

University College London

London

I declare that the work presented in this thesis is of my own.

Where information has been derived from other sources,  $\ensuremath{\mathsf{I}}$  confirm

that this has been indicated in the thesis.

Ana Sofia Teixeira Franco Dias

\_\_\_\_\_

To J. D. and A. D.

#### Abstract

#### Mechanisms of somite formation and subdivision

Ana Sofia Teixeira Franco Dias

Somitogenesis is the process by which the presomitic mesoderm is segmented along the vertebrate axis. A clock and wavefront system has been suggested to control multiple aspects of this process including somite size specification, timing of formation and rostralcaudal patterning of somites. This thesis investigates an ex vivo experimental model that generates multiple somites from non-somitic posterior primitive streak tissue through exposure to the BMP inhibitor Noggin. These somites from almost simultaneously in a nonlinear arrangement and acquire an axial identity of cervical somites, showing a normal size, morphology, expression of somitic markers and giving rise to late somite derivatives when transplanted into a secondary host, but form in the absence of the cyclic expression of key molecular clock genes. However, the experimental somites fail to become patterned into rostral and caudal halves, a feature necessary for the segmentation of the peripheral nervous system. The findings in this thesis raise the possibility that the main function of the clock operating in the presomitic mesoderm cells that

generate somites might be distinctive for the different aspects of somitogenesis and suggest that it could be mainly required for rostral-caudal patterning of the somites, coupling it with somite formation.

## **Table of Contents**

List of Figures	9
List of Tables	12
List of Charts	13
List of Graphs	14
List of Abbreviations	15
Acknowledgments	16
Chapter One: Introduction	18
1.1 Somites and the vertebrate Bauplan	18
1.2 The chick embryo as a model to study somitogenesis	19
1.3 The origin of the somites: somite precursor cells	24
1.4 Somitogenesis	26
1.4.1 Somite epithelialization and intersomitic boundary formation	29
1.4.2 Rostrocaudal patterning of the somites	34
1.5 Models of somite formation	37
1.5.1 Clock and wavefront model for somitogenesis	38
1.5.1.1 Cycling genes	39
1.5.1.2 Interactions between Wnt, Notch and Fgf pathways	42
1.5.1.3 The wavefront	43
1.5.2 Reaction-diffusion model for somitogenesis	48
1.5.3 Cell cycle model for somitogenesis	50
1.5.4 Unresolved questions	53
1.6 The formation of somite compartments and somite derivatives	55
1.6.1 Somite maturation	55
1.6.2 Somite compartments	59

1.6.2.1 Sclerotome	59
1.6.2.2 Dermomyotome and myotome	65
1.7 Somite axial identity	68
1.8 The role of BMP-4 signaling and Noggin in mesoderm patterning and	somite
specification	73
1.9 Aims of the study	80

## Chapter Two: Materials and Methods......101

2.1 Avian embryos and somite nomenclature101
2.2 Microsurgical procedures103
2.2.1 Modified New culture of young avian embryos103
2.2.2 Somite transplantation experiment104
2.3 Fixation of the embryos107
2.4 Synthesis of RNA antisense Digoxigenin-labelled probes for in situ
hybridization107
2.5 Whole mount <i>in-situ</i> hybridization109
2.6 Antibodies for whole mount immunocytochemistry111
2.7 Antibodies for whole mount double immunocytochemistry111
2.8 Whole mount immunocytochemistry112
2.9 Histological sections
2.10 Photography of chick embryos113
2.11 Time-lapse imaging of ectopic somite formation114
2.12 Analysis of the molecular clock in the posterior primitive streak (PPS) explant
treated with Noggin protein prior to ectopic somite formation - time-course
experiment114
2.13 Calculation of somite volumes115

## Chapter Three: Optimization of an ex vivo method for Ectopic

Somite Formation	116
Introduction	116
Methods	118
Results	125
Discussion	131

## Chapter Four: Characterization of experimentally generated

somites	136
Introduction	136
Results	140
Discussion	147

Chapter Five: Somite formation without a clock?	150
Introduction	150
Results	157
Discussion	

Chapter	Six:	Do	ectopic	somites	have	an	axial
identity?.							184
Introd	duction						184
Resu	lts						186
Discu	ssion						192
Chapter S	Seven: (	Genera	al Discussi	on		•••••	196
7.1 P	revailing	model o	f somitogenes	sis and incong	uent data.		197
7.2 Tł	ne aims o	of this stu	udy				202
7.3 Fi	inal rema	rks and	future directio	ns			208
Reference	es						212
Reference	es						212
Reference Appendia	es c 1: Put	olicatio	on				212
Reference Appendix	es c 1: Put	olicatic	on				212 282
Reference Appendix Appendix	es c 1: Puk c 2	olicatio	on				212 282 288
Reference Appendix Appendix	es c 1: Puk c 2	olicatio	on				212 282 288
Reference Appendix Appendix Appendix	es c 1: Puk c 2 c 3	olicatio	on				212 282 288 288
Reference Appendix Appendix Appendix	es c 1: Puk c 2 c 3	olicatio	on				212 282 288 292

### **List of Figures**

#### Figure

Page

Figure 1.6. Summary diagram representing the Cell Cycle model......95

Figure 1.8. Hox code and the axial formula......99

Figure 2.1. Diagram showing the changes in the shape of Hensen's node between HH-stage 4 and HH-stage 6......102

Figure 3.2. Posterior primitive streak explants (non-somite tissue) treated with Noggin protein and cultured for 9-12h.....129

Figure 4.1. Somites formed from non-somite mesoderm treated with Noggin express *Paraxis* and N-cadherin and are surrounded by a Fibronectin matrix......143

Figure 4.2. Experimentally generated somites grafted into the place of an endogenous somite express *MyoD* and *Pax1*......145

Figure 5.2. Time-lapse imaging of endogenous somite formation......168

## List of Tables

Table					Page
Table cells	3.1.	Transfection	efficiency	of	COS-1 126
Table 3 embryo Noggin	8.2. Comp os forming administ	parison of the pe g ectopic somites tration on PPS exp	rcentage of tra after each diff plants	ansplar erent n	nted host nethod of 128
Table 3	.3. Calibr	ation of Noggin co	oncentration		128

## **List of Charts**

#### Chart

Page

## List of Graphs

Graph					Page
Graph	5.1.	Experimental	vs.	endogenous	somite
formatio	on				162

## List of abbreviations

Α	Anterior
С	Caudal
DM	Dermomyotome
DML	Dorsal medial lip
ЕМТ	Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition
HH st	Hamburger and Hamilton stage of development
LFng	Lunatic Fringe
MET	Mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition
MRFs	Muscle regulatory factors
Р	Posterior
PNS	Peripheral nervous system
PPS	Posterior primitive streak
PSM	Presomitic mesoderm
R	Rostral
RA	Retinoic acid
VLL	Ventral lateral lip

#### Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to express my gratitude to my Ph.D supervisor Prof Claudio Stern for support and guidance throughout my work, for his motivation and shared knowledge. Additionally, I would like to thank my subsidiary supervisor Prof Susan Evans and the Departmental Graduate Tutor Prof David Whitmore for their insightful comments and hard questions but also for their encouragement during my Ph.D study. I would also like to thank Prof Andrea Streit, Dr Adrian Sherman, Dr Christopher Thrasivoulou and the UCL Confocal Unit Support Staff members, Daniel Ciantar and Tim Robson, who helped me with research techniques and materials, confocal microscope imaging training and image processing. I thank my colleagues in the Stern lab for the interesting discussions and for the support during sleepless nights we were working together. In particular, I would like to thank Dr Matthew Stower and Dr Sittipon Intarapat, my colleagues on the Ph.D course, for their academic and personal support over the years. I would also like to thank the wide scientific community in the Cell and Developmental Biology Department at University College London, the Craniofacial Department at Kings College London and the Animal Biology Department at the Faculty of Sciences of the University of Lisbon, in particular I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Prof Sólveig Thorsteinsdóttir for providing my first glance of academic research. I acknowledge the Medical Research Council and the National Institute of Health for funding my Ph.D study and for supporting the publication of this work. Last but not least, I would like to thank D. Watts, my parents and my fiancé for their unwavering faith in me and for their support throughout writing this thesis.

#### **Chapter One: Introduction**

#### 1.1 Somites and the vertebrate Bauplan

Embryogenesis is the process by which a unicellular zygote forms the sophisticated assembly of different tissues that elaborate the functional interacting organs of the developed adult body. Vertebrate embryogenesis differs extensively across the clade in the early stages of development but converges in the Pharyngula, which is the phylotypic stage that represents the general Bauplan of the vertebrate body, before diverging again at later stages to shape the anatomical diversity of the vertebrate subphylum (von Baer, 1828; Raff, 1996) [known as the hourglass model (Sander, 1983; Duboule, 1994; Raff, 1996)]. The vertebrate phylotypic stage is characterized by several features, among which is the segmentation of the paraxial or presomitic mesoderm (PSM) into segmental units known as somites. Somites are transient developmental features that appear as epithelial spheres along both sides of the notochord and neural tube. The term "somite" was first used by Balfour (Balfour, 1881) to describe the metameric units of the PSM in amphibians, but had been previously termed "urwirbel" or "protovertebra" by Remak (Remak, 1850), whereas the avian somite was first described by Williams (Williams, 1910). The somites determine the initial

segmental pattern along the body axis during embryogenesis and, later on in development, this segmental pattern is imposed upon other developing structures of the body (Christ and Wilting, 1992; Keynes and Stern, 1988, 1984). The segmentation of the vertebrate body into somites is a pre-requisite for movement, allowing for innervated muscle sets and joints to form and subsequently enabling movements in discrete regions to be integrated as general movements of the whole body. The competence of the adult body for movement involves effort, which is a capability of the muscles. The skeletal muscle cells of the body (axis, wall and limbs) originate from the somites (Christ et al., 1990; Wachtler and Christ, 1992). Movements of the body require support by elements of cartilage and bone in the vertebral column, which are also derived from the somites (Christ and Wilting, 1992), reflecting the initial segmental pattern laid down by them.

#### **1.2 The chick embryo as a model to study somite formation**

Given the fundamental significance of somites during development, understanding their role and development has been a subject of intense scientific investigation over the years and a great amount of information has been established by studies in the chick embryo (see below). Our current knowledge of somite boundary formation (Kulesa and Fraser, 2002; Sato et al., 2002), somite differentiation (Ordahl and Le Douarin, 1992; Olivera-Martinez et al., 2000; Huang et al., 2000; Kato and Aoyama, 1998; Huang and Christ, 2000; Chevallier et al., 1977; Denetclaw and Ordahl, 2000; Cinnamon et al., 1999; Christ et al., 1983), regional patterning of the derivatives of the somites along the body axis (Kieny et al., 1972; Nowicki and Burke, 2000) as well as the understanding of the mechanisms regulating the segmental organization of the PSM (Christ et al., 1974; Menkes and Sandor, 1977; Packard and Jacobson, 1976; Packard and Meier, 1983; Bellairs and Veini, 1984; Primmett et al., 1988, 1989; Palmeirim et al., 1997; Jouve et al., 2002; Dubrulle et al., 2001) come largely from studies using this model system. Important findings using the chick embryo as an experimental model also include the discovery that the subdivision of the somites along the rostrocaudal axis guides emerging neural crest cells and motor nerves and imposes segmental organization in the peripheral nervous system (PNS) (Keynes and Stern, 1984, 1988; Kuan et al., 2004) and the discovery that periodic cycles of gene expression preempt somite formation (Palmeirim et al., 1997).

The chick embryo has long been an attractive model system used to investigate developmental processes since it is easy to access and observe as it develops almost entirely outside the mother. When the egg is laid it contains a pre-gastrula-stage embryo, the blastoderm, as cleavage occurs while the egg travels along the oviduct (Bellairs et al., 1978). Despite the difficulty in obtaining pre-laying embryos, the cleavage divisions have been studied (Bellairs et al., 1978) and a series of stages have been described for the chick embryo development before laying (Eyal-Giladi and Kochav, 1976). However, the majority of the experimental work is led on embryos at postlaying stages. It is very convenient to work with the latter because it is usually not necessary to house adult animals and fertilized eggs can be obtained from commercial sources (poultry farms), stored at 18°C for up to two weeks or/and incubated at 38°C for various periods of time to reach the stage of development needed for a particular experiment. The stages of chick embryo development from laying to hatching have been described by Hamburger and Hamilton (HH st.1 to st.46) based on structural developmental landmarks (Hamburger and Hamilton, 1951). The Hamburger-Hamilton (HH) staging system is independent of the incubation conditions and therefore represents a good reference standard for researchers worldwide (Hamburger and Hamilton, 1951). The fact that the early

chick embryos develop as flat discs and can be cultured ex ovo constitute an advantage for observation of normal development using live imaging. Another major advantage in using the chick embryo as an experimental model is the easiness with which they can be surgically manipulated and that can be done both in ovo (by cutting a window into the egg shell to reveal the embryo and subsequently resealing it for incubation), and ex ovo (by explanting the embryo and continue its development supported by suitable culture conditions) in which embryos can be cultured and manipulated in vitro to make observations on cell-type specification or on the behavior of cell populations, making chick embryos a versatile and unique animal model (New, 1955; Chapman et al., 2001; Nagai et al., 2014). Chick embryo culture methods include the culture technique of New (New, 1955) which consists of growing the blastoderm on a piece of vitelline membrane stretched out tightly over a glass ring; the filter paper frame (Chapman et al., 2001), which consists of growing the embryo in a dish containing semi-solid medium and using a filter paper frame as a carrier to transfer the embryo, and the modified Cornish pastry method (Nagai et al., 2014) which consists of growing the blastoderm folded in half and sealed around the edges, forming a pouch with the embryo growing on the top. Classical embryological manipulations including heterotypic grafting of tissues, tissue

ablations, and tissue grafts combined with the classical tissue transplantation technique used to make chick-quail chimaeras make a huge contribution to the study of the mechanisms of tissue interactions and of cell lineages due to the fact that donor quail tissue can be clearly distinguished from the host chick embryo (Le Douarin 1969, 1973) using a specific nuclear stain (LeDouarin, 1973) or a quail specific antibody (QCPN, developed by Dr B.M. Carlson). In addition, it is possible to do experiments using synthetic beads which can be loaded with inhibitors or enhancers of signaling cascades and applied locally close to target embryonic tissues (in ovo or ex ovo) that can be very useful to identify the signals involved in tissue patterning and cell determination. These classical methodologies have been complemented by other approaches to map the fate of cells such as cell labeling by injection of fluorescent dyes, and by technical advances of methods of transient transgenesis to misexpress genes in a time and space controlled manner by targeted microinjection and electroporation of expression vectors (Itasaki et al., 1999; Scaal et al., 2004; Voiculescu et al., 2008) that allow the study of gene function and promoter activity, making the chick model system even more powerful. Additionally, it is also possible to generate germline transgenic chickens, using a lentiviral vector to deliver genetic material. This method led to the establishment of a

transgenic chicken line carrying a transgene that includes the CAG enhancer/promoter driving ubiquitous expression of green fluorescent protein (GFP) (McGrew et al. 2004) which is extremely useful for transplantation experiments and studies of cell lineage analysis.

All of the technical advances mentioned above, together with the availability of the chicken genome sequence (Consortium, 2004; Wallis et al., 2004) and molecular resources including a large collection of expressed sequence tags (EST) (Hubbard et al., 2005) facilitate the generation of valuable molecular tools and make the chick embryo a very strong model in developmental biology as well as in comparative genomics and evolution studies.

#### 1.3 The origin of the somites: somite precursor cells

To understand somite formation one must first understand where the cells that form the somites derive from. In amniote embryos, the mesoderm layer is initially formed during the process of gastrulation from cells of the Hensen's node and adjacent epiblast that ingress through the primitive streak (Psychoyos and Stern, 1996; Selleck and Stern, 1991). Prospective single-cell lineage analysis has shown that

the progenitors of the medial half of the somites are localized in the lateral guadrant of the node, and the progenitors of the lateral half of the somite are located in the primitive streak behind the node (Selleck and Stern, 1991; Stern et al., 1988). The progenitors of the lateral somites ingress through the streak from the region behind the node and do not behave as resident cells (Psychoyos and Stern, 1996; Selleck and Stern, 1991; Selleck and Stern, 1992). But the primitive streak does not only constitute a pathway for ingression and will also contain resident cells that are the precursors of the medial part of the paraxial mesoderm (or presomitic mesoderm), during its regression (Hatada and Stern, 1994; Psychoyos and Stern, 1996; Schoenwolf et al., 1992; Selleck and Stern, 1991). Detailed labeling studies in the chick have demonstrated the existence of this stem cell population in the streak, which subsequently has also been shown in the mouse (Nicolas et al., 1996; Tzouanacou et al., 2009). The primitive streak has also been proposed to prefigure some organization along the rostral-caudal axis (Selleck and Stern, 1991). The precursors of the axial and paraxial (presomitic) mesoderm are located close to the rostral end of the primitive streak whereas the precursors of the lateral mesoderm and extraembryonic tissues are located more caudally (Alev et al., 2010; Nicolet, 1965, 1967, 1971; Psychoyos and Stern, 1996; Rosenquist, 1966, 1967, 1970, 1971,

1972, 1983; Schoenwolf et al., 1992; Selleck and Stern, 1991; Spratt and Condon, 1947; Spratt, 1957; Tam and Tan, 1992). In the chick embryo at HH st.5 the paraxial mesoderm precursors reside in the most rostral third of the primitive streak (Schoenwolf et al., 1992; Selleck and Stern, 1991). Subsequent to ingression the mesodermal cells migrate rostrally and laterally and those that become located medially form the paraxial mesoderm and those located laterally form the intermediate/lateral plate mesoderm (Schoenwolf et al., 1992; Selleck and Stern, 1991). In the chicken embryo, the unsegmented paraxial mesoderm referred to as the presomitic mesoderm (PSM), that lies between the notochord and the intermediate mesoderm, separates at regular time intervals into individual somites in a rostralcaudal direction (Lash et al., 1984; Christ and Ordahl, 1995; Gossler and Hrabe de Angelis, 1998), a process that is termed somitogenesis.

#### 1.4 Somitogenesis

During somitogenesis (or somite formation) in the chicken embryo, a new pair of somites forms at the rostral end of the presomitic mesoderm (PSM) on each side of the notochord by epithelialization of blocks of cells that undergo a mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition

(MET) (excepting for the cells inside the somite that remain mesenchymal, the somitocoele cells) at an approximate rate of one pair every ninety minutes and a total of fifty-two somites are formed (Lash et al., 1984; Christ and Ordahl, 1995; Keynes and Stern, 1988; Christ et al., 1972; Gossler and Hrabe de Angelis, 1998). Somite formation is an extremely robust process and an intrinsic property of the paraxial mesoderm (Packard, 1976; Christ et al., 1974; Menkes, 1977). Explanted fragments of the PSM continue to segment when cultured isolated from the embryo in the absence of the normal PSM surrounding tissues (Packard, 1976). It has been shown that just the fibronectin network of the ectoderm is required to form somites from isolated PSM (Rifes et al., 2007). In addition, somite formation is regulated at the level of the whole tissue. If fragments of the PSM are isolated and transplanted in an inverted orientation, somitogenesis proceeds in the original rostrocaudal orientation (Christ et al., 1974; Menkes, 1977), reiterating that somitogenesis is an autonomous process within the PSM.

At the rostral end of the PSM, the cells become organized in an arrangement reminiscent of an epithelium as the nuclei of the cells become aligned and regularly spaced in close contact (Beloussov and Naumidi, 1983; Marcelle et al., 2002; Revel et al., 1973). Each

somite initially forms as an epithelial sphere of columnar cells whose apices all face a central cavity or lumen, the somitocoele, containing mesenchymally arranged cells (Lash et al., 1984; Christ and Ordahl, 1995; Keynes and Stern, 1988; Christ et al., 1972; Gossler and Hrabe de Angelis, 1998). The process of somite formation is accompanied by increased cell adhesiveness (Bellairs et al., 1978; Cheney and Lash, 1984), correlating with an increase in cell adhesion molecules at the apical end of the epithelial somite cells (Duband et al., 1987). Various adhesion molecules are expressed in this luminal layer, including NCAM and N-Cadherin (Duband et al., 1987; Kimura et al., 1995). It has been shown that actin and  $\alpha$ -actinin are also concentrated in the apical zone of epithelial somite cells (Lash et al., 1984; Ostrovsky et al., 1983). Each somite is surrounded by extracellular matrix that is condensed to form a basement membrane at the external surface of the somite (Solursh et al., 1979). The extracellular matrix connects the somite with adjacent structures: neural tube, notochord, ectoderm, endoderm, aorta and Wolffian duct. Thus, signals reaching the somites from the axial organs, endoderm or ectoderm must pass through an extracellular matrix compartment, which contains collagens, fibronectins, laminins, tenascins and other components (Bellairs, 1979; Crossin et al., 1986; Duband et al., 1987; Rickmann et al.,

1985; Thiery et al., 1982). In the rostral and caudal directions, each somite is also connected by extracellular matrix of the intersomitic cleft to its older and younger siblings. The epithelial cells of the somite are polarized, with the Golgi zone near the luminal cytoplasm and tight junctions close to the luminal cell surface (Lipton and Jacobson, 1974; Revel et al., 1973). During somite formation more cells are added both by mitosis within the plate or by recruitment of progenitor cells at the caudal end of the segmental plates (tail bud) as a consequence of continuing caudal gastrulation movements, maintaining the length of this tissue relatively constant during axis extension (Catala et al., 1995; Gont et al., 1993).

# 1.4.1 Somite epithelialization and intersomitic boundary formation

One of the most striking features of somitogenesis is the segmentation process itself that regularly generates individualized somites from the PSM continuous tissue (Lash et al., 1984; Christ and Ordahl, 1995; Gossler and Hrabe de Angelis, 1998). The mesenchymal cells at the rostral end of the PSM undergo the process of MET and change their shape to form a spherical somite composed of a single layer of epithelial cells and some mesenchymal cells in the lumen, the somitocoele cells (Keynes and Stern, 1988;

Christ et al., 1972; Gossler and Hrabe de Angelis, 1998). In the chicken embryo, the MET of the caudal margin cells within an epithelial somite precedes MET of the cells of the rostral side, which remain mesenchymal for longer (Duband et al., 1987; Takahashi and Sato, 2008). Therefore, the forming epithelial somite presents a horseshoe shape (Duband et al., 1987) (see Figure 1.1). The SNAIL superfamily of transcriptional repressors, including SNAIL2 in the chicken and SNAIL1 in the mouse, have been shown to repress genes associated with an epithelial state such as E-cadherins and are likely to maintain the mesenchymal state of the PSM (Batlle et al., 2000; Cano et al., 2000; Savagner et al., 1997). Ectopic activation of Snail2 in the chicken PSM can block incorporation of PSM mesenchymal cells in the epithelial somites (Dale et al., 2006). The onset of the epithelialization process of the PSM correlates with the downregulation of Snail1 and Snail2 genes (Sefton et al., 1998). At this point, the rostral PSM morphological changes include an increase in cell number and density and cells become arranged as an epithelium at the peripheral sides of the PSM (Keynes and Stern, 1988; Tam and Trainor, 1994) (see Figure 1.1; in yellow). The expression of the bHLH transcription factor Paraxis in the PSM is associated with this change in cell organization and its expression is subsequently maintained in the epithelial somites (Burgess et al.,

1995). *Paraxis* is an essential regulator of the epithelial organization in the PSM (Burgess et al., 1995, 1996; Barnes et al., 1997) and it has been suggested that the overlying ectoderm is necessary to induce and maintain its expression via Wnt6 that activates Paraxis via β-Catenin-dependent signaling (Correia and Conlon, 2000; Sosic et al., 1997; Linker et al., 2005) (see Figure 1.1: in green). Mice null mutants of the Paraxis gene fail to form epithelial somites (Burgess et al., 1996; Johnson et al., 2001). However, in these mice mutants, the PSM still segments in portions of normal somite size (Burgess et al., 1996). This normal segmental arrangement suggests that the segmental patterning of the PSM is independent of the epithelialization process and that the MET of cells within the somite is distinct from the process of segment border formation. Chicken embryos treated with Paraxis antisense oligonucleotides also fail to form epithelial somites (Barnes et al., 1997). In accordance with these results, experiments in which PSM explants were cultured in vitro resulted in a segmented pattern of gene expression in the explants but in the absence of epithelialization (Palmeirim et al., 1998). N-cadherin, a cell adhesion molecule, is also upregulated prior to somite epithelialization (Tam and Trainor, 1994) and targeted mutation of the gene results in segmentation defects, with smaller and irregular somites (Radice et al., 1997). The Rho family of small

GTPases, including Rac1 and Cdc42, has been implicated in cytoskeletal dynamic, mediating forces that change cell polarity and motility (Etienne-Manneville and Hall, 2000; Fukata et al., 2003; Ridley et al., 2003; Settleman, 2001; Van Aelst and Symons, 2002). Rac1 and Cdc42 have been shown to play a role in stabilizing epithelial structures through regulation of cell-cell adhesion mediated by cadherins (Braga, 2002; Fukata and Kaibuchi, 2001; Schock and Perrimon, 2002). They have also been identified as essential for development, as shown by the lethal effect in Rac1 and Cdc42 knockout mice (Chen et al., 2000; Snapper et al., 2001; Sugihara et al., 1998; Yan et al., 2003). The roles of Rac1 and Cdc42 have been studied in the context of the MET during somite formation in the chicken embryo (Nakaya et al., 2004). The maintenance of a correct level of Rac1 activity is necessary for somite epithelialization. Nakaya and colleagues (2004) have reported that cells with activated or inhibited Rac1 fail to undergo correct epithelialization and maintained Paraxis positive cells in a mesenchymal state. Although Rac1 does not affect transcription of Paraxis, Rac1 mediated cytoskeletal rearrangement appears to be required for Paraxis to function as an epithelialization factor during somitogenesis (Nakaya et al., 2004). Cdc42 levels of activity appear critical for the defining decision between epithelial and mesenchymal states (Nakaya et al., 2004).

Nakaya and colleagues (2004) have also shown that "*Cdc42 activity needs to be low for cell epithelialization, whereas cells require high activity to maintain their mesenchymal state*" (Nakaya et al., 2004). It is possible that the Cdc42 activity is suppressed in the presomitic mesodermal cells undergoing MET by factors acting on the somitic cells emanating from the overlying ectoderm, which are known to be required for epithelialization (but not for intersomitic boundary formation), for which Wnt molecules are good candidates (Nakaya et al., 2004; Correia and Colon, 2000).

In the chicken embryo, somite epithelialization is preceded by the formation of an intersomitic boundary. *Mesp2* and *cMeso1* are homologous b-HLH transcription factors expressed in the rostral PSM just prior somite formation in the mouse and chicken, respectively, and appear to play an important role in the inductive events of intersomitic boundary formation (Saga and Takeda, 2001). Knockout mice for *Mesp2* show severe defects in boundary formation (Saga et al., 1997). Mesp2/cMeso1 transcription factors have been identified to regulate molecules able to act intercellularly between the rostral and caudal boundary border cells, such as *Ephs* (Nomura-Kitabayashi et al., 2002; Nakajima et al., 2006). The Eph family of receptor tyrosine kinases comprises membrane-spanning receptor

proteins involved in intercellular signaling (Holder and Klein, 1999; Palmer and Klein, 2003). Ephrin ligands for these receptors are classified into two groups: Ephrins A, which preferentially bind EphA receptors and Ephrins B, which preferentially bind EphB receptors. EphA4 exceptionally binds to both groups of ligands (Gale et al., 1996). Knockout mice for *EphA4* do not exhibit defects in boundary formation (Dottori et al., 1998) however, experiments done in the chicken embryo suggest that EphA4 functions as a mediator for boundary formation (Watanabe et al., 2009). It has been shown that in the chicken, cMeso1 upregulates EphA4 in the cells located caudally to a forming boundary (Watanabe et al., 2009) which in turn activates EphrinB2-reverse signals (downstream signaling) in the immediate rostral border cells, where EphrinB2 signal seems to be sufficient to produce a somitic boundary and it has been suggested that it promotes epithelialization (Watanabe et al., 2009). EphrinB2 has been suggested to cooperate with low Cdc42 in the somitic cells and is implied in somitic boundary formation (Watanabe et al., 2009).

#### 1.4.2 Rostrocaudal patterning of the somites

In the rostral-most third of the PSM, regional differences in gene expression define the rostral and the caudal patterning of the developing somites and such patterning arises before the formation

of morphological distinct somites (prior to epithelialization and prior to boundary formation) (Del Amo et al., 1992; Hrabe de Angelis et al., 1997; Jen et al., 1997; del Barco Barrantes et al., 1999; Saga and Takeda, 2001). In this region of the PSM, it has been identified that the initiation and maintenance of the rostral-caudal patterning is controlled by Delta-Notch signaling pathway interacting with the basic helix-loop-helix (b-HLH) transcription factor Mesp2 in the mouse and MESO1 in the chicken embryo (Del Amo et al., 1992; Hrabe de Angelis et al., 1997; Jen et al., 1997; del Barco Barrantes et al., 1999; Saga and Takeda, 2001). Notch ligand Delta-like 1 (DII1) (Hrabe de Angelis et al., 1997) is expressed uniformly in the caudalmost two-thirds of the PSM but its expression becomes restricted to the future caudal half of the somites in the rostral-most third of the PSM and is maintained in the caudal half of the formed somites (Bettenhausen et al., 1995). Mutation of DII1 in the mouse causes a complete loss of rostrocaudal somite patterning and subsequent rostralization of the somite derivatives (Hrabe de Angelis, 1997). Hence, identifying how *Dll1* expression is regulated in the rostral PSM stands crucial to understand the establishment of the rostrocaudal patterning of the somites. It has been proposed that the expression of DII1 in the rostral PSM is dependent on two Notch signaling pathways because *Psen1* homozygous knockout mice lack

expression of DII1 in the rostral PSM (Takahashi et al., 2000). It has been suggested that Psen1-dependent Notch signaling pathway is involved in inducing *Dll1* expression in the prospective somite caudal half and Psen1-independent Notch signaling pathway is involved in inhibiting DII1 expression in the prospective somite rostral half (Takahashi et al., 2000). It has been identified that the expression of Dll1 in the rostral PSM is further established by Mesp2/MESO1 basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factors mediated by the Notch pathway in the PSM, because expression of Notch1 is reduced in Mesp2 knockout embryos (Saga et al., 1997; Takahashi et al., 2000). Mesp2 is initially expressed in the rostral-most third of the PSM (Saga et al., 1997) where it has been shown to downregulate Dll1 (Saga et al., 1997; Takahashi et al., 2000). In Mesp2 knockout mice, rostral DII1 fails to be suppressed (Saga et al., 1997; Takahashi et al., 2000) and rostral-caudal patterning of the somites is lost. Mesp2 becomes expressed in the prospective rostral half of the somite, where it has been shown to be crucial to suppress DII1 and generate the stripped pattern of *Dll1* expression (Saga et al., 1997; Takahashi et al., 2000). The mechanism that restricts Mesp2 expression to the prospective rostral half of the somite is not fully understood, but it seems to involve *Psen1*-dependent Notch signaling since *Mesp2* expression pattern is lost in Psen1 knockout mice (Koizumi et al.,
2001).

# 1.5 Models of somite formation

The process of somitogenesis is an extremely complex multistep process and comprises a series of events that occur simultaneously as the embryo develops. A great amount of information has been gathered on the major features of cell behavior, establishment of the fate of the cells, regional properties during the development of individual somites and also on several possible mechanisms that generate and control the metameric pattern of somites, the precise timing of somite formation and the specification of axial identity. Once the paraxial mesoderm has been specified, the temporal order of formation of somites of regular size is constant. Over the past decades many theoretical models have been proposed to explain the complex process of somitogenesis and how the several aspects of somite formation can be integrated and to explain experimental data (Cooke and Zeeman, 1976; Stern et al., 1988; Primmett et al., 1989; Bard, 1990; Kerszberg and Wolpert, 2000; Schnell and Maini, 2000; Collier et al., 2000; Pourquie, 2003; Dequeant et al., 2006; Benazeraf and Pourquie, 2013; Aulehla et al., 2008; Santillan and Mackey, 2008; Morelli et al., 2009; Schroter and Oates, 2010; Murray et al.,

2011; Hester et al., 2011). Here, three of the most widely accepted models for somitogenesis will be considered.

### 1.5.1 Clock and wavefront model for somitogenesis

The clock and wavefront model, originally proposed on a theoretical basis by Cooke and Zeeman (1976), proposes the existence of a clock operating in the cells of the PSM and a wave to determine regional development (Figure 1.2). Cooke and Zeeman postulated the existence of a longitudinal "positional information" gradient along the rostral-caudal axis of the embryo, the wavefront, which determines the generation of segments by controlling the time at which a group of cell will segment together. They called this a catastrophe, a rapid change of state, which could correspond to an increase in cell adhesiveness of the cells to become a somite. Then, a smooth cell oscillator, the clock, periodically interacting with the wavefront allows groups of cells to segment together. Therefore, according to this model, the size of a unit (somite) is determined by the speed of the wavefront and the timing of somite formation is controlled by the frequency of the oscillator (Cooke and Zeeman, 1976).

### 1.5.1.1 Cycling genes

Experimental evidence that supports this model comes from the discovery of the periodic expression of genes in the PSM with the period equal to that of somite formation (Palmeirim et al., 1997). Several genes of the Notch signaling pathway have been identified to be expressed in the PSM and their cyclic expression is considered to arise as a result of a segmentation clock acting within the cells of the PSM (Palmeirim et al., 1997; Aulehla and Johnson, 1999; Forsberg et al., 1998; Jiang et al., 2000; McGrew et al., 1998; Bessho et al., 2001; Dequeant et al., 2006, Jouve et al., 2000; Leimeister et al., 1999; Leimeister et al., 2000; Holley et al., 2000; Jiang et al., 2000; Oates and Ho, 2002; Sawada et al., 2000; Elmasri et al., 2004; Li et al., 2003). The first oscillatory gene to be identified was *c*-hairy1 (Palmeirim et al., 1997), which encodes a transcription factor homologous to Hairy/enhancer of split (Hes) in Drosophila and is also a downstream target of Notch signaling (Nusslein-Volhard and Wieschaus, 1980; Ish-Horowicz et al., 1985). Several genes, mainly from the Notch signaling pathway, have been subsequently identified to cycle their expression in the PSM. Lunatic Fringe (Lfng) was also described to have oscillatory expression in the PSM of the chick and mouse in the same fashion as *c-hairy1* (Aulehla and Johnson, 1999; Forsberg et al., 1998; Jiang et al., 2000; McGrew et al., 1998). In the

mouse, other cycling genes include Hes1, Hes7, Hey1-3 and Nrarp (Bessho et al., 2001; Dequeant et al., 2006, Jouve et al., 2000; Leimeister et al., 1999; Leimeister et al., 2000). In the chicken PSM cycling genes also include *c*-hairy-2 and *cHey*2 (Jouve et al., 2000; Leimeister et al., 2000). In the zebrafish oscillating genes include her1, her7 and DeltaC (Holley et al., 2000; Jiang et al., 2000; Oates and Ho, 2002; Sawada et al., 2000). In the medaka oscillating genes include her7 and hey1 (Elmasri et al., 2004) and in Xenopus, esr9 and esr10 (Li et al., 2003). Moreover, It has also been shown that Notch activity levels oscillate in the caudal PSM (Huppert et al., 2005; Morimoto et al., 2005) and, thus, PSM cells experience pulses of oscillatory Notch mRNA and Notch activity. It has been suggested that the mechanism that drives the oscillations of the cycling genes relies on feedback inhibition loops (Henry et al., 2002; Oates and Ho, 2002; Holley et al., 2002; Lewis, 2003; Jiang et al., 2000; Mara et al., 2007; McGrew et al., 1998; Forsberg et al., 1998; Aulehla and Johnson, 1999; Dale et al., 2003; Serth et al., 2003; Iso et al., 2003; Hirata et al., 2004; Bessho et al., 2003; Jensen et al., 2003; Monk, 2003; Barrio et al., 2006; Aulehla et al., 2003). The mechanisms that have been proposed to underlie the periodic oscillations of the cycling genes in zebrafish, chick and mouse are summarized in Figure 1.3. The above data suggests that Notch activity seems to

play a role in the segmentation clock. Surprisingly, the nature of the generator (or pacemaker) driving the oscillations of gene expression remains to be identified and is a subject of debate (Aulehla et al., 2008; Ozbudak and Pourquie, 2008; Giudicelli and Lewis, 2004). In addition to Notch, components of the Wnt signaling pathway have also been shown to be linked to the segmentation clock in the mouse (Aulehla et al., 2003; Ishikawa et al., 2004; Suriben et al., 2006; Dequeant et al., 2006). mAxin2 (a negative regulator of the Wnt pathway) (Aulehla et al., 2003) and mDact1 (encoding a Dishevelledbinding regulator) (Suriben et al., 2006) mRNAs also show oscillatory expression in the PSM but with a reverse phase when compare with *Notch* genes (Aulehla et al., 2003). Also, *Nkd1* (an antagonist of Wnt) has been shown to oscillate in phase with the *Notch* genes and it is transcriptionally regulated by Hes7 (a negative regulator of Notch signaling) and it has been suggested that it takes part at the communication level between the Wnt and Notch pathways (Ishikawa et al., 2004). A non-dynamic expression profile across the PSM has been identified for chick homologues of the mouse Wnt cyclic genes (Gibb, 2009), which suggests a species difference or that there might be other Wnt components oscillating in the PSM of the chicken embryo, non-homologous to the Wnt cyclic genes in the mouse.

### 1.5.1.2 Interactions between Wnt, Notch and Fgf pathways

Dequeant and colleagues (2006) proposed that the interaction between the Wnt and Notch and Fgf pathways may be an important mechanism contributing for the robustness of the segmentation clock and the cross talk between these pathways has been confirmed by analysis of mouse mutants and manipulation in the chicken embryo (Ferjentsik et al., 2009; Aulehla et al., 2003; Dequeant et al., 2006; Niwa et al., 2007; Gibb et al., 2009; Dale et al., 2006; Sewell et al., 2009; Wahl et al., 2007) (Figure 1.4). It has been shown that the oscillatory expression of the Notch-related genes *mLfng* and *mNrarp* is Wnt3a-dependent (Aulehla, 2003; Sewell, 2009) and also that mLfng transcription is ectopically activated as a result of misexpression of Wnt-regulated mAxin2 (Aulehla, 2003). This suggests that Wnt signaling could act upstream of Notch signaling in the context of the segmentation clock. Additionally, Wnt signaling regulates DII1, a ligand of Notch, expression in the mouse PSM (Hofmann, 2004; Galceran, 2004). However, downregulation of Notch signaling also results in downregulation of the Wnt target mAxin2 in the mouse PSM (Aulehla, 2003). Hence, the interaction between Notch and Wnt is not clear and it is a possibility that both pathways reciprocally regulate each other (Gibb, 2009). Moreover, in the absence of Notch signaling, expression of Fgf target genes is

severely downregulated in the PSM (Ferjentsik, 2009) and mouse mutants for Fgf signaling lose dynamic expression of *mLfng* in the PSM (Wahl, 2007). Several studies indicate that Fgf signaling is involved in regulating Notch target gene expression in the PSM (Niwa, 2007; Kawamura, 2005; Ishimatsu, 2010). However, the interaction between Notch and Fgf signaling is also not completely clear, since in the absence of FGF signaling, Notch-related cyclic genes are not immediately halted and continue to be expressed in the PSM of both chick and mouse (Gibb, 2009; Delfini, 2005; Dubrulle, 2001) (see Figure 1.4).

### 1.5.1.3 The Wavefront

According to the clock and wavefront model, the segmentation clock is assumed to interact with a wavefront of positional information to specify the segments at the rostral PSM (Cooke and Zeeman, 1976) and to maintain the cells in the caudal PSM in an undifferentiated state (see Figure 1.2). This process is thought to be controlled by a combination of gradients present in the PSM, involving the FGF, the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin and the retinoic acid (RA) signaling pathways (Dubrulle et al., 2001; Dubrulle and Pouquie, 2004; Vermot and Pourquie, 2005; Moreno and Kintner, 2004; Diez del Corral et al., 2003; Aulehla et al., 2003; Aulehla et al., 2008; Sawada et al., 2001). The observation of a caudal-rostral gradient of FGF (Dubrulle et al., 2001; Sawada et al., 2001; Dubrulle and Pourguie, 2004) and Wnt/βcatenin signaling (Aulehla et al., 2003; Aulehla et al., 2008) that accompanies the PSM as the embryonic axis grows caudally, is thought to be reminiscent of the wavefront postulated by the clock and wavefront model (Dubrulle et al., 2001). Additionally, a rostrocaudal gradient of RA signaling establishes an opposing gradient of activity to FGF/Wnt (Diez del Corral et al., 2003; Moreno and Kintner, 2004; Vermot and Pourquie, 2005). The high transcription levels of fgf8 in the tailbud region is thought to generate the graded gradient of FGF8, with higher signaling levels in the caudal PSM and decreasing gradually towards the rostral end of the PSM (Dubrulle and Pourquie, 2004). As cells enter the PSM, leaving the tailbud region, Fgf8 transcription ceases and consequently the concentration of *Fgf8* mRNA decays, resulting in the generation of a caudal-rostral Fgf8 mRNA gradient, which is then translated into a gradient of Fgf8 protein (Dubrulle and Pourquie, 2004). Upon binding to Fgfr1 in the PSM, FGF signaling is mediated by several pathways: MAPK, ERK and PI3K (Bottcher and Niehrs, 2005). In the chicken embryo ERK is also found in the PSM with a graded caudal-rostral distribution (Sawada et al., 2001; Delfini et al., 2005), thought to result in the activation of the downstream targets Dusp4 (Niwa et al., 2007),

Dusp6 (Dequeant et al., 2006; Li et al., 2007), Snail1 (Dale et al., 2006) and Pea3 (Roel and Nusslein-Volhard, 2001). The gradient of Wnt signaling in the PSM has been suggested to be established in the same way as the FGF8 gradient (Aulehla et al., 2003). Indirect evidence based on the expression patterns of downstream targets of Wnt3a, the ligand that activates the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling in the PSM, suggest that Wnt3a could also be produced at the level of the tail bud and the gradient established by decrease of protein levels (Aulehla et al., 2003; Aulehla and Herrmann, 2004). On the other hand, RA signaling gradient is rostro-caudal, with highest levels of RA activity in the rostral PSM and the somites and absent activity in the caudal PSM/ tail bud (Rossant et al., 1991). The RA-synthesizing enzyme, Raldh2, is highly expressed in the rostral PSM and somites (Niederreither et al., 1997) whereas Cyp26A1, involved in RA degradation, is highly expressed in the tail bud (Fujii et al., 1997; Sakai et al., 2001).

During axis elongation, the wavefront moves in a caudal direction and the FGF8/Wnt signaling levels are maintained constant in relative positions along the PSM (Dubrulle and Pourquie, 2004). It has been suggested that the differentiation status of the PSM could be controlled by a system of FGF/Wnt/RA signaling gradients. Dubrulle and colleagues (2001, 2004) have observed that different

levels of FGF/Wnt activity along the PSM relate with regions of different structure along the PSM and also with regions of different states of segmental determination. In the caudal two-thirds of the PSM, the FGF/Wnt signaling is high, cells have a mesenchymal organization and are maintained in an immature state. In the rostral third of the PSM, the FGF/Wnt signaling is low and RA signaling is high and cells become more densely organized and the MET process initiates culminating with epithelial somite formation at the rostral end of the PSM (Dubrulle et al., 2001). The border that separates these two regions of FGF/Wnt activity has been termed "determination front" (Dubrulle et al., 2001) and correlates with the level at which a transition of differentiation status occurs: "FGF8 is sufficient to maintain the caudal identity of presomitic mesoderm cells and (...) down-regulation of FGF8 signaling at the level of the determination front is required to enable cells to proceed further with the segmentation process" (from Dubrulle et al., 2001). Several transcriptional changes occur once cells pass the level of the "determination front". Caudal PSM markers are downregulated, such as Tbx6 and Msgn1. Additionally, Mesp2, a crucial factor in establishing the somite rostrocaudal polarity and somite boundaries, is also activated in the rostral PSM (Saga et al., 1997; Saga, 2007; Morimoto et al., 2005, 2006, 2007). Finally, transcriptional

oscillations of the segmentation clock genes are arrested once cells pass the PSM level of the so-called "determination front". Experimental manipulations involving the inversion of small pieces of PSM (Dubrulle et al., 2001) were performed to help identify the specific position of the "determination front": rotation of small pieces of the rostral-most one-third of the PSM resulted in the inversion of the pattern of the somites (somite determination), whereas inversion of small pieces in the caudal-most two-thirds of the PSM do not. The point of transition between these two states was interpreted as the position of the "determination front" (Dubrulle et al., 2001). Given the cell motility and the cell intermixing in the caudal PSM (Selleck and Stern, 1991; Benazeraf et al., 2010), it is difficult to understand whether the caudal PSM cells are indeed not yet determined to form a segment or, alternatively, whether the cells have not yet sorted to the correct allocated positions to form a segmental unit.

Since the discovery of the cycling genes, this model has been favored over the others and many authors have proposed newer versions the clock and wavefront model (Aulehla et al., 2008; Murray et al., 2011; Santillan and Mackey, 2008; Schroter and Oates, 2010; Hester et al., 2011; Dequeant et al., 2006; Pourquie, 2003). According to the clock and wavefront model, an increase in the size

of the somites could be caused by an acceleration of the wavefront progression, while keeping the period of the clock oscillations constant or by slowing down the oscillation of the clock, while the speed of the wave remains constant. This mechanism could account for the experimental observation that in manipulated *Xenopus* embryos where half of the cells of the embryo are ablated (Cooke, 1975), the number of somites remains constant but fewer cells are allocated to each somite.

# 1.5.2 Reaction-diffusion model for somitogenesis

Another theoretical model, the reaction-diffusion model, was proposed by Meinhardt (1982; 1986) to explain somite formation and somite regional specification (Meinhardt, 1982; 1986). This model postulated that somitic cells can adopt one of two possible states, A or P, respectively corresponding to the *anterior* (rostral) or *posterior* (caudal) halves of a somite (unit) and that the cells can transiently oscillate between these two states (see Figure 1.5; B, C and D). According to the model, the frequency of the oscillations is equivalent to the rate of unit formation, and the timing of unit formation and the number of oscillations required to form a unit are determined by a long-range gradient of a morphogen along the PSM. According to the model, the states A and P are mutually exclusive and somitic cells

can switch between one state and the other until they reach a stable state (Meinhardt, 1986). Consequently, a pattern of APAPAP(...) stripes forms in an rostral to caudal direction along the PSM. The transition between the two states could represent a change in the specification of a unit and could represent consecutive rostral and caudal sub-compartments of a somite (unit). Finally, sequential A/P pairs would become arranged along the PSM, resulting in the specification of somites with regional differences (i.e. rostral and caudal sub-compartments). Meinhardt further proposed that the mechanism by which the somitic cells could change between two states was the presence of a gradient of a morphogen along the PSM with increased levels at the caudal end of embryo (see Figure 1.5; A). Cells would oscillate between states under the influence of the concentration of the morphogen and would count the number of oscillations so that more oscillations would lead to a more caudal state. Meinhardt predicted that the model "would obtain strong support if the oscillations in the mesoderm before somite formation could be detected" (from Meinhardt, 1986). Experimental support towards these predictions comes from the discovery of genes with oscillatory cyclic expression in the PSM, such as Hairy1 which has been identified to have a cyclic oscillatory expression in PSM of the chick embryo (Palmeirim et al., 1997). As somites progressively form

at the rostral end of the PSM, the expression of *Hairy1* is maintained only in the caudal half of the somites: caudal-half state specification (*Hairy1* positive) and rostral-half state specification (*Hairy1* negative) resemble the *P* and *A* states postulated by Meinhardt in the reactiondiffusion model. Meinhardt additionally postulated the existence of a long-range gradient of a morphogen in the PSM (Meinhardt, 1986). The subsequent observation of a caudal-rostral gradient of FGF in the PSM (Dubrulle et al., 2001; Sawada et al., 2001; Dubrulle and Pourquie, 2004) could constitute evidence for the gradient of a morphogen in the PSM. This gradient correlates with the postulated positional information gradient of a morphogen in the PSM that according to the reaction-diffusion model of Meinhadt is required by the pre-somitic cells to start oscillating between two states and start the formation of a segmented pattern (Meinhadt, 1986).

### 1.5.3 Cell cycle model for somitogenesis

The cell cycle model was proposed by Primmett (1988; 1989) and it links somite formation with the cell cycle phase of the cells in the PSM (Primmett et al., 1989; Primmett et al., 1988; Stern et al., 1988) (see Figure 1.6). This model was postulated based on the following premises: a) the time interval between the formation of two successive somites is ninety minutes to one-hundred minutes, equivalent to one-seventh of the duration of the cell cycle (which corresponds to nine to ten hours); b) there is some degree of cell cycle synchrony in the cells of the PSM; and c) application of a single heat shock to chick embryos blocks the cell cycle. The results of the transient application of heat shock are several somitic anomalies separated by six to seven somites (Primmett et al., 1989; Primmett et al., 1988; Stern et al., 1988). The premise that there is some level of cell cycle synchrony along the PSM means that not all cells in the PSM are in the same phase of the cell cycle. This cell cycle synchrony of cohorts of PSM cells can be achieved due to the fact that the precursors cells destined to form somites leave the region of the node and enter the PSM in a rigorous temporal order by which they are derived from the node. In this manner, the more rostral cells of the PSM are older because they ingress first through the primitive streak to join the PSM and the more caudal cells of the PSM correspond to younger cells which join the PSM subsequently. This order is maintained in the PSM. Primmett and Stern postulated the existence of a time window during the cell cycle, between time points P1 and P2 (ninety minutes apart), within which cells become competent to form a somite (Primmett et al., 1989; Primmett et al., 1988; Stern et al., 1988) (see Figure 1.6). The synchrony of different cohorts of cells in the PSM accounts for the prediction that a group of

PSM cells can reach the P2 point in cell cycle before the others (these cells are termed *pioneer cells*) and can produce and emit a segmentation signal to the other cells in the PSM. Consequently, any cell inside the P1-P2 window would be responsive to this signal and as a response would increase adhesion to other cells so that this fraction of PSM cells could then segment together to form a somite unit (see Figure 1.6). Additionally, this model does not rely on the oscillatory expression of genes in the PSM, such as the Notch signaling pathway genes, for the specification of somite size and timing of somite formation and so far no direct link has been found between the cell cycle and the oscillatory expression of genes in the PSM. However, because it is yet not entirely understood for what aspect of somitogenesis the oscillatory expression of genes account for (somite size specification/ timing of somite formation/ rostralcaudal subdivision) it is possible that the cell cycle synchrony could constitute an extra level of regulation to maintain cells in synchrony to segment in the PSM. However, unlike the reaction-diffusion model of Meinhardt which accounts for somite polarity (1982, 1986), the cell cycle model does not predict how cells in the somite get allocated to a specific somite sub-compartment, therefore an additional level of complexity would be required to specify the polarity of the somites, as it has been proposed in the model by Meinhardt (1982, 1986).

# 1.5.4 Unresolved questions

Much debate remains over the mechanism that generates periodic formation of normal sized somites and although periodic Notch signaling is clearly important for somite development, some observations suggest that it may not be exclusive in determining the size and morphology of somites. Mutants of the Notch signaling pathway genes, such as Notch1, the Notch ligand Delta-like 3, the activated Notch protease presenilin and the Notch effector RBPJk, show disruptions in segmentation but the somites still form and only later fall apart (Conlon et al., 1995; Dunwoodie et al., 2002; Evrard et al., 1998; Oka et al., 1995; Shen et al., 1997; Takahashi et al., 2003; Wong et al., 1997; Zhang and Gridley, 1998; Zhang et al., 2002). Mutants of the *Mesp* genes, which interact with the Notch signaling pathway, show disrupted rostral-caudal subdivision of the somites but no effect on the initial formation of the somites (Sawada et al., 2000). Moreover, it has been observed that occipital somites form with a different periodicity compared with more caudal somites (Hamburger and Hamilton, 1951; Hamilton and Hinsch, 1956; Huang et al., 1997), in the absence of the oscillatory expression of genes of the segmentation clock (Rodrigues et al., 2006) and have different rostral-caudal subdivision character to the trunk somites (Lim et al.,

1987). These findings are not consistent with the commonly accepted Clock and Wavefront model (Cooke and Zeeman, 1976) and suggest that a distinctive mechanism might be responsible for allocating the cells to form each occipital somite. In addition, the occurrence of spatially periodic perturbations of somite formation after heat shock treatment in the chick embryo (Primmett et al., 1989) and zebrafish (Roy et al., 1999) have been shown to be linked to the cell cycle in the PSM (Primmett et al., 1989). The cell cycle model proposed by Primmett (Primmett et al., 1989) does not require oscillatory gene expression (like the genes of the Notch signaling pathway) but proposed that somitogenesis is controlled by the cell cycle, based on cell cycle synchrony in the PSM. The cell cycle model is distinctive in accounting for the periodicity of segmentation defects after heat shock (cells were suggested to be sensitive to heat shocks only at a particular phase of the cell cycle, which occur at regular spatial intervals in the PSM) (Primmett et al., 1989). Finally, it is also important to note that studies in transgenic mice expressing activated Notch (NICD) throughout the PSM, have shown that segmentation and rostral-caudal patterning of the somites can be uncoupled and provides evidence towards the assumption that cyclic expression of Notch is required for the correct rostral-caudal patterning of the somites (Feller et al., 2008). Additionally, studies in

mutant *mespb* knockin mice embryos have shown that epithelial somites can form without rostral-caudal polarity, suggesting that segment formation and establishment of rostral-caudal polarity are genetically separate events (Nomura-Kitabayashi et al., 2002). It is then possible that the role of the segmentation clock is mainly to regulate somite polarity, as postulated by the "clock and trail model for somite formation, specialization and polarization (Kerszberg and Wolpert, 2000). In addition, the discovery that ectopic somites can be generated in a non-sequential, non-linear arrangement, by treating posterior primitive streak grafts with the BMP4 antagonist Noggin, offers the experimental opportunity to separate the 'segmentation clock' from the timing of somite formation and explore directly the role of the 'segmentation clock' in somite formation or patterning (Streit and Stern, 1999; work presented in this thesis).

# 1.6 The formation of somite compartments and somite derivatives

# 1.6.1 Somite maturation

The course of somite maturation, in the same manner as the process of somite formation, progresses from rostral to caudal levels of the

embryonic axis (Williams, 1910; Christ and Ordahl, 1995; Gossler and Hrabe de Angelis, 1998). Accordingly, the sequence of the somites along the axis reveals a rostrocaudal gradient of developmental progress with the more rostral somites at later stages of maturation and the youngest somites gradually positioned more caudally (Williams, 1910; Christ and Ordahl, 1995; Christ et al., 1974). Given that the state of maturation of a given pair of somites is different along the rostrocaudal axis, a dynamic staging system has been established to characterize the somites according to their developmental status (Christ and Ordahl, 1995), so that the newly formed youngest somite is denominated somite I and the successive rostral somites, gradually maturing, are denominated sequential Roman numbers (Figure 1.7). In the avian embryo, somites I to IV are developmental compartments (Lawrence, 1990) arranged as spheres of epithelial cells (Williams, 1910; Christ and Ordahl, 1995; Bellairs, 1979; Meier, 1979; Keynes and Stern, 1988), composed of 2000-3000 cells (Herrmann et al., 1951; Ordahl, 1993; Venters et al., 2008), a single cell in radius, with a central somitic lumen containing the mesenchymal somitocoele cells (Huang et al., 1994, 1996) and an outer surface covered by a basement membrane which stabilizes their epithelial structure and connects them to adjacent structures via extracellular matrix (ECM) (Bellairs, 1979; Crossin et al., 1986;

Duband et al., 1987; Kimura et al., 1995; Rickmann et al., 1985; Solursh et al., 1979; Tam and Trainor, 1994; Tan et al., 1987). The epithelial somites possess a rostral-caudal polarity, which is thought to be initially specified in the cranial portion of PSM mediated by Delta-Notch signaling (Del Amo et al., 1992; Hrabe de Angelis et al., 1997; Jen et al., 1997; del Barco Barrantes et al. 1999; Saga and Takeda, 2001), that will later on become manifest morphologically in the rostral and caudal regions of the sclerotome (Keynes and Stern, 1984; Stern et al., 1986). Experiments in which the most rostral portion of the PSM or the epithelial somite are inverted along the rostro-caudal axis have established that this polarity is established prior to somite formation (Aoyama and Asamoto, 1988). On the other hand, the specification of the dorso-ventral and medial-lateral axes is controlled by signals emanating from adjacent structures (Christ and Ordahl, 1995; Kieny et al., 1972; Brent and Tabin, 2002). If an epithelial somite is rotated dorso-ventrally (Aoyama and Asamoto, 1988; Ordahl and Le Douarin, 1992; Aoyama, 1993) or mediallaterally (Ordahl and Le Douarin, 1992), it develops as the neighbouring non-rotated somites, showing that at these stages, the cells are multipotent and that the specification of the dorso-ventral and the medial-lateral compartments occurs under the influence of extrinsic signals. From somite V, eight to ten hours after formation of

the epithelial somites (Christ and Ordahl, 1995), the somites start to mature and molecular and morphological changes take place leading to a dorso-ventral polarization of the somites and, consequently, the formation of two main somitic compartments, the sclerotome and the dermomyotome. The ventral somite half undergo an epithelial-tomesenchymal (EMT) transition. Disruption of the basement membrane in this region of the somite releases the cells of the ventral surface of the epithelium to form the mesenchymal sclerotome (Jacob et al., 1975; Christ et al., 2004) and the dorsal epithelium of the somite becomes more tightly organized, increases in height, forming the dermomyotome (Ordahl and Le Douarin, 1992; Christ et al., 2004). Given that during development the chick embryo folds laterally, the sclerotome comes to lie more medially and the dermomyotome more laterally. Hence, the somites subdivide into the sclerotome, ventromedially and the dermomyotome, dorsolaterally (Keynes, 1988). The dermomyotome later subdivides further: the cells situated immediately beneath the ectoderm eventually disaggregate and give rise to the dermis of the trunk and to some muscle cells (Christ et al., 1992); the cells that appear between the dermomyotome and the sclerotome remain closely packed as the myotome, forming the axial skeletal muscle (Christ et al., 1978; 1992).

# **1.6.2 Somite compartments**

During the process of somite maturation, the somites subdivide into compartments within which various cell types differentiate controlled by environmental signals, including myocytes, fibrocytes, adipocytes, chondrocytes, osteocytes, endothelial cells, pericytes and epineural and perineural cells (Christ and Ordahl, 1995; Scaal and Christ, 2004; Jacob et al., 1974; Christ et al., 1992; Ordahl and Le Douarin, 1992; Aoyama, 1993).

# 1.6.2.1 Sclerotome

The sclerotome is the ventromedial compartment of the somite that gives rise to the vertebral column, ribs, tendons and meninges of the spinal cord (Hall, 1977; Wallin et al., 1994; Christ et al., 1979, 1998, 2000; Kurz et al., 1996; Halata et al., 1990; Brent et al., 2003; Huang et al., 1994, 1996, 2000; Mitapalli et al., 2005). It is the source of fibrocytes of connective tissue and tendons and osteocytes precursors of the vertebral bodies, vertebral arches, intervertebral discs and proximal and distal parts of the ribs (Christ and Wilting, 1992; Brand-Saberi and Christ, 2000; Christ et al., 2004). The sclerotome compartment forms from a process of epitheliomesenchymal transition (EMT) of the ventromedial cells of the

epithelial somite (Christ et al., 2004). It is therefore initially characterized by a mesenchymal arrangement of prospective sclerotome cells that first appear in the somite at stage IV (Christ and Ordahl, 1995) and these are subsequently joined by the mesenchymal cells of the somitocoele that eventually give rise to part of the ribs and the intervertebral discs (Huang et al., 1994, 1996). EMT in the sclerotome is also accompanied by a decrease in cell adhesion and down-regulation of N-cadherin and an increase in cell mobility (Hatta et al., 1987; Duband et al., 1987; Takeichi, 1988). Sclerotome mesenchymal cells appear to be polarized (Trelstad, 1977) and actively migrate towards the notochord to form the perinotochordal tissue (Chernoff and Lash, 1981; Williams, 1910; Jacob et al., 1975). It is not clear what mechanisms control the EMT in the ventromedial somite or whether it depends on signals emanating from the notochord or the ventral neural tube. Although notochord grafts exert ventralizing effect on the dorsal somite forcing it to undergo EMT (Brand-Saberi, 1993), it has been shown that ablation of the axial structures does not influence EMT in the ventromedial somite (Teillet and Le Douarin, 1983) and does not prevent ventro-medial cell dissociation and partial sclerotome formation (Christ et al., 1972; Veini and Bellairs, 1991; Hirano et al., 1995). Additionally, it has also been shown that Shh signaling from

the axial structures is not required for cell dissociation (Christ et al., 2004) and EMT is not required for sclerotome induction since the expression of the sclerotome markers, such as Pax1, precedes EMT (Brand-Saberi, 1993; Christ et al., 2004; Teillet and Le Douarin, 1983; Peters et al., 1999). It is possible that EMT in the ventromedial somite is initiated due to the lack of signals to maintain the epithelial state such as Wnt6 that is expressed in the epidermal ectoderm and regulates epithelialization of the paraxial mesoderm (Schmidt et al., 2004). The sclerotome is also characterized by the specific expression of two genes of the Pax family of transcription factors, Pax1 and Pax9. In the chick (and mouse) embryo, Pax1 mRNA is first expressed in the ventral part of the early somite (future sclerotome compartment) and in the mesenchymal cells of the somitocoel (Deutsch et al., 1988; Ebensperger et al., 1995; Borycki et al., 1997) but subsequently during somite maturation Pax1 mRNA becomes restricted to the ventral portion of the sclerotome (and down-regulated in the dorsal and lateral portions of the sclerotome) (Deutsch et al., 1988; Wallin et al., 1994; Peters et al., 1995; Muller et al., 1996). Pax1 expression remains in the intervertebral discs at the time of chondrification of the vertebral bodies (Deutsch et al., 1988; Wallin et al., 1994; Peters et al., 1995). On the other hand, Pax9 mRNA expression is first detected in the dorsolateral

sclerotome of somites IV-V (Müller et al., 1996), at HH st.12 (Hamburger and Hamilton, 1951) and subsequently its expression pattern partly overlaps with Pax1 in the intervertebral discs (Peters et al., 1995). Ondulated mice mutants, containing a point mutation in the paired box of *Pax1* (Balling et al., 1988), lack vertebral bodies, intervertebral discs and proximal ribs but present neural arches, indicating a function of *Pax1* in ventral rather than dorsal sclerotome development (Chalepakis et al., 1991; Wallin et al., 1994; Dietrich and Gruss, 1995). Pax1 expression is induced by signals emanating from the notochord and floor plate of the neural tube (Ebensperger et al., 1995; Furumoto et al., 1999). In vivo ablation of the notochord and floor plate of the neural tube in the chick embryo results in an absence of Pax1 positive sclerotomal cells (Teillet et al., 1998; Teillet and Le Douarin, 1983; Goulding et al., 1993; Ebensperger et al., 1995; Brand-Saberi et al., 1993; Dietrich et al., 1993). Noggin (expressed in the notochord at the time of sclerotome formation) (Streit and Stern, 1999; Tonegawa and Takahashi, 1998; Hinsinger et al., 1997; Sela-Donenfeld and Kalcheim, 2002; McMahon et al., 1998) and Shh (secreted by the notochord and the floor plate of the neural tube) (Echelard et al., 1993; Krauss et al., 1993; Riddle et al., 1993; Chang et al., 1994; Marti et al., 1995) have been identified to act synergistically to initiate and maintain Pax1 expression in the

sclerotome and are thought to play a role in early formation and maintenance of the sclerotome (Fan and Tessier-Lavigne, 1994; McMahon et al., 1998; Fan et al., 1995).

Distinct sclerotomal derivatives form from different subdomains of the maturing sclerotome. The central subdomain of the sclerotome close to the myotome compartment presents high cell density and develops under the influence of FGF8 produced by the myotomal cells (Stolte et al., 2002; Huang et al., 2003) giving rise to the pedicle part of the neural arches and the proximal ribs (Christ et al., 1979, 1992). The rostral and caudal borders of the central subdomain of the sclerotome constitute the syntetome subcompartment (Brent et al., 2003). These cell express scleraxis, a basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor (Cserjesi et al., 1995), induced by a still unknown signal activated by myotomal FGF8 and FREK (Brent et al., 2003). The syndetome contains the precursor cells of the tendons that connect the vertebrae with the epaxial muscles (Brent et al., 2003). The ventral subdomain of the sclerotome generates the vertebral bodies and the intervertebral discs (Hall, 1997; Wallin et al., 1994; Christ et al., 1979, 1998, 2000). The dorsal domain of the sclerotome generates the dorsal part of the neural arches and the spinous process (Ebensperger et al., 1995; Monsoro-Burg et al., 1996; Monsoro-Burg and Le Douarin, 2000). The lateral subdomain of the

sclerotome gives rise to the distal ribs (Huang et al., 1994, 2000, 2003; Olivera-Martinez et al., 2000) and the medial subdomain gives rise to blood vessels and meninges of the spinal cord (Halata et al., 1990; Kurz et al., 1996).

# R/C sub-compartments of the sclerotome and the establishment of the metameric pattern of the vertebrate body

Although somites are transient embryonic structures, their initial segmental pattern is extremely important because it imposes the segmental organization of other structures in body such as the vertebral column, thoracic wall, skeletal muscle, smooth muscle, connective tissue, endothelial cells of the adult body, blood vessels and nerves (Christ and Jacob, 1980; Wachtler et al., 1981; Brand et al., 1985; Solursh et al., 1987; Schramm and Solursh, 1990; Lance-Jones, 1988; Noden, 1991). The subdivision of the somitic sclerotome into rostral and caudal halves is essential for imparting segmental organization to the peripheral nervous system (PNS) (Stern et al., 1986). In the PNS, motor nerves as well as neural crest cells can only migrate through the rostral half of the sclerotome and are inhibited from entering the caudal half. The ability of cranial half-somite cells, and extracellular matrix to support immigration of neural crest cells and nerves appears to be acquired prior to segmentation.

and is not shared by cells of the caudal half-somite (Keynes and Stern, 1988; Ranscht and Bronner-Fraser, 1991). The subdivision of the sclerotome into rostral and caudal halves is also essential for the resegmentation event by which the caudal sclerotome of one somite and the rostral sclerotome of the next somite form a single vertebral body, allowing single muscle groups to interact with two vertebrae and allowing intervertebral movement (Huang et al., 1996; Huang et al., 2000; Keynes and Stern, 1984; Rickmann et al., 1985).

### 1.6.2.2 Dermomyotome and myotome

Subsequent to sclerotome formation, the remaining dorsolateral epithelium is referred to as the dermomyotome compartment of the somite that gives rise to the epaxial skeletal muscle of the back and hypaxial skeletal muscle of the ventro-lateral body wall, limb muscles, endothelial cells, dorsal dermis, smooth muscle cells and cartilage of the scapula blade (Ordahl and Le Douarin, 1992; Olivera-Martinez et al., 2000; Huang and Christ, 2000; Denetclaw et al., 1997; Chevallier et al., 1977; Denetclaw and Ordahl, 2000; Cinnamon et al., 1999; Christ et al., 1983). It is the source of the myogenic and dermogenic precursor cells (Gros et al., 2005; Kalcheim al., 2006; Brand-Saberi Christ, et and 2000). Dermomyotome formation and maintenance depend on dorsalizing

signals emanating from neighbouring structures, involving Wnt1 and Wnt3a secreted by the dorsal neural tube and contact-dependent Wnt4, Wnt6 and Wnt7a from the surface ectoderm (Spence et al., 1996; Dietrich et al., 1997; Fan et al., 1997; Marcelle et al., 1997; Capdevila et al., 1998; Ikeya and Takada, 1998; Wagner et al., 2000; Rodriguez-Niedenfuhr et al., 2003). Myotome formation depends on balanced signaling of Shh from the notochord/floor plate that induces expression of muscle regulatory factors (MRFs), MyoD followed by Myf5 and also on Wnt signalling from the dorsal neural tube for maintenance of expression of the MRFs (Munsterberg et al., 1995; Munsterberg and Lassar, 1995; Christ et al., 1992; Rong et al., 1992; Borman and Yorde, 1994; Buffinger and Stockdale, 1994; Stern and Hauschka, 1995; Cossu et al., 1996; Geetha-Loganathan et al., 2005). The dermomyotome comprises a central epithelial sheet adjacent to the ectoderm (DM) and medial and lateral curved borders or lips (DML: dorsal medial lip and VLL: ventral lateral lip, respectively) that bend inwards from where cells delaminate and migrate underneath to form the myotome compartment of the somite, which becomes located between the dermomyotome and the sclerotome (Christ et al., 1978; Kaehn et al., 1988; Denetclaw et al., 1997; Kahane et al., 1988). DM markers include Pax3 and Pax7 (Williams and Ordahl, 1994; Muller et al., 1996; Brand-Saberi et al.,

1993; Pourquie et al., 1993; Goulding et al., 1993, 1994). During somite maturation the DM undergoes EMT giving rise to myoblasts that generate skeletal muscle and dermoblasts that generate the subectodermal dorsal dermis, loosing Pax genes expression and start expressing dermal markers such as *dermo-1* (Li et al., 1995; Scaal et al., 2000). The process of DM cell mesenchymalization is accompanied by a change in the orientation of the mitotic spindles from a parallel to a perpendicular orientation of the daughter cells in relation to the dermomyotomal sheet (Ben-Yair and Kalcheim, 2005; Ben-Yair et al., 2011). The dissociating daughter cells relocated dorsally towards the ectoderm form the dermis and the daughter cells relocated ventrally contribute to the growth of the myotome. Only the myoblasts express N-cadherin whereas the dermoblasts do not (Ben-Yair and Kalcheim, 2005; Cinnamon et al., 2006). DML cells form the epaxial myotome and differentiate into the back muscles (Ordahl and Le Douarin, 1992) and the VLL cells form the limb girdle muscle and the hypaxial muscle (Ordahl and Le Douarin, 1992). There have been two main models proposed for the origin of the myotome (Denetclaw and Ordahl, 2000; Denetclaw et al., 2001; Kahane et al., 1998; Cinnamon et al., 1999; Kahane et al., 2002). According to the "incremental growth" model of myotome formation, there is a direct translocation of muscle precursor cells from the DML

and the VLL into the myotome, where they elongate rostrocaudally below the dermomyotome. Myotome expansion then proceeds medio-laterally as more myocytes are added and displace older myocytes laterally that become further apart from their progeny (Denetclaw and Ordahl, 2000; Denetclaw et al., 2001). According to the "intercalating growth" model (Cinnamon et al., 1999, 2001; Kahane et al., 2002; 1998), myotome formation involves two consecutive steps. The first muscle precursor cells originate from the dorsomedial epithelial somite (Kahane et al., 1998; Kahane and Kalcheim, 1998). After somite dissociation these "pioneer" cells migrate rostrally underneath the dermomyotome before tranlocating into the myotomme and later contribute to both epaxial and hypaxial muscles (Cinnamon et al., 1999; Kahane et al., 2002). Subsequently, DML and VLL cells are added to the rostral and caudal dermomyotome lips from where they translocate into the myotome where they elongate, intercalating with the pre-existing "pioneer" muscle fibers (Kahane et al., 1998; Cinnamon et al., 1999; Kahane et al., 2002; Cinnamon et al., 2001).

# 1.7 Somite axial identity

Although the somites of different axial levels initially resemble each

other, the derivatives of each one of these mesodermal segments generate regional differences that constitute the specific patterns of the different parts of the vertebral column (Kessel and Gruss, 1990). In the chicken embryo, somites differentiate into morphologically different vertebrae, dependent on their position in the rostrocaudal axis and this ultimately defines the axial formula: fourteen cervical vertebrae, seven thoracic vertebrae, twelve to thirteen lumbosacral vertebrae and five coccygeal vertebrae (Burke et al., 1995; Gadow, 1933; Nickel et al., 1977) (Figure 1.8). Genes that specifically affect the body segment pattern, Hox genes, were first identified in the Drosophila (Lewis, 1978) but have subsequently been identified in most metazoans (Duboule, 1998; Minelli and Perrufo, 1991; Akam, 1989). Hox genes are a family of homeobox containing transcription factors encoding transcription regulators active in pattern formation and expressed along the rostrocaudal axis in most metazoans (Affolter et al., 1990; Shashikant et al., 1991; McGinnis and Krumlauf, 1992), controlling the identity and morphology of individual segments (Kessel and Gruss, 1990). The positional identity of the somites along the axis of the embryo is specified by a unique code of combined expression of Hox genes (Kessel and Gruss, 1990; 1991). Therefore, regionalization can be characterized by specific patterns of Hox gene expression (Kessel and Gruss, 1991), which has been

termed the "Hox code". In vertebrates, there are four clusters of Hox genes (A, B, C and D) situated on four different chromosomes, comprising thirty-nine Hox genes. For each of the clusters, the Hox genes are arranged sequentially in the chromosome with an arrangement that prefigures their rostrocaudal order of expression along the embryonic axis during development, a phenomenon known as colinearity (Lewis, 1978; Duboule and Dolle, 1989; Gaunt, 1988; Graham et al., 1989) (Figure 1.8). Classical experiments have identified that axial identity determination takes place in the PSM cells before somite formation (Kieny et al., 1972; Jacob et al., 1975). Heterotopic transplantation of prospective-thoracic PSM cells into the cervical region of the host embryo results in the formation of ectopic ribs at the cervical region (Kieny et al., 1972; Jacob et al., 1975). In mice, loss- or gain-of-function mutations that affect the expression of Hox genes in the PSM result in an alteration of fates of the somite derivatives with altered morphology of the vertebrae (Crawford, 1995), which have been identified as homeotic transformations (Kessel and Gruss, 1991). Alteration of Hox gene expression in the PSM results in respective alteration of the axial identity of the vertebrae (Carapuco et al., 2005). Moreover, Hox gene expression boundaries along the rostrocaudal axis have been transposed according to morphology among vertebrates (Gaunt, 1994; Burke et

al., 1995). For instance, the same Hox genes are expressed in specific morphological transitions in the chick and mouse, as for example Hox c-6, which is expressed in the first thoracic vertebrae of chick (somite nineteen) and of mice (somite twelve) (Burke et al., 1995). During the chicken embryonic body axis extension, Hox genes are activated in a temporal collinear manner in the primitive streak (Forlani et al., 2003; Juan and Ruddle, 2003; Wacker et al., 2004; limura and Pourquie, 2006); as cells are added to the PSM, as a consequence of the process of gastrulation at the caudal end of the embryo, Hox genes are expressed in a collinear manner in the PSM: 3' Hox genes start their activity first followed later by 5' Hox genes as the axis of the embryo elongates (Gaunt, 1988; Dolle et al., 1989; Graham et al., 1989; Kessel and Gruss, 1991). The gradient of FGF, Wnt and RA signaling has been identified to be involved in the process of somite axial identity specification (Dubrulle et al., 2001). Perturbation of the FGF8 signaling gradient leads to the formation of smaller somites (Dubrulle et al., 2001), which is accompanied by a change in the expression of *Hox* genes (Dubrulle et al., 2001). Thus, Hox gene expression matched the respective (smaller) somite rather than the axial position (Dubrulle et al., 2001). Additionally, perturbation of the Wnt and RA signaling also causes a change in the Hox gene expression pattern and a change in the axial identity of

the vertebrae (homeotic transformation) in mouse embryos (Kessel and Gruss, 1991; Greco et al., 1996; Ikeya and Takada, 2001; Hogan et al., 1992; Duston et al., 1989; Conlon, 1995). Increasing RA signaling in mouse embryos, leads to homeotic transformations of the vertebrae to more rostral identities (Kessel and Gruss, 1991). It has been identified that there are binding sites for the morphogen RA in the regulatory regions of Hox genes and that RA can regulate the 3' expression of Hox genes (Hogan et al., 1992; Conlon, 1995), which can trigger the spatial collinear expression of the Hox family along the rostrocaudal axis. Homeotic transformations and change in Hox gene expression are also observed in Wnt3a hypomorphic embryos (Greco et al., 1996) and Wnt3a mutant embryos (Ikeya and Takada, 2001). In the PSM cells might start to sequentially express Hox genes correlating with the time they spent in the primitive streak (Gaunt, 1994; Gaunt and Strachan, 1994; 1996) or alternatively the exact time of ingression of the cells could be determined by the Hox genes expressed prior to it (limura et al., 2009; limura and Pourquie, 2006).
# 1.8 The role of BMP-4 signaling and Noggin in mesoderm patterning and somite specification

Bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) are secreted signaling molecules and members of the transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) superfamily of proteins which includes TGF-ßs, activins, inhibins, Growth Differentiation Factors (GDFs), Glial Derived Neurotrophic Factors (GDNFs), Nodal, Lefty and anti-Mullerian hormone (Kingsley, 1994; Derynck and Miyazono, 2008). The BMP subfamily can be further classified into further subgroups, according to their osteogenic activities: BMP-2/4 group, the BMP-5/6/7/8 group, the Growth and Differentiation Factor (GDF)-5/6/7 group and the BMP-9/10 group (Derynck and Miyazono, 2008; Kawabata et al., 1998; Cheng et al., 2003). BMP proteins (ligands) can signal via the canonical, Smaddependent pathway or non-canonical pathways. In the canonical pathway, cell signaling transduction by BMPs follows binding to type II and type I transmembrane serine-theonine kinase receptors, forming of a heterotetrameric complex (Heldin et al., 1997). After formation of the heterotetrameric complex, the constitutively active type II receptor transphosphorylates the type I receptor which in turn phosphorylates the R-Smads (receptor regulated Smad 1/5/8). Then the phosphorylated Smad 1/5/8 associates with the co-Smad (comediator Smad4) and translocate to the nucleus where it

subsequently associates with coactivators/corepressors for gene expression regulation (Horbelt et al., 2012; Heldin and Moustakas, 2012). BMPs can bind to three of the seven type I receptors for the TGF- β family of ligands, type IA BMP receptor, type IB BMP receptor and type IA activin receptor and three of the four type II receptors, type II BMP receptor, type II activin receptor and type IIB activin receptor (Heldin et al., 1997; Holbert et al., 2012). The different receptors share structural properties comprising a short extracellular domain, a single transmembrane domain and an intracellular domain containing a serine-threonine kinase domain (Heldin et al., 1997). Various non-canonical, Smad-independent pathways, including the MAPK pathway, can also lead to gene expression regulation (Yamaguchi et al., 1995; Deynck and Zhang, 2003; Zhang, 2009). BMP signaling is additionally regulated by intracellular regulators (Yao et al., 2000), plasma membrane coreceptors which interact with type I and type II receptors, such as endoglin (Toporsian et al., 2010) and extracellular antagonists, such as Noggin, Chordin, Follistatin, Dan, Cerbrus, Gremlin (Glinka et al., 1998; Hsu et al., 1998, Joseph and Melton, 1997; Maniani and Harland, 1998; Nakamura et al., 1990; Pearce et al., 1999; Piccolo et al., 1996, 1999; Smith and Harland, 1992; Stanley et al., 1998; Zimmermann et al., 1996). Therefore, BMP activity in embryogenesis

is dependent on the integration of several signaling mechanisms and regulators (see above). BMPs were originally identified as factors that induce bone formation (Urist et al., 1979; Wozney et al., 1988) but subsequent studies further identified that these proteins regulate several developmental processes throughout embryogenesis: they have been implicated in the specification of the dorso-ventral axis in Drosophila (Wozney et al., 1988; Lyons et al., 1991), in mesoderm formation during gastrulation in mice (Winnier et al., 1995; Mishina et al., 1995), in the formation of the ventral mesoderm during gastrulation in Xenopus (Dale et al., 1992; Jones et al., 1992; Fainsod et al., 1994; Harland et al., 1994; Schmidt et al., 1995; Dosch et al., 1997) and primitive streak formation, dorso-ventral patterning of the neural tube, mesoderm specification and somite patterning in the chicken embryo (Streit et al., 1998; Dickinson et al., 1995; Liem et al., 1995; Selleck and Bronner-Fraser, 1995; Pourquie et al., 1996; Hirsinger et al., 1997; Marcelle et al., 1997; Tonegawa and Takahashi, 1997, 1998). In the chicken embryo, the mesoderm layer is initially formed during the dynamic process of gastrulation from cells of the node and adjacent epiblast that ingress through the primitive streak (Psychoyos and Stern 1996; M. A. Selleck and Stern 1991). The precursors of the axial and paraxial (pre-somitic) mesoderm are located close to the rostral end of the streak (whereas

the precursors of the lateral mesoderm and extraembryonic tissues are located caudally) (Nicolet 1965, 1967, 1971; Psychoyos and Stern 1996; Rosenquist 1966, 1970; Schoenwolf et al. 1992; M. A. Selleck and Stern 1991; Spratt and Condon 1947; Spratt 1957; Tam and Tan 1992). In the chick embryo at HH st.5, the paraxial mesoderm precursors reside in the most rostral third of the primitive streak. Subsequent to ingression the mesodermal cells migrate rostrally and laterally and those that are located medially form the paraxial mesoderm and those located laterally form the lateral plate (Schoenwolf et al. 1992; M. A. Selleck and Stern 1991). It has been identified that the level of BMP-4 activity imparts medial-lateral patterning to the mesoderm and to the somites (Pourquie et al., 1996; Hirsinger et al., 1997; Garcia-Martinez and Schoenwolf, 1992; Tonegawa et al., 1997). During early neurulation in the chicken embryo, BMP-4 mRNA is expressed in the developing neural plate and in a wide region caudal to Hensen's node including the ectoderm overlying the prospective lateral plate mesoderm and the caudal part of the primitive streak mesoderm (Watanabe and Le Douarin, 1996; Streit et al., 1998; Tonegawa and Takahashi, 1998; Pourquie et al. 1996). As development proceeds, BMP-4 mRNA is expressed in the presumptive lateral plate mesoderm at HH st.10, and at HHst-13 becomes strongly expressed in the lateral plate mesoderm along the

rostro-caudal axis next to the presomitic level, but not detected in the somite mesoderm (Watanabe and Le Douarin, 1996; Tonegawa et al. 1997; Roberts et al., 1995; Pourquie et al., 1996). Ectopic administration of BMP-4 on the presomitic mesoderm of the chicken embryo at HH st.14 results in a lateralization of the presomitic mesoderm in а concentration-dependent manner: at low concentration results in a change of somitic mesoderm to lateral somite characteristics and at high concentration results in complete respecification of somite mesoderm to lateral plate, providing evidence that BMP-4 acts as a lateralizer during mesoderm formation and is one of the signals involved in mesoderm specification (Tonegawa et al, 1997, Pourquie et al, 1996; Hirsinger et al., 1997). These observations are consistent with previous experiments done in younger chicken embryos at HH st.4 in which prospective somitic mesoderm from the primitive streak was grafted into the prospective lateral plate region of the primitive streak, resulting in contribution of the graft to the lateral plate, providing evidence that lateral plate provides a signal for lateralization (Garcia-Martinez and Schoenwolf, 1992). The BMP-4 antagonist Noggin, expressed in the Spemann's organizer and originally discovered as a dorsalizing factor in Xenopus (Smith and Harland, 1992), has been shown to counteract BMP-4 activity by binding to it and preventing an interaction with its

receptor (Piccolo et al., 1996; Zimmerman et al., 1996). Noggin binds to BMP2/4 and Gdf7 subclasses of BMPs with picomolar affinity and to other BMPs at lower affinities (Chang and Hemmati-Brivanlou, 1999; Re'em Kalma et al., 1995; Zimmerman et al., 1996). Noggin expression pattern during somitogenesis in the chicken embryo is also compatible with an antagonizing role to BMP-4 (Streit and Stern, 1999; Tonegawa and Takahashi, 1998; Hinsinger et al., 1997; Sela-Donenfeld and Kalcheim, 2002). At the beginning of neurulation (HH st.5) Noggin in expressed in the node and from HH-st.8 it becomes expressed in the notochord adjacent to the somite territory (up to somite X), in the mesodermal cells caudal to Hensen's node where it overlaps with the BMP-4 expression domain, in the caudal neural tube and also in the lateral border of the PSM (region that coincides with the intermediate mesoderm which expresses BMP-4) (Streit and Stern, 1999; Tonegawa and Takahashi, 1998; Hinsinger et al., 1997; Pourquie et al., 1996). At the level of the young epithelial somites, Noggin is expressed in the lateral portion of the epithelial somites I to III and becomes progressively more medial as somites start maturing (Tonegawa and Takahashi, 1998; Hinsinger et al., 1997; Sela-Donenfeld and Kalcheim, 2002). Since BMP-4 is expressed in the adjacent lateral plate mesoderm, it has been suggested that Noggin prevents lateralization of the somites by counteracting BMP-4 activity

(Capdevila and Johnson, 1998; Tonegawa and Takahashi, 1998; Hinsinger et al., 1997; Pourguie et al., 1996, Tonegawa et al., 1997). It has been shown that mesoderm growth and patterning of somites are severely affected in Noggin null mice embryos, which consequently die at birth with a severely malformed skeleton (somite derivative) (Brunet et al., 1998; McMahon et al., 1998). Bmp-4 haploinsufficiency suppresses this phenotype (Wijgerde et al., 2005). Therefore, Noggin-mediated regulation of BMP-4 activity is crucial for the specification of mesoderm and somites. The role of BMP-4 activity/Noggin in somite specification is further illustrated in several studies in the chicken embryo. Ectopic administration of BMP-4 on the paraxial mesoderm prevents pre-somitic cells from differentiating into somites (Tonegawa et al. 1997) and BMP-4 inhibition by ectopic Noggin is sufficient to convert prospective lateral plate/ extraembryonic mesoderm into somite fate (Streit and Stern 1999; Tonegawa and Takahashi 1998). It is possible to generate ectopic somites independently from the main axis by means of quail/chick transplantation experiments (Streit and Stern 1999): explants of the most posterior primitive streak (PPS) (prospective lateral plate/extraembyonic mesoderm) transplanted together with Noggin producing cells (CHOB3.A4 cells or Noggin-transfected COS cells)

into the extraembryonic area opaca of a chick host embryo give rise to ectopic somites (Streit and Stern, 1999).

#### 1.9 Aims of the study

Somitogenesis is an intricate multistep process involving timing, somite size specification and patterning. Given that these processes are tightly integrated and happen in concert with maturation of the PSM and body axis extension in the developing embryo, it has been difficult to disentangle whether there is one prevailing mechanism controlling the specification of all aspects of somite formation or whether there are several mechanisms working in parallel to individually regulate each aspect. Because experimentally it has been difficult to separate all of these features of somite formation as they occur synchronously during somitogenesis in the normal embryo, prevailing models to explain somite formation have been postulated to encompass all of aspects, which have been thought to be regulated at the same time.

Preliminary experiments have provided the interesting observation that posterior primitive streak explants (prospective lateral plate) treated with the BMP4 antagonist, Noggin, generate experimental somites that show expression of the somite marker *Paraxis* but form

in groups resembling 'bunches of grapes', a different arrangement compared with how axial endogenous somites form in an orderly and periodic fashion (Streit and Stern, 1999). This means that it is possible to generate experimental somites *de novo* from nonsomitogenic tissue and provides a unique experimental paradigm to study somitogenesis since experimental somites are not linearly arranged and are confronted with other somites in a threedimensional arrangement.

To be able to use the experimental somites as a model to study aspects of somitogenesis it is important to first establish a reliable protocol to generate them in good numbers and to characterize them in terms of size, morphology, expression of somitic markers and potential to give rise to late somite derivatives if placed in the right environment. These are the aims of Chapters Three and Four.

Subsequently, the periodicity of experimental somite formation is addressed. To investigate whether the experimental somites form sequentially and periodically like the endogenous somites or synchronously, the formation of the experimental somites from a GFP-transgenic (CAG-GFP chick) donor posterior primitive streak explant treated with Noggin protein will be time-lapse imaged with an

inverted fluorescence microscope. This is the aim of the first part of Chapter Five.

The experimental somites will be used as an experimental paradigm to explore the potential roles of the molecular clock in the different events of somite formation because it allows to separate the aspects of somite size specification from the timing of somite formation, which in the normal embryo are coincident events. To assess the molecular clock in the posterior primitive streak explants treated with Noggin protein and investigate if the formation of experimental somites is prefigured, or not, by periodic expression of the "cycling genes", a time-course experiment is performed, including multiple time-points separated by 45 minutes intervals, following treatment of the posterior primitive explants with Noggin protein and subsequent analysis by in situ hybridization for expression of key "cycling genes" Hairy1, Hairy2 and LFng. Since the subdivision of the somites into rostral and caudal halves is thought to be a manifestation of the molecular clock (Takahashi et al., 2003), the rostrocaudal subdivision of the experimental somites will be investigated by examining the expression of known rostral half markers, Hairy2 (Jouve et al., 2000) and EphA4 (Schmidt et al., 2001) and caudal half markers, Hairy 1 (Palmeirim et al., 1997), Lunatic Fringe (Aulehla and Johnson, 1999;

McGrew et al., 1998) *Uncx4.1* (Schragle et al., 2004) and *Meso2* (Buchberger et al., 1998), by *in situ* hybridization. As an additional test of the somite patterning, the migration paths of neural crest cells and motor axons through somites (that will grafted in place of an endogenous somite in a secondary host) which are known to normally only migrate through the rostral half of the sclerotome (Keynes and Stern, 1988) will be analyzed. These are the aims of the second part of Chapter Five.

Finally, given that occipital somites form almost simultaneously in the normal embryo and show molecular differences compared with the other more caudal somites (Alev et al., 2010; Lim et al., 1987; Rodrigues et al., 2006), one might reason that the experimental somites formed from posterior primitive streak explants treated with Noggin protein, could have an occipital somite identity. Therefore, to investigate the axial identity of the generated somites, the expression of known *Hox* genes (Burke et al., 1995; Gaunt, 1994) in the experimental somites will be analyzed by in situ hybridization. This is the aim of Chapter Six.



Figure 1.1. Summary diagram showing a two-dimensional representation of the forming epithelial somites and rostral PSM microenvironment and the roles of Cdc42, Paraxis and intercellular signaling in the MET process during somitogenesis in the chicken embryo.

Figure 1.1. Summary diagram showing a two-dimensional representation of the forming epithelial somites and rostral PSM microenvironment and the roles of Cdc42, Paraxis and intercellular signaling in the MET process during somitogenesis in the chicken embryo.

Newly formed epithelial somite (orange) is lined by a layer of epithelial cells and has a central cavity, the somitocoele (left); epithelialization of the caudal border of the epithelial somite precedes epithelialization of the rostral border, hence the forming somite presents a horseshoe shape (middle); in the rostral PSM cells become arranged as an epithelium at the peripheral sides of the PSM prior to somite formation (yellow). Paraxis starts to be expressed at the level of the rostral PSM, induced by ectodermal Wnt6. Low activity of Cdc42 is necessary for somitic MET and high activity of Cdc42 is required for mesenchymal state maintenance. *Rac1* activity is required for *Paraxis* function as an epithelialization factor. MET correlates with the downregulation of Snail genes. *cMeso1* upregulates *EphA4* in the cells located caudally to a forming border which in turn activates Ephrin-reverse signal in the rostral border cells, where it is sufficient to produce a somitic boundary and promotes epithelialization by repressing Cdc42. MET, mesenchymalepithelial transition; PSM, presomitic mesoderm.



Figure 1.2. Summary diagram representing the Clock and Wavefront model.

## Figure 1.2. Summary diagram representing the Clock and Wavefront model.

(Top of graph) The distribution of the strength of the FGF/WNT signaling (y axis) is illustrated as a blue line representing a decreasing gradient along the rostrocaudal axis of the PSM (x axis). The vertical dotted line illustrates the position of the determination front. (Bottom of graph) Representation of the rostrocaudal axis of the embryo with the somites (black squares, on the right), the clock gene oscillations (purple band, on the left) and the clock genes fixed expression (purple blocks, on the right). The dotted square represents the position of the next somite to form. Region (1) represents the travelling waves of oscillatory gene expression in the PSM. Region (2) represents the fixed stripes of gene expression after arrest of the oscillating gene expression. High FGF/WNT signaling maintains oscillations of gene expression in the PSM. The determination front fixes the position where the travelling waves of oscillatory gene expression are arrested and is proposed to define the caudal boundary of the prospective somite to be specified. PSM, presomitic mesoderm.



Figure 1.3. Summary diagram of the feedback loops that have been proposed to underlie the periodic oscillation of the cycling genes in zebrafish, chick and mouse.

Figure 1.3. Summary diagram of the feedback loops that have been proposed to underlie the periodic oscillation of the cycling genes in zebrafish, chick and mouse.

Zebrafish. Her1 and her7 show oscillatory expression in the zebrafish PSM cells, which has been proposed to be required for the oscillations of the cycling genes (Henry et al., 2002; Oates and Ho, 2002; Holley et al., 2002). Self-repression of her genes has been proposed as the basis for the oscillations of the zebrafish clock (Oates and Ho, 2002, Holley et al., 2002; Lewis, 2003) and are thought to be involved in periodic expression of *DeltaC* which in turn periodically activates Notch activity (Jiang et al., 2000). It has also been suggested that DeltaC oscillatory expression acts to synchronize adjacent cells (Jiang et al., 2000; Mara et al., 2007). **Chick.** *Lfng* shows oscillatory expression in the PSM cells, with the same periodicity as somite formation (McGrew et al., 1998; Forsberg et al., 1998; Aulehla and Johnson, 1999). It has been proposed that Lfng protein (a modulator of Notch activity) indirectly represses its own expression by periodic modulation of Notch signaling pathway (Dale et al., 2003). Overexpression of Lfng in the chick PSM impairs the cyclic expression of the Notch downstream targets hairy1 and hairy2 and endogenous Lfng (Dale et al., 2003; Serth et al., 2003). Mouse. Hes genes encode for transcriptional repressors of the bHLH family, downstream of Notch signaling (Iso et al., 2003). Hes7/hes1 mRNA and Hes7/Hes1 protein show oscillatory expression in the mouse PSM cells (Bessho et al., 2003; Hirata et al., 2004). It has been proposed that hes7/1 oscillatory expression in the PSM relies on periodic delayed autorepression by its own protein (Hirata et al., 2004; Bessho et al., 2003; Jensen et al., 2003, Lewis, 2003; Monk, 2003; Barrio et al., 2006). Additionally, axin2 (a target of the Wnt pathway) is also expressed in a cyclic fashion in the mouse PSM cells (Aulehla et al., 2003). Wnt signaling-*Axin2* negative feedback loop has been proposed to drive the mouse clock (Aulehla et al., 2003). In the mouse PSM, Notch and Wnt act antagonistically through the binding of *Dsh* to the Notch intercellular domain (Aulehla et al., 2003).



Figure 1.4. Interactions between Notch, Wnt and Ffg signaling pathways.

## Figure 1.4. Interactions between Notch, Wnt and Ffg signaling pathways.

Crosstalk between the Notch (red), Wnt (blue) and Fgf (green) signaling pathways involved in the segmentation clock in the PSM (Ferjentsik et al., 2009; Aulehla et al., 2003; Dequeant et al., 2006; Niwa et al., 2007; Gibb et al., 2009; Dale et al., 2006; Sewell et al., 2009; Wahl et al., 2007). NICD, Notch intracellular domain; *Lfng, Lunatic fringe*; *Hes7*, hairy and enhancer of split related 7; Nrarp, Notch-regulated ankyrin repeat protein; LRP, low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein; CK1, casein kinase 1; Fgfr1, Fgf receptor 1; Dusp 4/6, Dual specificity phosphatase 4/6; *Dll1, Delta-like 1.* (Reproduced from Gibb et al., 2010).



Figure 1.5. Summary diagram representing Meinhardt's model.

#### Figure 1.5. Summary diagram representing Meinhardt's model.

At the top of the figure, the rostrocaudal concentration of a morphogen represents the long-range gradient that provides positional information. A-D: Steps of gradual generation of a periodic and sequential pattern under the control of the long-range gradient of a morphogen. A: Initially, all the cells present a rostral state (white). B: A specific morphogen concentration defines a transition zone where the cells change their state to a caudal state (grey). C: At the level of the transition zone, somite formation is preceded by a series of oscillations between rostral (white) and caudal (grey) states, before they stabilize. This is proposed to be linked to the period of an oscillator operating in the PSM. Cells located too far from the transition, stabilizing zone revert to rostral state. D: According to this model, once the oscillations between states are arrested and the cells stabilize their states at the rostral end of the PSM, a somite border forms between the caudal cells of one somite and the rostral cells of the next somite to form. The process continues as the morphogen gradient moves caudally and defines a new transition zone, where the oscillations between states start again and new boundaries form. S0, next somite to form; S1, newly formed somite; PSM, presomitic mesoderm. (Reproduced with modifications from Meinhardt, 1986).



Figure 1.6. Summary diagram representing the Cell Cycle model.

#### Figure 1.6. Summary diagram representing the Cell Cycle model.

The model postulates a correlation between the process of somite formation and the synchrony of the cell division cycle of the cells in the PSM. Schematic representation of the caudal part of the chicken embryo (left); Schematic representation of three cell cycles (A, B, C) and associated levels of somitogenesis (right). A: At the lvel of somite formation in the rostral PSM, the cells are at the M phase of the cell cycle. **B**: Cells are allocated to a specific somite during cell cycle B, preceding somite individualization by one full cell cycle. According to the cell cycle model, the allocation of a group of PSM cells to form a somite is proposed to occur during a 90 min. window between the P1 and P2 points on either side of the M phase of cell cycle B. "Pioneer" cells that reach the P2 point are then able to signal only to the cells within the P1-P2 window, instructing them to group together to form a somite. C: Cells at the caudal end of the PSM are at the M phase of the cell cycle C and will still experience another full cell cycle prior to being allocated to a specific somite. PSM, presomitic mesoderm; S, somite. (Reproduced with modifications from Primmett et al., 1989).



Figure 1.7. Schematic representation of the sequential formation and maturation of somites.

### Figure 1.7. Schematic representation of the sequential formation and maturation of somites.

(right) Diagram representing the caudal part of a chick embryo. The PSM is produced caudally at the level of the primitive streak and the tail bud (arrows) and forms as two rods of mesenchymal cells on either side of the neural tube. Cells remain in the PSM until they segment into epithelial somites at the rostral end of the PSM, and somite formation progresses in a rostrocaudal sequence. One pair of somites forms every 90 min. The sequence of the somites along the axis reveals a rostrocaudal gradient of developmental progress with the more rostral somites at later stages of maturation and the youngest somites gradually positioned more caudally. Somite nomenclature, as defined by Christ and Ordahl (1995) is indicated inside the somites. The newly formed youngest somite is denominated SI and the successive more rostral somites are denominated sequential Roman numbers (SII, SIII, SIV, SV...).

(left) Schematic representation of the main morphological events during somite formation and maturation. A: Somites form as epithelial spheres, a single cell in radius, with a central lumen containing mesenchymal somitocoele cells. **B**, **C**: From SV, somites mature through compartmentalization and cell lineages specification guided by extrinsic cues, resulting in the formation of the ventromedial mesenchymal sclerotome (green), the dorsolateral epithelial dermomyotome (red) and the myotome (white). S, somite; NT, neural tube; NC, notochord; PSM, presomitic mesoderm.



Figure 1.8. Hox code and the axial formula.

### Figure 1.8. Hox code and the axial formula.

**A:** Schematic representation of the four vertebrate *Hox* genes clusters (A, B, C, D). *Hox* genes are shown as boxes in their order on the chromosome. **B:** Schematic representation of the axial formulae (vertebrae) and respective somite levels of the chick and the mouse. The *Hox* code is listed below each axial formulae and the rostral (anterior) boundary of *Hox* gene expression is indicated at the respective axial level.

### **Chapter Two: Materials and Methods**

#### 2.1 Avian embryos and somite nomenclature

Fertilized hens' (*Gallus gallus domesticus*) Brown Bovan Gold eggs and fertilized quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*) eggs were obtained from commercial sources (Henry Stewart & Co., UK and B C Potter Farm, UK, respectively). Transgenic hens' eggs (a line expressing Green Fluorescent Protein [GFP] in all cells) were obtained from the Roslin Institute, University of Edinburgh. Eggs were stored at 14°C until the beginning of each experiment after which they were incubated in a humidified atmosphere, at 38°C, to the desired stages. The embryos were staged according to the morphological criteria of Hamburger and Hamilton, henceforth referred to as "HH-stage" (Hamburger and Hamilton, 1951), further refined by noting the number of pairs of somites formed. Additionally, the shape of Hensen's node was carefully observed to stage embryos at around HH-stage 5 of development more precisely, according to Selleck and Stern (1991) (see Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1. Diagram showing the changes in the shape of Hensen's node between HH-stage 4 and HH-stage 6. (adapted from Selleck and Stern, 1991).

The arrows indicate the rostral and caudal limits of Hensen's node. At HH-st.4, the node is a mass of cells at the rostral end of the primitive streak, with boundaries easily visible as indicated by arrows. At HH-st.5, the head process (rostral-most notochord) has emerged and is visible as a rod of condensed mesoderm extending forward from the rostral edge of Hensen's node. At HH-st.6 the caudal limit of the node becomes less distinct.

The classification of somite maturity was done according to the system defined by Christ and Ordahl (1995): the most recently formed somite is termed SI, anterior to SI the progressively older somites are denominated SII, SIII and so on (B. Christ and Ordahl 1995).

#### 2.2 Microsurgical procedures

#### 2.2.1 Modified New culture of young avian embryos

A modified culture method (Stern and Ireland, 1981) based on that first described by Dennis New in 1955 (New, 1955) was used for grafting experiments.

Fertilized chick eggs were incubated at 38°C for 19-22 hours to obtain HH-st.5 host embryos for transplantation experiments. The eggs were removed from the incubator and left to cool to room temperature. Incubated eggs were opened at the blunt end using coarse forceps. The thin albumen was poured out, collected in a small beaker and kept for culture. After removing the thick adhering albumen around the yolk, the latter was transferred into a large glass dish containing Pannett-Compton (PC) saline solution (Pannett, 1924). The yolk was carefully turned so that the embryo was facing up. Whilst submerged, the vitelline membrane enveloping the yolk was cut all the way around just below the equator and gently peeled from the yolk using semi-blunt forceps, taking the adhering embryo with it. The membrane containing the embryo was then transferred to a watch glass and positioned with the embryo facing up (ventral side up). A glass ring was placed on the membrane. The watch glass was then lifted out of the saline taking the ring with the membrane and

embryo with it. Then, the membrane was stretched around the ring and folded over it, positioning the embryo in the centre of the ring. The membrane and embryo were gently cleaned of any excess yolk with a stream of PC saline. At this point the experimental manipulation was performed (transplantation and bead grafts) after which the remaining saline was removed, inside and outside of the ring. Finally, the ring with the vitelline membrane was carefully transferred to a 35 mm plastic dish containing a pool of thin egg albumen (Stern and Ireland, 1981) and gently pressed down with two forceps allowing it to adhere to the bottom of the dish which was then sealed with a lid previously coated with albumen. The dishes were placed in a plastic box humidified using a piece of tissue paper soaked with distilled water and incubated for 3-24 hours, according to the experiment, in a 38°C incubator.

#### 2.2.2 Somite transplantation experiment

Somite transplantation was performed *in ovo*. Fertilized hens' eggs were incubated resting on their sides for 40-48 hours to obtain HH-st.11-12 host embryos.

#### Preparation of the chick host embryo

The egg was removed from the incubator and placed on a plasticine

ring, keeping the orientation in which it had been incubated. Using a syringe with a 21G needle, the blunt end of the egg was pierced to withdraw 1 ml of egg albumen. A 1 cm x 1 cm square window was scored on the top of the shell using a scalpel and the piece of shell removed with forceps: the underlying shell membrane then moistened with Tyrode's saline solution and removed with forceps. The egg was filled with Tyrode's saline solution to float the embryo to the level of the window and 30  $\mu$ l of Indian ink (Pelikan Fount India diluted 1:10 with Tyrode's saline) injected under the vitelline membrane below the embryo. A border of silicone grease was drawn around the edges of the window in the shell and filled with Tyrode's saline and fibre optic lights were placed tangentially to the surface of the egg to produce a "dark field" illumination (Hara, 1971).

#### Excision of a single somite

The vitelline menbrane was pierced above the last somite formed. Then the Tyrode's saline solution was replaced with Trypsin (Difco 1:250; 0.12% w/v in Tyrode's saline). Using a micro-knife a cut was made in the ectoderm next to the neural tube in the region of the last formed somite, lifted up and gently moved to the side. A second cut was made between the neural tube and the somite and gradually deepened without penetrating the endoderm and the same was done on the opposite side to free the somite from the intermediate mesoderm. The somite was gently lifted up using the micro-knife and the neural tube as a lever and removed with a Gilson micropipette. Then, the Trypsine solution was removed and the embryo washed twice with fresh Tyrode's saline.

#### Grafting of the donor somite

An isolated ectopic somite was obtained from the donor embryo using light Trypsin (Difco 1:250; 0.12% w/v in Tyrode's saline) placed directly above the cultured embryo, inside the glass ring. The somite was picked up with a Gilson micropipette set to 2 µl and carefully placed into the Tyrode's bubble over the host embryo. It was manipulated with a micro-knife into the gap made by the excised host somite and covered with the layer of ectoderm. Then, the Tyrode's saline was carefully removed with a Pasteur pipette and 3 ml of thin egg albumen withdrawn from the egg through the original hole in the blunt part of the eggshell, lowering the host embryo back to its original position. Finally, the edges of the window on the shell were wiped with 70% alcohol and the egg sealed with PVC tape. The operated embryos were incubated on their sides (with the window upwards) for 2-4 days up to stage 22-25, in a 38°C humidified incubator.

#### 2.3 Fixation of the embryos

After incubation in modified New culture (Stern and Ireland, 1981), embryos were submerged in Pannett-Compton saline solution and freed from the vitelline membrane using 21G hypodermic needles. The embryos were fixed overnight at 4°C (placed flat in a Petri dish) in a drop of fresh 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS, pH 7.0 and then rinsed in PBT (PBS with 0.1% Tween 20). For whole mount *in situ* hybridization the embryos were dehydrated through a methanol series and stored in absolute methanol at -20°C.

After incubation *in ovo*, the embryos were explanted and the extraembryonic membranes removed. Then the cavities were opened (brain vesicles and heart) to facilitate washing and the embryos fixed overnight at 4°C in fresh 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS, pH 7.0, then rinsed in PBT (PBS, 0.1% Tween 20), methanol cleared and stored as described above.

# 2.4 Synthesis of RNA antisense Digoxigenin-labelled probes for *in situ* hybridization

Digoxigenin-labelled RNA probes were *in vitro* transcribed from linearized plasmids according to standard procedure adapted from Sambrook et al. (Sambrook, 1989).The plasmids were cut at a 5' restriction site with the appropriate restriction enzyme according to the manufacturer's instructions and the cut DNA was purified by phenol:chloroform (1:1) extraction, ethanol precipitated and resuspended in clean (commercial Ultrapure) RNAase-free water to a final concentration of 1µg/µl. In vitro transcription was carried out with the appropriate RNA polymerase (T3, T7 or SP6) at 37°C (40°C in the case of SP6) for 2 hours. The proportions of different reagents for the transcription reaction were the following: (for 3  $\mu$ g of cut DNA): cut DNA (3 µl); DEPC water (22 µl); 5x transcription buffer (10 µl); digoxigenin-labelled nucleotide mix (5 µl); 10x DTT (5µl); RNAse inhibitor (1 μl); RNA polymerase (4 μl). After 2 hours at 37°C an aliquot of 1 µl was taken and ran in a 1%TAE agarose-gel to check transcription and 3 µl of DNAase (RNAse free. Promega RQ1 DNAase) was added to degrade the template DNA. The RNA was precipitated by adding 10 µl 4M LiCl and 250 µl of EtOH and incubated at -20°C, overnight. The pellet was washed with 300 µl of 70% ethanol and the probe was then resuspended in clean (commercial Ultrapure) RNAase-free water, at a concentration of approximately 1mg/ml and diluted in 10x the volume of hybridization buffer or to a final concentration of 100-500 ng/ml for use for in situ hybridization.

The digoxigenin-labelled antisense RNA probes used in the course
of this work were: *Noggin* (Connolly et al., 1997) *BMP4* (Liem et al., 1995), *Paraxis* (Sosic et al., 1997), *MyoD* (Pourquie et al., 1996), *Pax1* (a kind gift from A. Streit), *Hairy1* (Palmeirim et al., 1997), *Hairy2* (Jouve et al., 2000), *Lunatic fringe* (Sakamoto et al., 1997), *Meso2* (a kind gift from M. Maroto), *EphA4* (Schmidt et al., 2001), *HoxB4*, *HoxB9* (kind gifts from Linda Ariza-McNaughton (Grapin-Botton et al., 1995) and *Uncx4.1* (Dale et al., 2003). Partial *Dapper1* and *Dapper2* cDNA probes were kindly provided by Dr. S. Dietrich (Alvares et al., 2009).

## 2.5 Whole mount *in-situ* hybridization

This experiment was performed according to standard protocols in the Stern lab (Stern, 1998; Streit and Stern, 2001), partly based on a method described by Domingos Henrique (Henrique et al., 1995). The stored embryos were re-hydrated by successive washes of 5 minutes in 75%, 50% and 25% methanol in PTW solution, followed by four washes of 10 minutes each in PTW. The embryos were then treated with proteinase K (10µg/ml) for 30 minutes (or 15 minutes for cultured embryos) at room temperature and re-fixed in 0.1% glutaraldehyde/4% paraformaldehyde in PTW for 20 minutes at room temperature. After two PTW washes of 10 minutes each, the embryos were transferred to hybridization solution and prehybridized for 2 to 6 hours at 70°C. Hybridization was carried out overnight at 70°C in hybridization solution (Appendix 1) containing a digoxigenin-labelled RNA probe. The embryos were rinsed three times with a small volume of pre-warmed hybridization solution, then washed two times for 30 minutes each in pre-warmed hybridization solution followed by a wash in pre-warmed 1:1 hybridization solution: TBST (8 mg/ml NaCl, 0.2 mg/ml KCl, 2.5 mM Tris pH 7.6, 0.1% Tween-20). The embryos were then washed three times 30 minutes each in TBST and pre-blocked in 5% heat inactivated sheep serum in TBST for three hours followed by an incubation overnight at 4°C, in blocking solution containing alkaline phosphatase-conjugated antidigoxigenin antibody (Boehringer-Mannheim). After washing the embryos extensively in TBST for at least five hours, they were transferred to NTMT (100 mM Tris-HCl pH 9.5, 100 mM NaCl, 50 mM MgCl2, 0.1% Tween-20). The alkaline phosphatase activity was visualized by incubating the embryos in NTMT containing 0.45 mg/mL nitro-blue-tetrazolium chloride (Boehringer-Mannheim), 0.35 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl mg/mL phosphatase (Boehringer-Mannheim). After stopping the colour reaction, embryos were postfixed in 0.1% glutaraldehyde/ 4% paraformaldehyde in PTW for 1 hour at room temperature and then stored in PTW.

### 2.6 Antibodies for whole mount immunocytochemistry

Whole-mount immunocytochemistry for GFP was performed using a monoclonal rabbit anti-GFP antibody (InVitrogen, 1:1000) and the secondary antibody Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated anti-rabbit IgG (InVitrogen, 1:1000) was used. A monoclonal antibody directed to neurofilament-associated protein (3A10, Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank, 1:50) and a monoclonal antibody directed to the HNK-1 epitope (IC10, Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank, 1:100) were also used. The secondary antibody used was HRP-conjugated anti-mouse IgG (1:1000).

### 2.7 Antibodies for whole mount double immunocytochemistry

Whole-mount double immunocytochemistry for Fibronectin and Ncadherin was performed using a monoclonal antibody directed to chick Fibronectin (VA1(3)-S Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank, 1:100) and a polyclonal anti-N-cadherin antibody (ab12221 Abcam, 1:500). Secondary antibodies were Alexa Fluor 555- and 488- conjugated anti-mouse and anti-rabbit IgG (Molecular Probes, 1:200).

## 2.8 Whole mount immunocytochemistry

The manipulated embryos, previously fixed, were washed three times for 30 minutes in PBST (PBS with 1% Triton-X100) on a rocker at room temperature and then blocked overnight with gentle rocking at 4°C in blocking buffer (PBST with 1% BSA, 1% NGS). The embryos were incubated in primary antibody (or a mix of the two primary antibodies for double immunostaining) in blocking buffer, overnight at 4°C. The embryos were then washed in PBST, five times for 30 minutes, followed by incubation with blocking buffer, for 1 hour at room temperature. After this, embryos were incubated overnight in secondary antibody (or a mix of the two secondary antibodies for double immunostaining) in blocking buffer. Finally the embryos were washed three times for 10 minutes and three times for 30 minutes in PBST at room temperature and either:

(1) mounted in Vectashield (Vector Laboratories)

or

(2) washed in 100mM Tris-HCl pH7.4 for ten minutes and incubated in the developing medium (0.5mg DAB in 100ml TRIS pH 7.4 with 0.003% H2O2) for a few minutes until the brown peroxide reaction product had developed and finally washed briefly with water and fixed in 4% formaldehyde for storage at 4°C.

## 2.9 Histological sections

Selected hybridized and post-fixed chick embryos were processed for histological sections (wax), progressively dehydrated/cleared as previously described (Izpisua-Belmonte et al., 1993): first, the embryos were washed in absolute methanol for 10 minutes, followed by a wash in propan-2-ol, 5 minutes. The embryos were then transferred to 1:1 tetrahydronaphthalene/wax, for 1 hour at 60°C and finally immersed in wax, 3 times, for 30 minutes each, at 60°C. Embryos were poured into molds, immersed in wax and allowed to set at room temperature. The blocks were wrapped in foil, stored at room temperature until sectioned. Sections (10  $\mu$ m thick) were cut on a MICROM GmbH (Type HM315) microtome, and mounted onto SuperFrost®Plus microscope slides. Sections were dried overnight at 37°C and the day after, rinsed in Histological-Clearing Agent, twice for 30 minutes each. Finally the sections were mounted in Canada balsam under a coverslip.

## 2.10 Photography of chick embryos

Embryos were photographed as whole mounts in PTW under microscope using a ZEISS AxioCam HRc camera and Zeiss Axiovision Application software. Either a zoom dissection microscope with epifluorescence attachment (Olympus SZH10) or a compound (Olympus Vanox-T) microscope with bright field, epifluorescence and Differential Interface Contrast (Nomarski DIC) optics were used.

## 2.11 Time-lapse imaging of ectopic somite formation

Movies were made using an inverted microscope (Olympus IX71 with a Lumen-200 halogen fibre optic epifluorescence light source), acquiring images with a Hamamatsu C4742-96 monochrome camera at 1344 x 1024 pixels) using Simple-PCI software (Hamamatsu, supplied by Digital Pixel Inc.), which also controlled focus and a Prior filter wheel with Chroma fluorescence filters via a Prior Optiscan-2 interface. Frames were collected in bright field and fluorescence every 10 minutes.

# 2.12 Analysis of the molecular clock in the posterior primitive streak (PPS) explant treated with Noggin protein prior to ectopic somite formation – time-course experiment

To analyze if a molecular clock was present in the cells that form the ectopic somites, a time-course experiment was performed. The time-course included 6 time-points separated by 45 minutes intervals,

between 3 and 7.5 hours following treatment of the PPS explant with Noggin protein. The embryos were cultured for 3h, 4.5h, 5.15h, 6.45h or 7.5h and after each time point were fixed and analyzed by *in situ hybridization* for expression of *Hairy1*, *Hairy2* and *LFng*. For each time point, 15-20 explants were analyzed.

## 2.13 Calculation of somite volumes

Somite volumes were calculated according to the equation of the volume of a sphere:

 $V=4/3 \pi r^{3}$ 

r=1/2 D

V, volume; r, radius; D, diameter.

Measurements of the diameter were done in live HH st.12/13 host chick embryos for the epithelial endogenous somites SI, SII, SIII, SIV (8 embryos, n=24 epithelial endogenous somites) and on the experimental somites from the respective "bunches of grapes" (8 "bunches of grapes", n=59 experimental somites), using a Widefield microscope with an Eyepiece Graticule.

# Chapter Three: Optimization of an *ex vivo* method for Ectopic Somite Formation

## **3.1: Introduction**

Two main reasons contribute for the attractiveness of somite formation as an experimental target: the first is the predictable regularity of their formation (timing) and the second is the relative consistency of size and cell number of each newly formed somite (the segmental pattern). In the normal embryo the timing of somite formation and the specification of somite size always go hand in hand, making it tempting to suggest that both aspects are controlled by the same mechanism. Expression of a number of genes (mainly related to the Notch signaling pathway) cycles at the same rhythm as somite formation in the pre-somitic mesoderm cells, and it is generally assumed that this "segmentation clock" regulates the timing of somite formation and the size of somites (Aulehla and Pourquie, 2008; Benazeraf and Pourquie, 2013; Cooke and Zeeman, 1976; Dequeant et al., 2006; Murray et al., 2011; Pourquie, 2003; Santillan and Mackey, 2008; Schroter and Oates, 2010). To test this assumption directly it is first important to establish an experimental model that might distinguish these two aspects of somite formation to

address the roles that the "segmentation clock" might have, and so far this has not been possible.

It has been reported that it is possible to obtain ectopic somites of fairly normal size, which express somite markers, if posterior primitive streak (which normally gives rise to lateral plate rather than somites) is treated with the BMP-inhibitor Noggin (Streit and Stern, 1999). Interestingly, these ectopic somites do not form linearly but rather in a three-dimensional arrangement resembling a "bunch of grapes" and appear not to arise by a sequential process (Streit and Stern, 1999). Therefore, this paradigm suggests that it might be possible to experimentally to separate the timing of somite formation from segmentation itself and presents an opportunity to investigate the role of the "segmentation clock" on somite patterning. In this study this approach is used as an experimental paradigm to study somite formation. This chapter describes the optimization of an experimental method to obtain ectopic somite formation reliably enough to study timing and other aspects of their formation. Before any important questions can be addressed the most efficient protocol for deriving ectopic somites has to be established, firstly, to validate the assay and secondly, to generate sufficient material to address these questions.

## 3.2: Methods

## Host chick embryos

HH-st.5 host embryos were explanted and prepared for the transplant experiment in modified New culture (New, 1955; Stern and Ireland, 1981) (see Chapter Two: 2.2.1 Modified New culture of young avian embryos).

## Posterior primitive streak (PPS) explants

Quail or GFP-transgenic chick HH-st.5 donor embryos were harvested through a window made with scissors in the blunt end of the egg. Four cuts were made in the vitelline membrane around the embryo and it was transferred using a spoon to a Petri dish containing Pannett-Compton saline. After removing excess yolk, the embryo was separated from the vitelline membrane using fine forceps and the region of the primitive streak corresponding to its most posterior 1/3 (prospective lateral/extraembryonic mesoderm, non-somitogenic tissue) was excised using fine (21G) hypodermic needles, picked up in a P20 Gilson pipette and the explant was placed in a drop of saline solution until transplantation. The selection of the region of the streak for transplant was made according to the fate map of Psychoyos and Stern (1996). Original method for ectopic somite formation *de novo* from posterior primitive streak (non-somitogenic tissue) treated with Noggin producing cells (described by Streit and Stern (1999)

## Noggin protein secreting cells and Noggin transfected cells CHOB3.A4 cell culture

CHOB3.A4 is a subclone from a stable CHO cell line engineered to express Xenopus Noggin protein, described in Lamb et al., 1993 (kindly provided by Dr. Richard Harland, UC Berkley). Cells were grown in  $\alpha$ -MEM medium without nucleotides (Gibco 320-2561AJ), 5% dialysed fetal bovine serum, 80 µM Methotrexate, 1% Sodium Pyruvate (1mM final) and 1% non-essential amino acid solution (0.1 mM final). CHOB3.A4 cells were usually passaged at 1:3 dilution (4 days to confluence). Culture supernatant from the CHOB3.A4 cells was prepared by 3 days culture of near confluent cells in low-serum medium, without the methotrexate which is normally included to maintain these cells. CHO cells do not spontaneously form aggregates in hanging drop culture. To produce aggregates suitable for grafting, the suspension of cells (approximately  $3 \times 10^6$ ) was centrifuged in an Eppendorf tube (2 minutes, 1500 rpm, 10°C). The medium was removed with a Pasteur pipette and the resulting pellet was re-suspended in 1 ml of Tyrode's solution (with Ca/ Mg). The

suspension of cells was centrifuged again (2 minutes, 1500 rpm at 10°C). The Tyrode's solution was removed and the pellet was resuspended in 1 ml of 2x Tyrode's solution and finally centrifuged for 10 minutes at 2100 rpm. The resulting pellet was loosened with a mounted insect steel needle run carefully around the edge of pellet and removed with a Gilson micropipette. It was then cut into suitably sized pieces for grafting using fine steel needles.

## COS 1 cell transfection

COS 1 cells were grown in DMEM medium [containing 10% new calf serum (CS, Hyclone) and L- glutamine (Gibco-InVitrogen), dilution 1:100]. COS cells were usually passaged at a 1:10 dilution (3 days to confluency) and seeded when they were about 80-90% confluent. For transfection with Lipofectamine PlusTM the cells were seeded at  $1.5 \times 10^5$  cells/ 35mm dish (8 cm<sup>2</sup>), the day before transfection. The COS cells were then transfected with 1µg of pcDNA3-Noggin along with 4µl of LipofectamineTM reagent (InVitrogen) + 6µl of PlusTM Reagent (InVitrogen), for 4-6 hours, according to the manufacturer's instructions (see Table 3.1 for efficiency of transfections). The Lipofectamine suspension was then exchanged for DMEM + 10% CS and the COS cells were cultured for a further 24 hours. Cells were then harvested from culture, diluted at a concentration of  $10^5$  cells/ml after which pellets containing 2000 cells were generated by setting up hanging drop cultures. The cell aggregates were used for transplantation into embryos 48h after transfection. In parallel with transfected COS cells, mock-transfected cells were used as a control.

### Transplant and Noggin protein administration

The PPS explant (see above) was transplanted into a chick host embryo in modified *New* culture (see above), against the extraembryonic epiblast in the anterior-lateral area opaca, as described previously for neural induction assays (Storey et al., 1992; Streit and Stern, 1999). Pellets of Noggin-transfected COS cells/ control mock-transfected COS cells (2000 cells per pellet; see above), or concentrated cell aggregates of Noggin-secreting CHO cells (B3.A4)/ control CHO cells (see above), were then locally applied with a micropipette above the PPS explant. The excess saline was drained off and the transplanted host embryo was finally transferred onto a bed of thin egg albumin in a Petri dish (35 mm in diameter), covered with the lid and incubated at 38°C for different periods, ranging from 3 to 24h, according to the experiment.

## Revised method for ectopic somite formation *de novo* from posterior primitive streak (non-somitogenic tissue) treated with Noggin protein

## Posterior primitive streak (PPS) explants

To ensure that the experimentally produced somites arise from cells that would normally not contributed to this tissue, in all transplant experiments only the most posterior 1/4 portion of the streak from HH-st.5 donor embryos was used because according to the fate map of Psychoyos and Stern (1996) that region is fated to become extraembryonic mesoderm and does not contain prospective somite tissue.

## Pre-incubation of PPS grafts in Noggin protein

An explant of the most posterior 1/4 of the primitive streak was excised from the donor embryo, picked up in a P20 Gilson pipette and immediately placed into a drop of Noggin protein solution (R&D Systems, catalog number: 6057-NG) at 1.5  $\mu$ g/ml in PBS containing 0.1% BSA. It was incubated in a covered Petri-dish, on ice for 3 hours.

## Noggin protein beads

Heparin-coated acrylic beads (selected to be approximately 75 µm in diameter; Sigma) were rinsed in PBS twice and loaded by incubation with Recombinant Human Noggin protein (R&D Systems, catalog number: 6057-NG) at a load concentration of 1.5 (or 2.5) µg/ml in PBS containing 0.1% BSA, for at least two hours on ice or overnight in the fridge. Once beads had been saturated with Noggin protein they were rinsed briefly in PBS prior implantation into the host chick embryo. Heparin-coated acrylic beads simply rinsed in PBS were used as controls.

## Transplant and Noggin beads implantation

The PPS explant (see above) was transplanted into a chick host embryo in modified New culture, placed inside a small pocket made in the extraembryonic endoderm (germ wall) of the anterior-lateral area opaca. Then, 8-10 heparin-coated acrylic beads soaked in Noggin protein were locally applied with a micropipette positioned inside the pocket and surrounding the explant. This was to ensure that all the cells of the PPS explant were treated with Noggin protein as evenly as possible. The excess saline was carefully drained off to avoid disturbing the explant/ beads and the transplanted host embryo was finally transferred onto a bed of thin egg albumin in a Petri dish (35 mm in diameter), covered with the lid and incubated at 38°C for the desired period of time, ranging from 3 to 24h, according to the experiment.



Figure 3.1. Experimental design for ectopic somite formation.

The diagram shows (A) the region of the donor GFP-transgenic chick primitive streak (dashed box) corresponding to its most posterior third selected to transplant. The posterior primitive streak explant (green) was incubated in Noggin solution (1.5  $\mu$ g/ml) for 3 hours and then transplanted together with 8-10 Noggin beads (blue dots) into the extraembryonic area opaca of an HH-st.5 chick host embryo (B). After 9-12 hours of incubation in modified New culture, the PPS explant gives rise to ectopic somites arranged as a "bunch of grapes", independently from the main axis.

Abbreviations: PPS= Posterior primitive streak

## 3.3: Results

#### 3.3.1: Original method for ectopic somite formation

As a starting point, the original method for ectopic somite formation was used. This method involved treating the posterior primitive streak (PPS) explant with Noggin-secreting CHOB3.A4 cells (Lamb et al., 1993) or Noggin-transfected COS-1 cells (Streit and Stern 1999). The percentage of host embryos forming ectopic somites was determined (see Table 3.2).

After numerous attempts (more than 150 transplants), the treatment of PPS explants with CHOB3.A4 Noggin-secreting cells never resulted in ectopic somite formation (see Table 3.2) perhaps due to the fact that the cell line used had been passaged many times and could have lost the ability to secrete Noggin (nevertheless, this method of Noggin administration is widely used in literature (Lamb et al., 1993) suggesting that in optimum conditions can be reliable). In contrast, treatment of PPS explants with Noggin-transfected COS-1 cells did result in ectopic somite formation as previously shown (Streit and Stern, 1999), but only 10% (20/200) of the cases generated ectopic somites. In an attempt to increase the percentage of embryos forming ectopic somites, the transfection method was optimized (see Table 3.1) and the efficiency of COS-1 cells transfection was estimated for different concentrations of vector and duration of the Lipofectamin treatment (see Table 3.1). The maximum transfection efficiency obtained was 12%, which could explain why ectopic somites were generated in only 10% of the embryos.

Percentage of COS-1-transfected cells							
1 μg Vector							
4 hours in lipofectamin	5 hours in lipofectamin	6 hours in lipofectamin	4 hours + o/n inc 9.2%				
9.2%	12%	4.2%					
	2 µg Ve	ector					
4%	5%	2%	2%				
3 µg Vector							
7%	10%	2%	2%				

## Table 3.1. Transfection efficiency of COS-1 cells.

COS-1 cells were transfected using 1 µg, 2 µg or 3 µg of pcDNA3-GFP expression vector and a 4:1, 4:2 or 4:3 ratio of Lipofectamine Plus reagent to DNA. The Lipofectamine mixture was applied to the seeded COS-1 cells in 35 mm dishes and left for 4h, 5h or 6h after which the Lipofectamine suspension was exchanged for DMEM+10%CS (or left overnight with DMEM+10%CS). Twenty-four hours post-transfection cells were examined using fluorescence microscopy to determine the transfection efficiency.

## **3.3.2: Optimized method for ectopic somite formation**

To maximize the percentage of transplanted host embryos forming ectopic somites, a different experimental design was tested. This involved the pre-incubation of the posterior primitive streak (PPS) explant in Noggin protein solution (prior to transplantation) and further implantation of heparin-coated acrylic beads soaked in Noggin protein solution evenly around the explant on the host embryo (see Figure 3.1). This approach ensured a treatment of the PPS graft with an even and constant concentration of Noggin protein. The calibration of the Noggin concentration used for pre-treatments and for incubating the beads is presented on Table 3.3. PPS explants pre-incubated in 1.5  $\mu$ g/ml Noggin protein solution and transplanted surrounded by 8-10 heparin acrylic beads soaked in the Noggin protein solution at the same concentration, resulted in ectopic somite formation in 66% of the cases, after 9 hours of incubation (Figure 3.2; see Table 3.2 for a comparison with the other methods).

Time Post Transplantation (hrs)	Noggin administration	Number of transplanted embryos	Number of embryos with ectopic somites	Success rate (%)
9	CHOB3.A4 Noggin-secreting cells	150	0	0
9	Noggin-transfected COS-1 cells	200	20	10
9	Noggin-beads (2.5 µg/ml)	90	60	66
9	Noggin-beads (1.5 µg/ml)	90	50	55
9	Noggin-beads (1.5µg/ml +PPS explant soaked in 1.5 µg/ml Noggin)	90	60	66

Table 3.2. Comparison of the percentage of transplanted host embryos forming ectopic somites after each different method of Noggin administration on PPS explants.

2.5 μg/ml Noggin Treatment								
Hours post transplant	Total n	Number of embryos with ectopic somites	Total	Bunch of grapes	Average number of ectopic somites (St Dev)			
5	30	0	0	0	0			
9	90	60	67%	17%	7.6 (1.5)			
12	75	33	44%	39%	7.5 (1.6)			
15	68	38	56%	53%	8.2 (1.9)			
1.5 μg/ml Noggin Treatment + PPS explant soaked in Noggin solution for 3 hrs prior to transplant								
Hours post transplant	Total n	Number of embryos with ectopic somites	Total	Bunch of grapes	Average number of ectopic somites (St Dev)			
5	10	0	0	0	0			
9	30	20	66%	72%	8.5 (2.3)			
12	25	12	50%	75%	8.5 (2.2)			
15	16	10	63%	81%	9 (2.3)			

 Table 3.3. Calibration of Noggin concentration.



Figure 3.2. Posterior primitive streak explants (non-somite tissue) treated with Noggin protein and cultured for 9-12h

## Figure 3.2. Posterior primitive streak explants (non-somite tissue) treated with Noggin protein and cultured for 9-12h.

A. Control explant.

The region corresponding to the most posterior third of the primitive streak (PPS) was explanted from a GFP transgenic chick HH-st.5 donor embryo then cultured in the extraembryonic area opaca of a chick host embryo for 9 hours. (**A'**) Anti-GFP antibody staining reveals that in the absence of any treatment the GFP-positive explant cells spread as a sheet on the area opaca of the host chick embryo.

**B.** PPS explant cultured with Noggin-transfected COS-1 cells.

PPS explant cultured into the extraembryonic area opaca of a chick host embryo together with a pellet of Noggin-transfected COS-1 cells for 9 hours. **(B')** The explant gives rise to ectopic somites (arrows) (partially covered by the pellet of COS-1 cells).

**C.** PPS explant cultured with Noggin-beads.

PPS explant from a GFP-transgenic chick donor embryo cultured together with Noggin-beads (1.5  $\mu$ g/ml). The region corresponding to the most posterior third of the primitive streak was explanted from a GFP-transgenic chick HH-st.5 donor embryo then cultured for 12 hours, after which a "bunch of grapes" of ectopic somites formed. The ectopic somites are entirely derived from the GFP positive explant cells, as shown by anti-GFP staining (**C**"). Black arrowheads point to each one of the experimental somites of the "bunch of grapes" (**C**'). Scale bar: 80  $\mu$ m.

## 3.4: Discussion

The finding that posterior primitive streak (PPS) explants (whose fate is to contribute to the lateral plate in embryonic and extraembryonic regions) transplanted together with Noggin producing cells generate somites independently from the main axis (Streit and Stern, 1999), is consistent with the known effect of BMP inhibition by Noggin, which is sufficient to convert lateral/ extraembryonic mesoderm into somite fate (Streit and Stern, 1999; Tonegawa et al., 1997; Tonegawa and Takahashi, 1998). What is striking about this finding is that the ectopic somites that form after this manipulation are not linearly arranged, do not form in a pair-wise orderly sequence as do endogenous somites. Providing that they have characteristics of real somites, this experimental model offers the unique chance to separate experimentally the timing of somite formation from the segmentation itself and can allow to further understanding the role of the "segmentation clock" genes during somitogenesis.

Firstly, I repeated the original method used to generate ectopic somites (Streit and Stern, 1999) and confirmed that it is possible to generate somites from explants of posterior primitive streak. However, the percentage of explants forming ectopic somites was

low, just 10% of cases. The low transfection efficiency of COS-1 cells (12%) suggests that this method of Noggin administration did not ensure a uniform and constant Noggin treatment of the PPS explant, accounting for why the majority of the explants did not generate ectopic somites. Therefore, this method was not reliable for the purpose of the current extensive study because it would require the manipulation of hundreds of chick host embryos to obtain just a few cases. Moreover, the large clumps of secreting cells required impedes observation of the somites that form beneath.

Then, an optimized method was developed for generating ectopic somites. GFP-transgenic chick donor embryos were used to obtain PPS explants, facilitating the observation of the ectopic somites generated, which were GFP-positive (Figure 3.2, C, C'). In an attempt to establish an experimental method that allowed for a high percentage of explants to form somites required for the current study, it was first important to set up a method by which the PPS explants could be treated by a constant source of high concentration of Noggin protein. Since Noggin is a heparin-binding protein that is highly conserved among vertebrates (Groppe et al., 2002; Paine-Saunders et al., 2002), recombinant human Noggin (R&D Systems) could be used to load heparin-coated acrylic beads (Sigma) at known

concentrations and these could be used to apply the protein along with the explant. Using this approach, beads were soaked in Noggin protein at a concentration of 1.5 µg/ml and implanted evenly around the PPS explant (which was also pre-incubated in the same Noggin solution prior to transplantation). There are several advantages for this method of Noggin administration using beads: the concentration of Noggin protein applied on the explant is known; the application of Noggin protein is simultaneous and even on all the cells of the explant; the visualization of the ectopic somites formed is not impaired because the beads are placed around the explant (rather than on top of the explant) and it is technically simpler because it does not involve cell culture or cell transfection methods. This method of Noggin administration was far more efficient, 66% of the hosts formed ectopic somites. The remaining host chick embryos that did not form ectopic somites appear to do so due to the culture conditions and due to technical difficulties during incubation in New culture. During the 9-12 hours culture period of the PPS explant and Noggin-beads on the area opaca of the host chick embryo, the normal development of the host involves a great extension of the embryonic rostro-caudal axis, and the movements associated with the morphogenesis of the head folds make the embryo expand medio-laterally (HH st.5 – HH st.12/14). Therefore, in some cases,

these movements interfere with the position of the PPS explant and the Noggin-beads in the area opaca and make it difficult for these to stay in their relative positions. This resulted in a shifting of the beads away from the PPS explant, thereby removing the PPS explants from an even exposure to Noggin protein, which is required for the formation of the "bunches of grapes". It can be noted that pretreatment of the PPS explant in Noggin protein solution increases the efficiency of ectopic somite formation but it is not absolutely required for their formation. Exposure of the PPS explants to Noggin-beads only or Noggin-transfected COS cells is sufficient to generate ectopic somites (Table 3.3, 2.5 µg/ml Noggin-beads – 53% of PPS explants form ectopic somites; Streit and Stern, 1999). Therefore, what appears to be critical is to get a high enough concentration of Noggin to inhibit BMP in the PPS explant, which at the time of explantation is expressed in the PPS (Watanabe and Le Douarin, 1996; Streit et al., 1998; Tonegawa and Takahashi, 1998; Pourquie et al. 1996). Thus, pre-treating the PPS explant in a direct source of Noggin increases the efficiency of this inhibition and enables the explants to change the fate of the cells towards a somitic fate.

In conclusion, this optimized method allows for a high percentage of host embryos forming ectopic somites and therefore is more

adequate for an extensive study of ectopic somite formation (for a summary of the experimental design used for generation of ectopic somites in the course of this work, see Figure 3.1).

# ChapterFour:Characterizationofexperimentally generated somites

## 4.1: Introduction

To establish whether ectopic somites arising from posterior primitive streak (PPS) explants treated with Noggin protein, can be used to investigate aspects of somite formation and subdivision, one crucial question to address is whether these experimental somites are morphologically and functionally equivalent to normal somites.

In the normal embryo, somites bud off as epithelial spheres through a mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition (MET) of the cells at the anterior-most region of the pre-somitic mesoderm (PSM). At the anterior tip of the PSM, the cells become organized as an epithelium as the nuclei of the cells become aligned and regularly spaced in close contact (Beloussov and Naumidi ,1983; Marcelle et al., 2002; Revel et al., 1973; Trelstad et al., 1967), there are apical tight junctions between the cells close to the lumen (Bellairs et al., 1978; Bellairs and Veini, 1980; Cheney and Lash, 1984; Lipton and Jacobson, 1974; Revel et al., 1973) as well as each somite being surrounded by a basal lamina containing fibronectin and laminin (Bellairs, 1979; Crossin et al., 1986; Duband et al., 1987; Kimura et al., 1995; Rickmann et al., 1985; Solursh et al., 1979; Tam and Trainor, 1994; Tan et al., 1987; Thiery et al., 1982). The process of epithelial somite formation is accompanied by increased cell adhesiveness (Bellairs et al., 1978; Cheney and Lash, 1984; Duband et al., 1987). Various adhesion molecules are expressed apically in the cells, including N-CAM and N-cadherin (Duband et al., 1987; Kimura et al., 1995; Tam and Trainor, 1994). Targeted mutations of the N-cadherin gene cause defects in somite formation with smaller irregular somites formed (Radice et al., 1997).

During normal development, each somite forms as an epithelial sphere of columnar cells whose apices all face a central cavity, the somitocoel, containing a loose aggregate of mesenchymal cells (Huang et al., 1996; Lash et al., 1984; Stern and Bellairs, 1984). In the chick embryo, an epithelial somite is approximately 100  $\mu$ m in diameter and contains an estimated 1000-2000 cells (Ordahl and Le Douarin, 1992). Each somite is surrounded by extracellular matrix that is condensed to form a basement membrane at the external surface of the somite (Solursh et al., 1979). The extracellular matrix which connects the somite with adjacent structures contains multiple components including collagens, fibronectins, laminins and tenascins

(Bellairs, 1979; Crossin et al., 1986; Duband et al., 1987; Rickmann et al., 1985; Thiery et al., 1982). Each somite is also connected by extracellular matrix of the intersomitic cleft to its older (next more anterior) and younger (next more posterior) siblings. The bHLHtranscription factor *Paraxis* starts to be expressed in the anterior tip of the PSM and subsequently all the somites formed maintain expression of *Paraxis*, which has been identified as a key regulator of the epithelial organization in the PSM (Burgess et al., 1995; Burgess et al., 1996). In support of this, mouse mutants for *Paraxis* also fail to form epithelial somites (Burgess et al., 1996).

After their initial formation, the epithelial somites mature and several characteristic molecular and morphological changes take place. The ventral somite half undergoes epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT). Disruption of the basement membrane during EMT in this region of the somite releases the cells of the ventromedial surface of the epithelium to form the mesenchymal sclerotome (Jacob et al., 1975), to which the cells of the somitocoel also contribute (Huang et al., 1994; Huang et al., 1996). At this time, the dorsal epithelium of the somite becomes more tightly organized, increases in height and rotates laterally (Ordahl and Le Douarin, 1992). As a result, the somites become subdivided into the sclerotome (precursor to the

vertebrae) ventromedially and the dermomyotome (precursors of skeletal muscle and dermis) dorsolaterally (Keynes and Stern, 1988). Specification of these somite compartments can be assessed by expression of specific markers, such as the sclerotome/vertebral marker Pax1 (Barnes et al., 1996) and the myotome/muscle marker MyoD (Cossu et al., 1996; Emerson, 1993). To determine if experimentally produced somites share the characteristics of endogenous somites, the expression of the somite marker Paraxis was analyzed by whole mount in situ hybridization, and the expression of N-cadherin and fibronectin by double immunocytochemistry. An analysis of the size and morphology of these somites was also carried out and compared to endogenous epithelial somites somites. Finally, the ability of experimental somites to generate normal somite derivatives was tested by grafting these in the place of endogenous somites, and subsequently analyzing their incorporate into the axis and differentiate ability to into dermomyotome and sclerotome, through expression of Pax1, and MyoD.

## 4.2: Results

generates somite-like structures of normal size and structure After nine to twelve hours of culture of HH-st.5 posterior primitive streak explants with Noggin-beads (1.5 µg/ml), a 3-dimensional arrangement of ectopic somites emerges (with a structure reminiscent of a 'bunch of grapes') (Figure 4.1, A, D-F and H). These ectopic somites are entirely derived from the graft (GFP-positive, posterior primitive streak) as shown by anti-GFP staining (Figure 4.1, E") (n=25) and express the somite marker Paraxis (25/25) (Figure 4.1, E, E', G), presenting a morphology similar to that of endogenous early somites (Figure D-H). Also like normal somites, the cells making up these experimental somites are polarized with a basal outer surface surrounded by a fibronectin rich matrix (Figure 4.1, H in red) and an apical region expressing N-cadherin (5/5) (Figure 4.1, H, in green). Furthermore, the ectopic somites are of normal size compared with endogenous epithelial somites (Appendix 3, Table A3.1 and Table A3.2). Volumes were calculated based on measurements of endogenous and ectopic somite diameters from living embryos: 538323.29±209331.01 µm<sup>3</sup> for ectopic somites and 516783.49±221438.37 µm<sup>3</sup> for endogenous epithelial somites SI, SII,

4.2.1 Noggin treatment of posterior primitive streak explants

SIII, SIV (t-test P=0.844 indicative of no significant difference) (Appendix 3, Graph A3.1).

## 4.2.2 Ectopic somites incorporate well into the axis and express sclerotome and dermomyotome markers

Single GFP-positive ectopic somites were isolated and grafted into the cervical region of the axis of normal HH-st.12 embryos in place of an endogenous somite (Figure 4.2, A). After 2-3 days of incubation in ovo they had incorporated into the axis (Figure 4.2, B-C) (n=26, reaching HH-st.25/27, all showing somite maturation) as shown by anti-GFP staining to reveal the cells derived from the grafted somite (Figure 4.2, B, B', B", C, C', C"). To verify the ability of the experimental somite to mature into normal somite derivatives, the expression of the sclerotome marker *Pax1* and the myotome marker MyoD (early myogenic marker) were assessed by in situ hybridization. The grafted ectopic somites expressed Pax1 (Figure 4.2, E, E', E') and MyoD (Figure 4.2, D, D', D'') similarly to the rest of the axis (8/8). Transverse sections through the grafted somite stained with anti-GFP showed overlap of the expression patterns of *Pax1* and *MyoD* with the GFP-positive cells derived from the grafted somite (Figure 4.2, D", E"). Anti-GFP staining also revealed the formation of some blood vessels (Figure 4.2, E") derived from the

grafted tissue. Although somite precursor cells do contribute to endothelium especially of the aorta as well as to intersegmental blood vessels (Beddington and Martin, 1989; Stern et al., 1988), vascular tissue is also a normal fate of the lateral plate, a normal derivative of the posterior primitive streak. Thus, ectopic somites are able to mature into characteristic derivatives of a somite, as shown by their morphology and expression of markers, but it is possible that some non-somite tissue also forms.



Figure 4.1. Somites formed from non-somite mesoderm treated with Noggin express *Paraxis* and N-cadherin and are surrounded by a Fibronectin matrix.

Figure 4.1. Somites formed from non-somite mesoderm treated with Noggin express *Paraxis* and N-cadherin and are surrounded by a Fibronectin matrix.

A-C. Experimental design. The posterior primitive streak explant (corresponding in size to the posterior third of the primitive streak) was excised from the HH-st.5 donor GFP-transgenic chick embryo, soaked in Noggin protein solution for 3h and transplanted into the extraembryonic area opaca of a HH-st.5 chick host embryo, surrounded evenly by 8-10 beads soaked in Noggin protein. After a further 9h-12h of incubation an arrangement of ectopic somites reminiscent of a "bunch of grapes" forms. B. GFP-transgenic chick donor embryo. B'. Posterior primitive streak explant excised to transplant (\*). C. Transplanted HH-st.5 chick host embryo with a PPS explant surrounded by 10 Noggin-beads (\*). D, F. After 12h incubation, the PPS explant gives rise to a "bunch of grapes" of ectopic somites which are entirely derived from the explant as shown by anti-GFP staining (n=25) (E"). E, E'. The ectopic somites express the somite marker Paraxis (25/25). H. The ectopic somites express *N-cadherin* and are surrounded by a matrix expressing Fibronectin (5/5). **G.** In histological sections, the ectopic somites have epithelial morphology.


Figure 4.2. Experimentally generated somites grafted into the place of an endogenous somite express *MyoD* and *Pax1*.

## Figure 4.2. Experimentally generated somites grafted into the place of an endogenous somite express *MyoD* and *Pax1* (A).

Experimental design. A GFP-positive ectopic somite was grafted in place of an endogenous epithelial somite into an HH-st.12 chick host, *in ovo.* (**B and C**). After 2 days (**B**) or 3 days (**C**) of incubation, the grafted ectopic somite incorporated well in the axis of the host chick embryo and was aligned with the endogenous somites, as shown by anti-GFP staining (n=26). (**B'** and **B''**) are magnifications of the dashed white box in **B**. (**C'** and **C''**) are magnifications of the dashed white box in **C**. (**D**, **D'** and **E**, **E'**). The grafted ectopic somite matures normally and shows expression of the dermomyotome marker *MyoD* and the sclerotomal marker *Pax1*, respectively (8/8). (**D'' and E'')** Transverse sections cut at the level of the grafted somite. Anti-GFP staining shows that the *Pax1* and *MyoD* expression patterns are coincident with the incorporated GFP-positive ectopic somites.

#### 4.3: Discussion

The above results suggest that non-somite mesoderm treated with Noggin generates somites that are equivalent to normal somites based on their size and morphology, expression of specific somite markers and ability to give rise to somite derivatives when placed in the right environment into the axis of a host embryo.

Six to fourteen experimental somites arranged as "a bunch of grapes" form nine to twelve hours after transplantation, entirely derived from the PPS explant treated with Noggin and appear similar to those described by Streit and Stern (1999). This analysis shows that experimental somites present a true somite morphology comprising cells forming a fully three-dimensional epithelial segment that has a basal surface on the outside and a lumen in the centre: they express N-cadherin and a fibronectin basal lamina. The measurements of somite diameters and, accordingly, the somite volumes calculated from living embryos show no significant difference in size between ectopic and endogenous somites (Appendix 3, Graph A3.1). In agreement with their morphology, ectopic somites also express the somite marker *Paraxis*.

In addition, the experimentally generated somites can give rise to normal musculoskeletal derivatives: when an individual ectopic somite is transplanted in place of an endogenous somite, it incorporates into the axis of the host and expresses the sclerotome marker *Pax1* (Barnes et al., 1996) and the dermomyotome marker *MyoD* (Cossu et al., 1996; Emerson, 1993) in appropriate locations. In some cases, in addition to the late somite derivatives (sclerotome and dermomyotome), the grafted ectopic somite also contributed to the formation of some blood vessels (derived from the explant as shown by anti-GFP staining), which correspond to normal somite derivatives (Beddington and Martin, 1989; Stern et al., 1988). Alternatively, these blood vessels could also derive from some cells of the original PPS explant that failed to incorporate in the ectopic somite and, grafted together with the latter in the host, retain their original lateral plate mesoderm fate.

Taken together, these results indicate that the somite-like structures that form from PPS explant treatment with Noggin are bona fide somites. These findings support the idea that BMP inhibition by Noggin is sufficient to change the fate of prospective lateral mesoderm into somites (Streit and Stern, 1999; Tonegawa et al., 1997; Tonegawa and Takahashi, 1998) and importantly, the resulting

ectopic somites are of normal size, morphology and able to generate normal somitic descendants.

#### Chapter Five: Somite formation without a clock?

#### 5.1: Introduction

#### Timing of somite formation

The timing of somite formation is species specific and in the chick embryo a new pair of somites forms at an approximate rate of one pair every ninety minutes (Packard, 1976). To explicate the periodicity of somite formation, numerous theoretical models have been proposed (Aulehla and Pourquie, 2008; Bard, 1990; Benazeraf and Pourquie, 2013; Collier et al., 2000; Cooke and Zeeman, 1976; Dequeant et al., 2006; Hester et al., 2011; Kerszberg and Wolpert, 2000; Morelli et al., 2009; Murray et al., 2011; Pourquie, 2003; Primmett et al., 1989; Santillan and Mackey, 2008; Schnell and Maini, 2000; Schroter and Oates, 2010; Stern et al., 1988) from which the Clock and Wavefront model by Jonathan Cooke in collaboration with the mathematician Christopher Zeeman (Cooke and Zeeman, 1976) has received a lot of attention in the last fifty years. The Clock and Wavefront model postulated the existence of a molecular clock in the PSM and a wavefront of maturation of cells which dictates somites of correct size to form from the rostral end of the PSM (Cooke and Zeeman, 1976). This model was proposed

based on studies of the patterning process of somitogenesis in amphibian embryos (*Xenopus*) of normal and half size (embryos in which half of the cells had been removed) (Cooke, 1975) and accounted for the fact that the final number of somites formed from segmentation of the PSM was always the same irrespective of embryo size (Cooke, 1975; Cooke and Zeeman, 1976). According to this model, the size of the somites is the result of a close interaction between the cell-intrinsic 'clock' and the caudal travelling 'wave' along the axis to gate groups of cells to segment together. Somite size regulation in embryos of different sizes would be achieved by adjusting the speed of the wave (Cooke and Zeeman, 1976).

#### Molecular clock

The Clock and Wavefront model by Cooke and Zeeman (1976) has received further attention because of the identification of genes that are cyclically expressed in the PSM with a periodicity that generally coincides with the time necessary for one pair of somites to form, the so-called "cycling genes", mainly components of the Notch signaling pathway (General Introduction, 1.5.1.1 Cycling genes; Aulehla and Johnson, 1999; Bessho et al., 2001a; Forsberg et al., 1998; Holley et al., 2000; Jiang et al., 2000; Jouve et al., 2000; McGrew et al., 1998; Oates and Ho, 2002; Palmeirim et al., 1997; Sawada et al., 2000). The first gene of the molecular clock to be described was the basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcriptional repressor *c-hairy1* in the chick (Palmeirim et al., 1997). The periodicity of its expression coincides with the ninety minutes required for formation of one somite pair in the chick (Palmeirim et al., 1997). Its expression is highly dynamic and can be subdivided into three phases: first it is expressed in a broad domain in the caudal part of the PSM and the tail bud, next the wave of expression shifts rostrally and ceases in the caudal PSM (second phase) and finally ends in a band of expression that corresponds to the caudal half of S-1 (third phase). Every ninety minutes this expression cycle is reiterated and re-initiates from the tail bud (Palmeirim et al., 1997). Another cycling gene, Lunatic fringe (Lfng), a modulator of Notch activity and a target of Notch (Aulehla and Johnson, 1999; McGrew et al., 1998), has also been shown to have a similar cyclic expression with a ninety minutes period in the PSM, as well as c-hairy2 (a downstream target of Notch) (Jouve et al., 2000). These cycling genes, that cycle in phase with Notch in the PSM are considered to be part of the "segmentation clock" and are thought to be components of the "clock' postulated in the "clock and wavefront" model.

Despite the identification of multiple cyclic genes and numerous

studies on the Clock and Wavefront model, since the discovery of the first gene identified in 1997 (Palmeirim et al., 1997), it is still unknown what accounts for the generation of these cell-intrinsic oscillations.

#### **Rostrocaudal subdivision of somites**

The oscillatory expression of the molecular clock genes, synchronized into travelling waves in the PSM results in the sequential production of regular stripes of gene expression along the rostrocaudal axis (McGrew et al., 1998; Palmeirim et al., 1997). The caudal level of each stripe correlates with the site of somite boundary formation (Dubrulle et al., 2001; Palmeirim et al., 1997). This molecular patterning of the PSM is thought to be the result of the interaction between the highly synchronous oscillations of genes and the rostral to caudal sequential arrest of the oscillations by a wavefront of cell maturation (Dubrulle et al., 2001; McGrew et al., 1998; Palmeirim et al., 1997). It is also thought that when cells stop oscillating they become committed to the rostral or caudal half of the somite and axial identity becomes determined (Dubrulle et al., 2001). Therefore, the segmentation clock is thought to control the timing of somite formation, the molecular patterning of the somites, as well as axial identity of the somites. The rostral-caudal polarity is an important characteristic of the newly formed epithelial somites that will later become manifested morphologically in the rostral and caudal regions of the sclerotome (Keynes and Stern, 1984; Stern et al., 1986). The subdivision of the somite into rostral and caudal halves is also essential for imparting segmental organization to the peripheral nervous system (PNS) (Keynes and Stern, 1984; Stern et al., 1986). In the PNS, motor axons (Keynes and Stern, 1984; Rickmann et al., 1985; Stern et al., 1986) as well as neural crest cells (Bronner-Fraser et al., 1991; Rickmann et al., 1985) can only migrate through the rostral half of the sclerotome and are inhibited from entering the caudal half. The ability of rostral half-somite cells and extracellular matrix to support immigration of neural crest cells and nerves appears to be acquired prior to segmentation and is not shared by cells of the caudal half-somite (Alev et al., 2010; Keynes and Stern, 1984, 1988; Krull et al., 1997; Ranscht and Bronner-Fraser, 1991; Stern et al., 1986; Evrard et al., 1998; Wang and Anderson, 1997).

#### 5.1.1: Investigating the timing of experimental somite formation

Since normal somites form from posterior primitive streak (PPS) explants treated with Noggin protein (Chapter Four), this raises the important question of whether they also form in sequence like

endogenous somites or with a different periodicity or simultaneously. If the periodic timing of a clock is required for the formation of somites of correct size, one would expect experimental somites to form in sequence and periodically like the endogenous somites. To investigate whether the experimental somites form sequentially and periodically or synchronously, the formation of the experimental somites generated from a GFP-transgenic (CAG-GFP chick) donor PPS explant was time-lapse imaged with an inverted fluorescence microscope.

# 5.1.2: Investigating the molecular clock in the posterior primitive streak (PPS) explants treated with Noggin protein, prior to somite formation

To originally reveal the molecular clock the two halves of multiple embryos containing fifteen (HH-st.12<sup>-</sup>) to twenty (HH-st13<sup>+</sup>) somites were analyzed by *in situ* hybridization for expression of c-*hairy1* after different incubation periods of thirty minutes to three hours (Palmeirim et al., 1997). Whereas c-*hairy1* expression was detected in the caudal half of the somites at all stages analyzed, in contrast a variety of expression patterns was observed in the PSM of the embryos with the same number of somites, revealing a highly dynamic pattern of expression that repeated itself every ninety minutes, correlating with the formation of each new somite (Palmeirim et al., 1997). The PSM cells experience twelve cycles of expression before forming a somite (Palmeirim et al., 1997).

Therefore, to assess the molecular clock in the posterior primitive streak (PPS) explants treated with Noggin protein and investigate if the formation of somites is prefigured, or not, by periodic expression of the "cycling genes", a time-course experiment was performed. This time-course experiment included multiple time-points separated by fourty-five minutes intervals (which corresponds to half of the wavelength of the originally described cyclic waves of expression), following treatment of the PPS explant with Noggin protein (Materials and Methods, 2.12 Analysis of the molecular clock in the posterior primitive streak (PPS) explant treated with Noggin protein prior to ectopic somite formation - time-course experiment). Embryos at these different time points prior to somite formation were analyzed by in situ hybridization for expression of the key "cycling genes" Hairy1, Hairy2 and LFng. If cyclic expression of key Notch genes is present one would expect to observe strong variations of their expression patterns in PPS explants (strong expression vs. no expression) at the different time-points and between several PPS explants at the same time-point.

# 5.1.3 Investigating the rostrocaudal polarity of the experimental somites

Since the subdivision of the somites into rostral and caudal halves is thought to be a manifestation of the molecular clock (Takahashi et al., 2003), we investigated the rostrocaudal subdivision of the experimental somites by examining the expression of known rostral and caudal markers by *in situ* hybridization. We analyzed the expression of the caudal half markers *Hairy1* (Palmeirim et al., 1997), *Lunatic Fringe* (Aulehla and Johnson, 1999; McGrew et al., 1998) *Uncx4.1* (Schragle et al., 2004) and *Meso2* (Buchberger et al., 1998) and the rostral half markers, *Hairy2* (Jouve et al., 2000) and *EphA4* (Schmidt et al., 2001). As an additional test of the somite patterning, we further analyzed the migration paths of neural crest cells and motor axons through somites (that had been grafted in place of an endogenous epithelial somite in a secondary host), which are known to normally only migrate through the rostral half of the sclerotome (Keynes and Stern, 1988).

#### 5.2: Results

#### 5.2.1 Timing of somite formation

Explants of posterior primitive streak (PPS) of HH-st.5 GFPtransgenic donor chick embryos soaked in Noggin protein solution for three hours and transplanted together with ten Noggin-beads, at a load concentration of 1.5 µg/ml, when cultured for nine to twelve hours generated "bunches of grapes" of 6-14 experimental somites. By filming these PPS explants (which are GFP-positive) using timelapse fluorescence microscopy, the formation of experimental somites could be visualized and the timing of somite formation was addressed. Representative images of screenshots of a time-lapse movie capturing this process are shown in Figure 5.1. In the case presented, after ten hours of culture, seven somites formed simultaneously from the explant (Figure 5.1, D). A total number of eight somites formed from the explant within a period of two hours (Figure 5.1, D-E), between ten and twelve hours after transplant of the PPS explant with the Noggin-beads.

Additionally, to directly compare the timing of experimental and endogenous somite formation, the number of somites formed was counted at ten minutes intervals in the axis of a control chick embryo

and from a PPS explant using time-lapse imaging and the numbers plotted together in Graph 5.1. The embryos were imaged for twelve hours subsequently to the formation of the first somite, which is taken as t=0.00. The timing of experimental and endogenous somite formation is clearly different (Chart 5.1, A and B; Graph 5.1, green and grey, respectively). While the endogenous control somites form from the PSM with a sequential periodicity of approximately ninety minutes (Chart 5.1, B; Graph 5.1, grey), the experimental somite formation does not correlate with this periodicity (Chart 5.1, A; Graph 5.1, green). Experimental somites do not form sequentially and periodically but rather almost synchronously, six somites formed simultaneously, in the case presented in here (Chart 5.1, A; Graph 5.1, green).



В.



Chart 5.1.

Α.

Chart 5.1. Chart representation of the length of time required to form a new somite based on analysis of time-lapse imaging of somite formation. A. Experimental somite formation. B. Endogenous somite formation.

Time is read clockwise from t=0.00 to t=8:00 (**A**) or t=0.00 to t=12:00 (**B**), at 10 minutes intervals. Concentrical circles represent the number of somites formed ('0' in the middle). **A.** t=0.00: 6 somites form simultaneously. **B.** At t=0:00: the control embryos have 3 pairs of somites. Between t=01:10 and t=12:00 a total of 9 pairs of somites form in approximately 11 hours. The length of time required for a new somite to form is approx. 90 minutes.



Graph 5.1. Experimental vs. endogenous somite formation.

#### Graph 5.1. Experimental vs. endogenous somite formation.

This graph compares the number of somites formed and the timing of their formation in a control embryo (grey) and from a PPS explant (green). The somite counts were done at 10 minutes intervals, measured from time-lapse imaging of somite formation in wild-type chick embryos (grey) and PPS explants (green). T=0:00: first somites to appear. 6 somites form simultaneously from the PPS explant treated with Noggin solution for 3 hours and cultured for 9 hours.

#### 5.2.2 Molecular clock in the experimental somites

Given that somites form almost synchronously, it suggests that experimental somites could form independently from the periodic and cyclic expression of genes of the molecular clock. To further investigate the molecular clock, the expression of the key Notch genes *Hairy1* (Palmeirim et al., 1997), *Hairy2* (Jouve et al., 2000) and *Lunatic Fringe* (Aulehla and Johnson, 1999) was analyzed in the PPS explants prior to somite formation in a time-course, 3h (n=20), 4.15h (n=20), 5.15h (n=20), \*6h (n=18), 6.15h (n=20) and 7.5h (n=20) following Noggin treatment. In this experiment, gene expression was analyzed by *in situ* hybridization and the expression of the genes in the endogenous PSM of the chick host embryo was used as a positive control for the expression in the PPS explant, although the *in situ's* were developed optimally to reveal the expression of molecular clock genes in the cells of the explant.

(\*the 6h time point was done by co-workers and can be found *in* Dias et al., 2014).

In the chick host embryos there were visible variations in the pattern of gene expression in the PSM for the three markers analyzed [Figure 5.3; *Hairy1* (A-E), *Hairy2* (F-J) and *Lunatic Fringe* (K-O)]. These strong variants in gene expression correspond to characteristic phases of the molecular clock (Palmeirim et al. 1997). Comparatively, in the PPS explants, such variations were not observed between time-points [Figure 5.3, insets in A-E (*Hairy1*), F-J (*Hairy2*) and K-O (*Lunatic Fringe*)]. Additionally, when various embryos were analyzed at a same time-point for the expression of a single marker [Appendix 4, Figure A4.1 (3h), A4.2 (4.5h), A4.3 (5.15h), A4.4 (6.45h), A4.5 (7.5h)], the hosts accordingly showed strong variations in gene expression in the PSM between embryos but comparatively the PPS explants do not show significant differences in expression between them.

Altogether, these results suggest that somites can form nonperiodically and in the absence of a ninety minutes cyclic expression of the molecular clock genes. However, the possibility that a molecular clock with a wavelength shorter than forty-five minutes could be operating in the PPS explants treated with Noggin protein prior to experimental somite formation cannot be completely excluded. Nonetheless, this possibility seems unlikely given that strong variations (strong expression vs. no expression) of the expression patterns for the different cycling genes markers in PPS explants were never observed at the different time-points and between several PPS explants at the same time point.



Figure 5.1. Time-lapse imaging of a PPS explant during experimental somite formation.

## Figure 5.1. Time-lapse imaging of a PPS explant during experimental somite formation

(A to F) Representative images of a time-lapse movie of experimental somite formation from a GFP-positive PPS explant. A total of 7 somites form almost simultaneously between 10 and 11 hours after Noggin treatment. (A-A") The posterior primitive streak (PPS) explant from a HH-st.5 GFP-transgenic chick donor embryo (green), previously soaked in Noggin solution for 3 hours and transplanted into a host embryo surrounded by 10 Noggin-beads (for a detailed description of the experimental design see Chapter Three, Figure 3.1). (B-B') PPS explant 02:30 hours after the beginning of imaging. (C-C') PPS explant 08:40 hours after the beginning of imaging. No somites are observed at this point. (D-D") 10:51 hours after the beginning of imaging. 7 somites form simultaneously. White arrowheads indicate the position of each somite. (E-E") 12 hours after the beginning of imaging. 7 somites are observed. (F-F") 15 hours after the beginning of imaging. 8 somites are observed.

A'-F'- magnification of the white box in A-F.

A"-F"- bright field images correspondent to A'-F'.



Figure 5.2. Time-lapse imaging of endogenous somite formation.

# Figure 5.2. Time-lapse imaging of endogenous somite formation.

(A to L) Representative images of a time-lapse movie of endogenous somite formation. The endogenous somites form sequentially at an approximate rate of one pair every 90 minutes. **A.** The wild-type embryo at HH-st.4, at the beginning of image acquisition. **B.** The wild-type embryo at HH-st.6<sup>+</sup>. No somites. Unsegmented paraxial mesoderm visible as two rods on each side of the neural plate. **C.** The first 3 pairs of somites form almost simultaneously. **D-L.** Each frame represents the formation of an extra pair of somites.

**H-L.** For reference, arrowheads always point to the position of the 6<sup>th</sup> somite formed.



Figure 5.3. Experimental somite formation is not accompanied by cyclic expression of molecular clock key genes *Hairy1*, *Hairy2* and *Lunatic Fringe*.

Figure 5.3. Experimental somite formation is not accompanied by cyclic expression of molecular clock key genes *Hairy1*, *Hairy2* and *Lunatic Fringe*.

Experimental design: The posterior primitive streak explant was transplanted together with 8-10 Noggin-beads into the area opaca of an HH-st.5 chick host embryo and incubated for 3h, 4.5h, 5.15h, 6.45h or 7.5h. Embryos were fixed after each time point and the expression of *Hairy1* (B-E), *Hairy2* (F-I) and *LFng* (J-M) was assessed by *in situ* hybridization. Patterns of expression of *Hairy1* (B-E), *Hairy2* (F-I) and *LFng* (J-M) region of the host chick embryo. The expression pattern of the genes is not significantly different in the PPS explant (insets).

# 5.2.3 Experimental somites lack coherent rostrocaudal subdivision

Newly formed somites in the axis are subdivided into molecularly distinctive rostral and caudal halves, a characteristic for which the molecular clock is thought to be required (Takahashi et al., 2003). Since experimental somites form in the absence of the cyclic expression of genes of the segmentation clock, we investigated if the somites were subdivided into normal rostral and caudal halves. The expression of known caudal half markers Hairy1 (Palmeirim et al., 1997), Meso2 (Buchberger et al., 1998), LFng (Aulehla and Johnson, 1999; McGrew et al., 1998), Uncx4.1 (Schragle et al., 2004), and rostral half markers Hairy2 (Jouve et al., 2000) and EphA4 (Schmidt et al., 2001) was analyzed by in situ hybridization. None of these markers presented a compartmentalized rostral or caudal-restricted expression pattern: Hairy1 (0/22), Meso2 (0/22) and EphA4 (0/19) were not expressed (Figure 5.4, A, B, C), LFng (22/24) and Hairy2 (8/8) were weakly expressed throughout the entire somite (Figure 5.4, D and E) and Uncx4.1 (13/19) was randomly expressed in the experimental somites (Figure 5.4, F). These expression patterns suggest that that the experimental somites are not correctly patterned into rostral and caudal halves.

The subdivision into rostral and caudal compartments of the newly formed somites, which subsequently give rise to sclerotome subdivision, is essential for segmentation of components of the peripheral nervous system (Bronner-Fraser et al., 1991; Keynes and Stern, 1984; Rickmann et al., 1985). Neural crest cells that emerge from the dorsal neural tube migrate through the rostral half of the sclerotome and not the caudal half (Bronner-Fraser et al., 1991; Rickmann et al., 1985). The neural crest derivatives, dorsal root ganglia and peripheral projections are restricted to the rostral half (Keynes and Stern 1984). Equally, motor axons enter the sclerotome only in the rostral half but avoid the caudal half (Keynes and Stern, 1984; Rickmann et al., 1985; Stern et al., 1986). We further tested the rostrocaudal subdivision of experimental somites by analyzing the migration of neural crest cells and motor axons through the somites: single GFP-positive experimental somites were isolated and grafted into the cervical region of the axis of normal HH-st.12 embryos in place of an endogenous somite and incubated for two to three days in ovo (Figure 5.5, A, C). At HH-st.22-25, the patterns of migration of neural crest cells and motor axons were analyzed in the experimental somites that incorporated into the axis bv immunohistochemistry using antibodies directed to HNK-1 epitope (IC10) and to neurofilament-associated protein (3A10), respectively and anti-GFP staining. The arrangement of motor nerves (Figure 5.5, C-C"; D-D") and neural crest cell migration (Figure 5.5, A-A"; B-B") were both disturbed. The disturbances included: extra motor roots within the whole grafted somite (Figure 5.5, C', C", arrowheads), the formation of multiple dorsal roots and duplication of ventral roots (Figure 5.5, D, arrowheads). Also, several smaller dorsal root ganglia formed within the whole grafted somite (Figure 5.5, A', A", arrowheads) and the ventral roots were duplicated (Figure 5.5, B, arrowheads). The anomalies suggest that the experimental somites are as a whole permissive for neural crest cells and motor nerve migration and provide additional evidence that the experimental somites are not rostro-caudally subdivided. Altogether, these results suggest that experimental somites lack coherent subdivision into rostral and caudal halves in the absence of the molecular clock, and therefore consistent with the proposal that the molecular clock is necessary for this aspect of segmental pattern (Takahashi et al., 2003).



Figure 5.4. Experimental somites are not subdivided into rostral and caudal halves.

# Figure 5.4. Experimental somites are not subdivided into rostral and caudal halves.

Experimental design: PPS explants were incubated in Noggin protein solution for 3h and transplanted into the area opaca of a HH-st.5 chick embryo surrounded by 10 Noggin-beads. The embryos were cultured for 9 hours, which corresponds to 12 hours of Noggin treatment. (A-F) Expression of caudal half markers, *Hairy1*, *Meso2*, *LFng* and *Uncx4.1*, and rostral half markers *Hairy2 EphA4*, was assessed by *in situ* hybridization. *Hairy1* (A), *Meso2* (B) and *EphA4* (C) are not expressed in the experimental somites. LFng (D) and *Hairy2* (E) are uniformly and weakly expressed and *Uncx4.1* (F) is expressed randomly.



Figure 5.5. Migration paths of neural crest cells and motor axons is abnormal in experimental somites.

### Figure 5.5. Migration paths of neural crest cells and motor axons is abnormal in experimental somites.

To analyze the rostrocaudal patterning of the experimental somites the migration paths of neural crest cells and motor nerves was analyzed in GFP-positive experimental somites grafted in the place of an endogenous somite and incubated for 2-3 days. The embryos were immunostained with IC10 (for HNK-1 epitope of neural crest cells), 3A10 (for neurofilament-associated protein) and anti-GFP. Several smaller dorsal root ganglia formed and the ventral roots were duplicated at the level of the grafted somite (**A-A**", **B**"). Extra motor roots formed, multiple dorsal roots and duplication of ventral roots, at the level of the grafted somite (**C-C**", **D**").

Sections B and D are transverse at the level of the grafted somite.

#### 5.3: Discussion

The formation of somites generated from HH-st.5 posterior primitive streak explants treated with Noggin occurs non-periodically and therefore, the periodicity of experimental somite formation is different from the periodicity of the endogenous somites formation (Chart 5.1, A and B; Graph 5.1, grey and green, respectively). Endogenous somites, caudal to the occipital somites, form with a periodicity of approximately one pair every ninety minutes (Figure 5.2; Chart 5.1, B; Graph 5.1, grey). Given that many experimental somites can form simultaneously (Figure 5.1; Chart 5.1, A; Graph 5.1, green), it suggests that the somites of correct size can form in the absence of the oscillatory expression of genes of the molecular clock and because somites form from PPS explant cells in the extraembryonic area opaca (independently from the PSM) they are also not exposed to a wavefront of maturation, raising the possibility that there could be an additional unknown mechanism controlling initial somite formation. To investigate the molecular clock in the PPS explant cells that generate the experimental somites, we analyzed the expression of the key molecular clock genes *Hairy1* (Palmeirim et al., 1997), Hairy2 (Jouve et al., 2000) and Lfng (Aulehla and Johnson, 1999) in a time course experiment at several time-points at forty-five minutes

intervals, prior to somite formation and following treatment with Noggin protein. While the host exhibited different characteristic expression patterns representative of different phases of the molecular clock (Figure 5.3, A-O), by comparison the PPS explants presented only subtle variations in expression (Figure 5.3, insets in A-O) and not compatible (do not correlate) with the arrangement of experimental somites that later are generated from the explant. Furthermore and importantly, when several embryos were analyzed at the same time-point for the expression of any of the markers Hairy1, Hairy2 and LFng (Appendix 4; Figures A4.1- 3h, A4.2- 4.5h, A4.3- 5.15h, A4.4- 6.45h, A4.5- 7.5h) the variations in expression patterns of the molecular genes were apparent in the host embryos but in the PPS explants the expression of the markers was comparatively uniform. Given that the PPS explant is first soaked in Noggin protein for two hours prior to transplant, we can not tell whether there is cyclic expression of genes during those first two hours of Noggin treatment prior to transplant into the host chick area opaca. However, the cells could only experience a maximum of two expression cycles prior to the beginning of our analysis at three hours after first exposure to Noggin, rather than the twelve cycles of cyclic expression that the cells experience in the PSM of the normal embryo before forming an endogenous somite (Palmeirim et al.,
1997). In addition, further experimental evidence provided by analysis of *Dapper1* and *Dapper2* expression (Dias et al., 2014), which are markers for PSM and formed somites, respectively (Alvares et al. 2009), are consistent with the results presented in this thesis and suggest that the formation of experimental somites is not prefigured by a "presomitic mesoderm-like" state. *Dapper1* is not expressed prior to (or after) somite formation and *Dapper2* is only expressed when the somites form (Dias et al., 2014). These results suggest that the experimental somites of normal size and morphology that form simultaneously, form independently of the "segmentation clock".

A feature of somite formation that is thought to be controlled by the segmentation clock is the patterning of the somites into rostral and caudal halves (Stern and Keynes, 1987). Since the ninety minutes molecular clock does not operate in the PPS explant cells that generate the experimental somites we investigated whether the somites presented a normal rostrocaudal patterning in the absence of such clock. We analyzed the expression of known caudal half markers and rostral half markers and as a further test for patterning we analyzed the migrations paths of neural crest cells and motor axons, which are known to migrate only through the rostral half of the

somites, in experimental somites that had been grafted in to a secondary host in place of an endogenous somite. All the rostral and caudal markers show different patterns of expression after formation of the experimental somites, Hairy1, Meso2 and EphA4 are not expressed, Uncx4.1 is expressed randomly and LFng and Hairy2 are expressed uniformly (Figures 5.4, A-F). Therefore, there is no indication of somite rotrocaudal polarity because there is no part of the somites that presents a pattern of expression coherent with the identity of a rostral or caudal half. Moreover, the boundaries between experimental somites are random since the somites form in a threedimensional arrangement unlike in the normal embryo where boundary formation correlates with the apposition of rostral and caudal half identities (Stern and Keynes, 1987). In the experimental somites boundaries between adjacent somites are never accompanied by opposite R/C gene expression patterns. Also, there is no clear migration of neural crest cells and motor axons through a preferred half of an experimental somite grafted into a secondary host, a result which is further evidence of the lack of rostral-caudal polarity of the somites.

In summary, the synchronous formation of normal somites from PPS explants treated with Noggin in the absence of a molecular clock is

strong evidence that the initial formation of somites and size specification occurs independently of the segmentation clock. The experimental somites allow us to effectively separate the aspects of size specification from the timing of somite formation, which in the normal embryo are coincident events. Although somites of correct size form in the absence of the molecular clock, the experimental somites form simultaneously and without a normal rostrocaudal subdivision, which suggests that one of the functions of the molecular clock in the normal embryo might be to control these two aspects of somite formation, alongside the initial formation of epithelial somites. Therefore, these observations raise the possibility that in the normal embryo the principal function of the segmentation clock could be to impart rostral-caudal patterning and regulate the timing of, a currently not fully understood, self organizing program of somite formation in the PSM cells.

# Chapter Six: Do ectopic somites have an axial identity?

## 6.1: Introduction

In the embryo the formation of the occipital somites, the most rostral four-five somites, does not follow a strict order and occurs almost simultaneously (Chapter Five, Figure 5.2; Hamburger and Hamilton, 1951; Hamilton and Hinsch, 1956; Huang et al., 1997). The first somite that forms is actually the second somite of the series, and it has clear rostral and caudal boundaries and subsequently, rostral to it, the most rostral somite of the series forms, smaller and with no defined rostral boundary, shortly followed by the formation of the third and fourth somite (Hamburger and Hamilton, 1951). The first (most rostral) somite forms caudally to the otic placode and is connected with the paraxial head mesoderm (Hamilton and Hinsch, 1956; Huang et al., 1997). Studies of fate map of avian somites have shown that the most rostral four somites and the rostral half of the fifth somite also differ from most caudal somites because they do not give rise to vertebrae but rather, contribute to the occipital bone (exooccipital and basi-occipital) of the base of the skull and contribute to the otic (Lim et al., 1987) capsule (Couly et al., 1993). It has also

been shown that sensory ganglia do not develop in these somites (Le Douarin et al., 1992; Lim et al., 1987; Teillet et al., 1987) instead, the XII cranial nerve and Froriep's ganglion develop in these somites (Lim et al., 1987). In addition, occipital somites lack expression of some rostral/caudal markers: the first three somites never show expression of *Hairy1*, *Hairy2* or *LFng*, which are key molecular clock genes (Rodrigues et al., 2006).

Given that occipital somites form almost simultaneously in the normal embryo and show molecular differences compared with the other more caudal somites (Alev et al., 2010; Lim et al., 1987; Rodrigues et al., 2006), one might reason that the experimental somites formed from PPS explants treated with Noggin (that also form simultaneously), could have an occipital somite identity. Therefore, to investigate the axial identity of the generated somites, we examined the expression of Hox genes in the experimental somites (Burke et al., 1995; Gaunt, 1994). In the embryo, although the somites of different axial levels in general resemble one another, there are regional differences that constitute the specific rostral-caudal regional patterns of the vertebral column (cervical, thoracic, lumbar, sacral and caudal). These regionalizations can also be visualized by specific patterns of Hox gene expression (Kessel and Gruss, 1991),

which have been termed the "*Hox* code". For instance, *Hoxb-3* is expressed caudal to the caudal half of somite five with an increased level of expression between somite five and seven (Gaunt, 1994) and *Hoxb-4* is expressed caudally to somite seven (Burke et al., 1995), making these good markers of the rostral cervical somites. *Hoxb-6* is expressed caudally to somite fifteen (Gaunt and Strachan, 1996) and *Hoxb-9* is expressed caudally to somite twenty-six, at the level of the rostral lumbar region (Burke et al., 1995), therefore these genes can be used as markers of the thoracic and lumbar somites, respectively.

## 6.2: Results

To ask whether experimental somites, that form from PPStreated with Noggin, have an axial identity and to address the hypothesis that they could be occipital somites, we examined expression of the *Hox* genes *Hoxb-3*, *Hoxb-4*, *Hoxb-6* and *Hoxb-9* (Figure 6.1, D; H; L; P). PPS explants excised from an HH-st.5 chick donor embryo were incubated in Noggin solution (1.5  $\mu$ g/ml) for three hours and then transplanted together with eight to ten Noggin beads into the extraembryonic area opaca of an HH-st.5 chick host embryo. After twelve hours of incubation in modified New culture (New, 1955; Stern

and Ireland, 1981), the PPS explant generated experimental somites arranged as a "bunch of grapes", independently from the main axis and the expression of the *Hox* genes (above) was analyzed by whole mount *in situ* hybridization (Experimental design, Figure 6.1, A) with the expression pattern of the *Hox* genes in the host chick embryos acting as positive control for the expression in the experimental somites (Figure 6.1, D; H; L; P; insets).

*Hoxb-3* and *Hoxb-4* were both expressed in the experimental somites (Figure 6.1, D; H, insets) suggesting that the experimental somites do not have an occipital identity. *Hoxb-6* and *Hoxb-9* were not expressed in the generated somites (Figure 6.1, L; P, insets), but in the embryo these are normally expressed in thoracic and lumbar somites, respectively. These results suggest that the experimental somites have an axial identity of cervical somites (somites eight to fourteen).

Experimental somites are not like occipital somites and their identity corresponds to the *Hox* genes expressed in the posterior primitive streak (PPS) at the time of transplant.

The region of PPS of HH-st5 chick donor embryos which is used to explant, also initially expresses the same complement of *Hox* genes

as observed in the experimental somites generated from it; *Hoxb-3* and *Hoxb-4* are expressed (Figure 6.1; C and G, respectively) while *Hoxb-6* and *Hoxb-9* are not expressed (Figure 6.1; K and O, respectively). We observed that the expression pattern of the *Hox* genes in the PPS of the chick embryo at the later developmental stage of HH-st.8 changes: *Hoxb-6* and *Hoxb-9* are now expressed unlike at HH-st.5 (Figure 6.1, M and Q, respectively) while *Hoxb-3* and *Hoxb-4* continue to be expressed in HH-st.8 PPS (Figure 6.1, E and I, respectively). Thus, we investigated whether experimental somites generated from PPS explants from an older donor chick embryo, at HH-st.8, would also express similar *Hox* genes to the streak – does the axial identity of the experimental somites?

PPS explants excised from a HH-st.8 chick donor embryo were incubated in Noggin solution (1.5  $\mu$ g/ml) for three hours and then transplanted together with eight to ten Noggin beads into the extraembryonic area opaca of an HH-st.5 chick host embryo. After twelve hours of incubation in modified New culture, the PPS explant generated experimental somites arranged as a "bunch of grapes", independently from the main axis and the expression of the *Hox* genes was analyzed by whole mount *in situ* hybridization

(Experimental design, Figure 6.1, B). In contrast to the experimental somites generated from HH-st.5 donor tissue, the somites generated from HH-st.8 expressed *Hoxb-3*, *Hoxb-4*, as well as *Hoxb-6* and *Hoxb-9* (Figure 6.1, F; J; N; R, insets), correlating with the expression of these markers in the HH-st.8 donor streak tissue. This suggests that the axial identity of the somites that form from the posterior primitive streak is specified according to the *Hox* genes that are expressed in the streak at the time of transplant.



Figure 6.1. Ectopic somites have axial identity of cervical somites and express *Hox* genes as the streak at the time of transplant.

Figure 6.1. Ectopic somites have axial identity of cervical somites and express *Hox* genes as the streak at the time of transplant.

**A.** Experimental design. PPS explants excised from a HH-st.5 chick donor embryo were incubated in Noggin solution (1.5 µg/ml) for 3 hours, then transplanted together with 8-10 Noggin beads into the extraembryonic area opaca of an HH-st.5 chick host embryo and further incubated for 12 hours in modified New culture. B. Experimental design. PPS explants excised from a HH-st.8 chick donor embryo were incubated in Noggin solution (1.5 µg/ml) for 3 hours, then transplanted together with 8-10 Noggin beads into the extraembryonic area opaca of an HH-st.5 chick host embryo and further incubated for 12 hours in modified New culture. C; G; K; O. Expression of Hoxb-3, Hoxb-4, Hoxb-6 and Hoxb-9, respectively, in the primitive streak of HH-st.5 chick donor embryo. E; I; M; Q. Expression of Hoxb-3, Hoxb-4, Hox-b6 and Hoxb-9, respectively, in the primitive streak of HH-st.8 chick donor embryo. **D and H.** Hoxb-3 and Hoxb-4, respectively, are expressed in the experimental somites (insets) generated from PPS explants from an HH-st.5 donor chick embryo (10/10). L and P. Hoxb-6 and Hoxb-9, respectively, are not expressed in the experimental somites generated from PPS explants from an HH-st.5 donor chick embryo (8/8). E and I. Hoxb-3 and Hoxb-4, respectively, are expressed in the experimental somites (insets) generated from PPS explants from an HH-st.8 donor chick embryo (8/8). N and R. Hoxb-6 and Hoxb-9, respectively, are expressed in the experimental somites generated from PPS explants from an HH-st.8 donor chick embryo (4/4).

## 6.3: Discussion

Somites that form from PPS explants treated with Noggin protein are normal somites based on expression of marker genes, morphology and fate (Chapters Four, Five). Given that these somites also form in the absence of oscillatory expression of molecular clock genes and temporal sequence this posed the question of whether the experimental somites, which share some characteristics with the most anterior somites, could have an axial identity of occipital somites?

Occipital somites do not form in the same orderly fashion as the most posterior trunk somites (Chapter Five, Figure 5.2; Hamburger and Hamilton, 1951; Hamilton and Hinsch, 1956; Huang et al., 1997). Hence, at least for the first four to five somites in the normal embryo, somitogenesis does not obey a strict temporal order. In addition, cyclic gene expression of the molecular clock genes *Hairy1* (Palmeirim et al., 1997), *Hairy2* (Jouve et al., 2000) and *LFng* (Aulehla and Johnson, 1999; McGrew et al., 1998) is not observed at the level of the occipital somites (Rodrigues et al., 2006). Therefore, these somites do not show somitic rostral/caudal polarized gene expression of these molecular clock genes and the boundaries

between them to not correspond to confrontations between rostral and caudal halves states of expression of these genes, which are not expressed at all (Rodrigues et al., 2006). Moreover, mutants of components of the Notch signaling pathway in mice (Barrantes et al., 1999; de la Pompa et al., 1997; Feller et al., 2008; Ferjentsik et al., 2009; Oka et al., 1995) and zebrafish (Henry et al., 2002; Oates and Ho, 2002; Oates et al., 2005) present different somitic phenotypes but the most rostral somites appear to be less affected. Although the mechanism of occipital somite formation is not subject of the research presented in this thesis, the formation of these somites is interesting evidence supporting the existence of an alternative mechanism to the "clock and wavefront" operating in the rostral most cells that generate the occipital somites.

However, despite the fact that experimental somites form almost simultaneously like occipital somites, an analysis of the expression of *Hox* genes (Figure 6.1, D, H, L, P, insets) suggests that these experimental somites are not occipital, and in fact have a cervical somite identity. Since these somites acquire an axial identity and form in the absence of a segmentation clock it supports the view that: firstly, normal (non-occipital, trunk) somites can form simultaneously in the absence of the segmentation clock, with correct size,

morphology and ability to generate normal somite derivatives; and secondly, axial identity could also be specified independently of the segmentation clock (Schroter and Oates, 2010). The identity of the experimental somites corresponds to the *Hox* genes that are expressed in the streak at the time of excision of the PPS explant (Figure 6.1) as *Hoxb3* and *Hoxb4* are expressed in the posterior primitive streak at both stages (Figure 6.1, C, G, E, I) while *Hoxb6* and *Hoxb9* are expressed only at HH-st.8 (Figure 6.1, M, Q) with the experimental somites generated from both stages following suit (Figure 6.1, D, H, F, J, insets).

These results provide further evidence that in the normal embryo that the *Hox* code present in the streak prior to somite formation is what controls their ultimate axial identity, as has previously been suggested by limura and Pourquie (2006), who suggest that the *Hox* code is fixed in cells prior to ingression in the streak (limura and Pourquie, 2006). Thus, it is the patterning of the streak that could ultimately control somite axial identity. However it must be noted there is also a population of self-renewing somite progenitors in the lateral quarter of the node that can progressively give rise to daughter cells that leave the node and give rise to the medial half of somites (Selleck and Stern, 1991). The axial identity of these cells

has been suggested to be controlled by the age of the cells, or length of time spent in the primitive streak or the length time in the PSM (Gaunt, 1994; Gaunt and Strachan, 1996).

In summary, the fact that experimental somites form simultaneously cannot be explained by the fact that they are occipital-like, rather they have a trunk axial identity, which is matched by the *Hox* code expressed in the primitive streak at the time of transplant. These results support the conclusion that true somites (that have been suggested to require the segmentation clock to control size, pattern and identity) can form correctly and acquire an axial identity in the absence of the segmentation clock (Schroter and Oates, 2010) and secondly that axial identity of somites in the axis may be controlled during patterning of the presomitic mesodermal progenitors in the primitive streak.

# **Chapter Seven: General Discussion**

Somitogenesis is the process of periodic formation of sequential pairs of somites along the rostral-caudal axis of the vertebrate embryo and is an evident example of the process of segmental patterning during embryogenesis. Somite formation is an intricate process which encompasses PSM cell rearrangements, cell epithelialization, fissure formation, segment boundary formation and somite sub-compartment specification (Lash et al., 1984; Christ and Ordahl, 1995; Keynes and Stern, 1988; Christ et al., 1972; Gossler and Hrabe de Angelis, 1998; Packard, 1976; Christ et al., 1974; Menkes, 1977; Beloussov and Naumidi, 1983; Marcelle et al., 2002; Revel et al., 1973; Duband et al., 1987; Takahashi and Sato, 2008). Overall, the process of somitogenesis encompasses several aspects such as a specific timing (the rate of somite formation), somite size specification (the number of cells that segment together) and patterning (the rostrocaudal subdivision of somites) (Lash et al., 1984; Christ and Ordahl, 1995; Keynes and Stern, 1988; Christ et al., 1972; Gossler and Hrabe de Angelis, 1998; Del Amo et al., 1992; Hrabe de Angelis et al., 1997; Jen et al., 1997; del Barco Barrantes et al., 1999; Saga and Takeda, 2001). It has been challenging to experimentally separate the different aspects of somite formation

since these are tightly integrated and also happen in concert with maturation of the PSM and with rostral-caudal body axis extension in the developing embryo, which has made it difficult to determine whether there is one prevailing mechanism governing the specification of all aspects of somite formation, or whether there are several mechanisms working in parallel to individually regulate each aspect.

### 7.1 Prevailing model of somitogenesis and incongruent data

The model that has been favoured for explaining somitogenesis is the Clock and Wavefront model (Cooke and Zeeman, 1976). This model proposes the existence a *cellular oscillator* or "clock" operating in the cells of the PSM, which would periodically interact with a "wavefront" dependent on a gradient of *positional information* along the rostral-caudal axis of the embryo (Cooke and Zeeman, 1976; Slack, 1991). This interaction would set the time at which groups of cells in the PSM segment together to form somites, dictating the periodic pattern of formation of somites and boundary positions at which point cells become committed to a rostral or caudal compartment of the somite (Introduction, Figure 1.2). According to this model, the number of cells that segment together to form a frequency of the segmentation "clock" and on the velocity of the "wavefront" progression along the PSM (Cooke and Zeeman, 1976). The finding of genes which are expressed in a periodic fashion in the PSM, with a frequency that generally coincides with the rate of somite formation, provides evidence for the existence a "clock" acting within the cells of the PSM (Palmeirim et al., 1997; Forsberg et al., 1998; McGrew et al., 1998; Leimeister et al., 2000; Sawada et al., 2000; Holley et al., 2000; Jouve et al., 2000). Expression of these genes starts in a broad area at the caudal region of the PSM, moving rostrally until it narrows into a stationary band in the rostral or caudal half of the newly forming somite (Introduction, Figure 1.2). This periodic expression is not due to cell movements and is considered to be the result of a cell-intrinsic "segmentation clock" operating in the PSM cells (Palmeirim et al., 1997; Dale and Pourguie, 2000). This is the case for the oscillatory expression of c-hairy-1 (Palmeirim et al., 1997) and other subsequently described Notch signaling related genes (Aulehla and Johnson, 1999; Forsberg et al., 1998; Jiang et al., 2000; McGrew et al., 1998; Bessho et al., 2001; Dequeant et al., 2006, Jouve et al., 2000; Leimeister et al., 1999; Leimeister et al., 2000; Holley et al., 2000; Jiang et al., 2000; Oates and Ho, 2002; Sawada et al., 2000; Elmasri et al., 2004; Li et al., 2003). Additionally, Dubrulle and co-workers described a gradient of

FGF8 in the caudal part of the embryo as a result of translation of a gradient of fgf8 mRNA (fgf8 mRNA transcription is limited to the caudal end of the embryo and it is gradually degraded in the forming tissues generating the gradient of fgf8 mRNA), high in the caudal region and low in the rostral region of the PSM where segmentation takes place (Dubrulle et al., 2001; Dubrulle and Pourguie, 2004), and separated by a border subsequently defined as a *determination front* (Dubrulle et al., 2001; Dubrulle and Pourguie, 2004). It was proposed that this gradient of FGF8 signalling and related threshold of FGF8 at the level of the determination front could provide a physical basis for the "wavefront" of the Clock and Wavefront model (Dubrulle et al., 2001; Dubrulle and Pourquie, 2004). Experimental correspondence for "clock" dependent genes and a rostral-caudal gradient of FGF8 able to correspond to a moving 'wavefront' of determination operating within the PSM, have led the field to generally favour the Clock and Wavefront model for explaining somite formation. However, the Clock and Wavefront model does not account for several important observations and experimental data (Hamburger and Hamilton, 1951; Hamilton and Hinsch, 1956; Lim et al., 1987; Oka et al., 1995; Conlon et al., 1995; Huang et al., 1997; Shen et al., 1997; Wong et al., 1997; Evrard et al., 1998; Zhang and Gridley, 1998; Sawada et al., 2000; Dunwoodie et al., 2002; Zhang et al.,

2002; Nomura-Kitabayashi et al., 2002; Takahashi et al., 2003; Rodrigues et al., 2006; Feller et al., 2008; Dias et al., 2014). Firstly, in mutants of the Notch signaling pathway genes *Notch1*, the Notch ligand Delta-like 3, the activated Notch protease presenilin and the Notch effector RBPJk, despite showing disruptions in segmentation and in rostral-caudal patterning of the somites, these somites form first, and only subsequently degenerate (Oka et al., 1995; Conlon et al., 1995; Shen et al., 1997; Wong et al., 1997; Evrard et al., 1998; Zhang and Gridley, 1998; Dunwoodie et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2002; Takahashi et al., 2003). Moreover, zebrafish mutants of the Mesp genes, which interact with the Notch signaling pathway, show disrupted rostral-caudal subdivision of the somites but, again, no effect on the initial formation of the somites (Sawada et al., 2000). Additionally, it has been described that the occipital somites (fivemost rostral somites) form with a different periodicity compared with more caudal somites (Hamburger and Hamilton, 1951; Hamilton and Hinsch, 1956; Huang et al., 1997; Dias et al., 2014), form in the absence of the oscillatory expression of genes of the segmentation clock (Rodrigues et al., 2006) and have different rostral-caudal patterning compared to more caudal somites (Lim et al., 1987). These observations are not consistent with the Clock and Wavefront model for somite formation and suggest that a distinct mechanism

must be accountable for allocating the PSM cells to form each occipital somite. Furthermore, it is also important to note that studies in transgenic mice expressing activated Notch (NICD) throughout the PSM in which up to eighteen unpatterned somites form, have shown that somite (segment) formation and somite rostral-caudal patterning can be uncoupled, and that cyclic expression of Notch might be mainly required for the correct rostral-caudal patterning of the somites rather than required for segment border formation (Feller et al., 2008). Similarly, studies in mutant mespb (zebrafish functional homologue of mouse Mesp2) knockin mice embryos have shown that epithelial somites can form without rostral-caudal polarity, suggesting that segment formation and establishment of rostralcaudal polarity may also be genetically separate events (Nomura-Kitabayashi et al., 2002). In the light of the above data, it is possible that a segmentation clock operating in the PSM could be dispensable for the initial allocation of cells to individual somites and rather required for coordination of other aspects of somitogenesis, as is somite patterning into correct rostral and caudal compartments. Furthermore, contrasting with the Clock and Wavefront model (Cooke and Zeeman, 1976), alternative models for somite formation have been proposed, namely the Cell Cycle model (Primmett et al., 1989; Stern et al., 1988; Collier et al., 2000) which postulates that

somitogenesis and the initial allocation of PSM cells into discrete somites could be coordinated in a cell-autonomous manner by the cell cycle, based on the discovery of cell cycle synchrony of the PSM cells (Primmett et al., 1989; Stern et al., 1988; Collier et al., 2000). In brief, this model proposes the existence of a time window in the cell cycle of the PSM cells during which cells of similar maturity turn on cell adhesion genes which would, one cycle later, trigger the adhesiveness of sub-sets of PSM cells and segregate to form a segment (somite) (Primmett et al., 1989; Stern et al., 1988; Collier et al., 2000; Introduction, 1.5.3 Cell cycle model for somitogenesis).

#### 7.2 The aims of this study

The study presented in this thesis took advantage of an experimental paradigm that allowed us to separate the aspect of somite size specification from the timing of somite formation, which in the embryo are coincident events. Evenly exposing posterior primitive streak (PPS) explants (prospective lateral plate mesoderm) with the BMP4 antagonist, Noggin, generates experimental somites equivalent to axial endogenous somites in terms of size, morphology, function, fate and expression of somitic markers, that form synchronously in the absence of a clock but lack patterning into rostral and caudal halves. This suggests that the main function of the molecular clock operating

in the PSM cells that generate somites might be distinctive for the different aspects of somitogenesis and suggests that it could be mainly required for patterning of the somites coupling it with the other aspects of somitogenesis.

The main aims of this study were to

- Optimize an *ex vivo* method to generate experimental somites.
- Characterize the experimentally generated somites in terms of size, morphology, expression of somitic markers and potential to give rise to derivatives if placed in the right environment.
- Investigate the timing of experimental somite formation and whether their formation is prefigured by periodic expression of the "cycling genes".
- Analyze the rostrocaudal patterning of the experimental somites (by examining the expression of known rostral- and caudal- half markers and the migration paths of neural crest cells and motor axons).
- Investigate the axial identity of the generated somites.

Firstly, the experimental somites were morphologically and functionally characterized and compared with axial endogenous somites. Thus, the properties of size, morphology, the expression of somite-specific genes and the ability to generate normal somite derivatives if put in the place of an endogenous somite were analyzed. The experimental somites present a normal size compared with endogenous epithelial somites (Appendix 3, Table A3.1, Table A3.2 and Graft A3.1). Somite volumes were calculated based on measurements of endogenous and ectopic somite diameters from living embryos: 538323.29±209331.01 µm<sup>3</sup> for experimental somites and 516783.49±221438.37 µm<sup>3</sup> for endogenous epithelial somites SI, SII, SIII, SIV (t-test P=0.844 indicative of no significant difference) (Appendix 3, Table A3.1, Table A3.2 and Graft A3.1). The experimental somites express the somite marker Paraxis (Figure 4.1, E, E') and also present a normal morphology when compared with endogenous epithelial somites, comprising cells forming a three dimensional epithelial segment that has a basal surface on the outside and a lumen in the centre: they express N-cadherin and a Fibronectin-rich basal lamina (Figure 4.1, G, H). Subsequent analysis using multi-photon confocal imaging of the experimentally generated somites done by co-workers (Dias et al., 2014) has now also clearly shown the expression of N-cadherin and Fibronectin in the experimental somites (Dias et al., 2014). Furthermore, the experimental somites can also give rise to late somite derivatives: when an individual ectopic somite was transplanted in the place of an

axial endogenous somite (Figure 4.2, A), it incorporates well in the axis of the host (Figure 4.2, B, B', B", C, C', C") and expresses the sclerotome marker *Pax1* (Figure 4.2, E, E') and the dermomyotome marker *MyoD* (Figure 4.2, D, D').

Secondly, the formation of the somites derived from PPS explants treated with Noggin does not occur at regular time periods as shown by time-lapse imaging of the formation of the experimental somites using time-lapse fluorescence microscopy (Chart 5.1, B; Graph 5.1, green; Figure 5.1) and their formation is not accompanied by the cyclic expression of the 'segmentation clock' genes in the PPS explant cells (Appendix 4, Figure A4.1-A4.5). The key components of the clock Hairy1, Hairy2 and Lunatic Fringe show approximately the same pattern of expression for all the times points analyzed prior to ectopic somite formation (Figure 5.3; Appendix 4, Figure A4.1-A4.5). However, in the absence of the cyclic expression of key segmentation clock genes, the experimental somites fail to become normally patterned into rostral and caudal halves, suggesting that the molecular clock is required for normal rostral/caudal patterning, which has previously been suggested in other studies (Takahashi et al., 2003). The markers of the somite caudal-half Hairy1 and Meso2 are not expressed in the experimental somites (Figure 5.4, A, B),

Lunatic Fringe is expressed weakly and uniformly (Figure 5.4, D) and Uncx4.1 is expressed in a random fashion (Figure 5.4, F). The somite rostral-half marker EphA4 is not expressed in the experimental somites (Figure 5.4, C) and Hairy2 is expressed uniformly (Figure 5.4, E). Correspondingly, the migration of neural crest cells and motor axons through the experimental somites was observed to be affected (Figure 5.5, A, A' and C, C"). Normally these populations of cells migrate through the rostral half of the somite and are inhibited to migrate through the caudal half (Bronner-Fraser et al., 1991; Keynes and Stern, 1984; Rickmann et al., 1985; Stern et al., 1986). After transplanting an experimental somite into the axis of a host embryo in the place of an epithelial endogenous somite and let it incorporate, the migration of neural crest cells and motor axons was analyzed and both these cells populations do not migrate through a preferred route within the experimental somite which is indicative of disrupted rostral/caudal correct patterning (Figure 5.5, A', A" and C', C").

It was already known that during somitogenesis in normal embryonic development, the occipital somites (five-most rostral somites) form with a different periodicity compared with more caudal somites (Chapter Five, Figure 5.2; Hamburger and Hamilton, 1951; Hamilton

and Hinsch, 1956; Huang et al., 1997; Dias et al., 2014), form in the absence of the oscillatory expression of genes of the segmentation clock (Rodrigues et al., 2006) and have different rostral-caudal patterning compared to more caudal somites, lacking expression of some of the rostral/caudal markers (Lim et al., 1987; Rodrigues et al., 2006). Consequently, in this study it was therefore investigated whether the experimental somites acquire an axial identity of occipital somites. An analysis of Hox gene markers suggested that, despite the fact that experimental somites form almost simultaneously like occipital somites, the experimental somites are in fact not occipital, but rather have the axial identity of cervical somites (Figure 6.1, D, H, L, P, insets). Given that the experimental somites acquire an axial identity and form in the absence of a segmentation clock it supports the view that: firstly, normal (non-occipital) somites can form simultaneously in the absence of the segmentation clock, with correct size, morphology and ability to generate somite late derivatives; and secondly, axial identity could also be specified independently of the segmentation clock (Schroter and Oates, 2010). Moreover, the PPS explant from an HHst.5 embryo used as donor tissue expressed the same set of genes as the experimental somites: Hoxb-3 and Hoxb-4 but not Hoxb-6 or Hoxb-9 (Figure 6.1, C, G, K, O). Hox-b6 and Hoxb-9 only start to be expressed in the streak later at HHst.8 (Figure 6.1, M, Q). Likewise, experimental somites generated from a PPS explant from an HH-st.8 embryo, not only express *Hoxb-3* and Hox*b-4* but also Hox*b-6* and Hox*b-9* (Figure 6.1, F, J, N, R, insets). In summary, the axial identity of the experimental somites corresponds to the *Hox* genes that are expressed in the streak at the time of excision of the PPS explant. These results provide further evidence that, in the normal embryo, the *Hox* code present in the streak prior to somite formation is what controls their ultimate axial identity, as has previously been suggested by limura and Pourquie (2006), who suggest that the *Hox* code is fixed in cells prior to ingression in the streak (limura and Pourquie, 2006). Thus, it is the patterning of the streak that could ultimately control somite axial identity.

### 7.3 Final remarks and future directions

The results of this study suggest that bona-fide somites of normal size, morphology and fate can form in the absence of a 'segmentation clock'. One aspect lacking in these experimental somites is their correct rostral-caudal subdivision, raising the possibility that the main requirement of the 'segmentation clock' could be to couple the specification of correct somite patterning with somite formation (by a still unknown mechanism). Additionally, the

results of this study suggest that somite formation can be uncoupled from long-range molecular gradients operating in the rostral-caudal axis, since the three-dimensional arrangement and non-periodic formation of the experimental somites is not compatible with it. A recently developed model to explain somite patterning, the Progressive Oscillatory Reaction-Diffusion model (PORD) (Cotterell, 2015) further corroborates this idea since this tested model proposes that somite formation and size regulation, unlike in the Clock and Wavefront model for somitogenesis, can be driven by short-range interactions rather than global positional information (Cotterell, 2015). Furthermore, it has also previously been suggested that the control of how many cells segment together to form a somite could also involve local cell-cell interactions (Stern and Bellairs, 1984). As the cells undergo MET, intrinsic properties of the cells as are cell-cell adhesion, the limits of cell size and the limitations on cell packing (mechanical forces and requirements for correct cell-cell tightjunction formation) during their formation into epithelial spheres with a central lumen, could explain how the experimentally generated somites form with the correct number of cells in the absence of the normal environmental cues. Indeed, there is additional experimental evidence that suggests that somites are self-organizing structures (Stern and Bellairs, 1984) controlled by cell interactions of adhesion

and "packing constraints" of cells undergoing MET (Nakaya et al., 2004). What exactly controls this intrinsic self-organizing mechanism is still not clear, and how it may be coordinated with the 'segmentation clock' to control the patterning of the somites is also unknown. Further detailed molecular analysis of experimentally generated somites could be a useful system for investigating the series of events that govern somite formation. Finally, the results of the present study raise the possibility that the inhibition of BMP by Noggin could mark the set off for epithelialization of groups of cells in the rostral PSM to form a somite. This possibility is consistent with previous findings showing that Noggin-null mice lack normal somites (McMahon et al., 1998). Furthermore, this work also suggests that BMP inhibition may serve to fix the axial identity of the cells in the PSM, prior to somite formation. One plausible possibility could be that inhibition of BMP by Noggin, or the cells leaving the primitive streak, could arrest their molecular clock thereby controlling the expression of Hox genes in the somites, which may happen in the embryo when the presomitic cells leave the primitive streak and become positioned next to the notochord where BMP is inhibited by secreted Noggin.

In conclusion, the work herein suggests that it is possible to separate the aspect of somite size specification from the timing of somite formation and from the segmentation clock. While the function of the clock might be to coordinate rostral-caudal patterning of somite progressively along the axis during development, somite size could be controlled by an alternative mechanism, for example involving local cell-cell interactions.

# References

Affolter, M., Schier, A., and Gehring, W. J. (1990), 'Homeodomain proteins and the regulation of gene expression', Curr Opin Cell Biol, 2 (3), 485-95.

Akam, M. (1989), 'Hox and HOM: homologous gene clusters in insects and vertebrates', Cell, 57 (3), 347-9.

Alev, C., Wu, Y., Kasukawa, T., Jakt, L. M., Ueda, H. R. and Sheng, G. (2010), 'Transcriptomic landscape of the primitive streak', Development, 137 (17), 2863-74.

Alvares, L. E., Winterbottom, F. L., Jorge, E.C., Rodrigues Sobreira, D., Xavier-Neto, J., Schubert, F.R. and Dietrich, S. (2009), 'Chicken dapper genes are versatile markers for mesodermal tissues, embryonic muscle stem cells, neural crest cells, and neurogenic placodes', Dev Dyn, 238 (5), 1166-78.

Andrade, R. P., Palmeirim, I. and Bajanca, F. (2007), 'Molecular clocks underlying vertebrate embryo segmentation: A 10-year-old hairy-go-round', Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today, 81 (2), 65-83.

Andrade, R. P., Pascoal, S., and Palmeirim, I. (2005), 'Thinking clockwise', Brain Res Brain Res Rev, 49 (2), 114-9.

Aoyama, H. (1993), 'Developmental plasticity of the prospective sermatotome and the prospective sclerotome region of an avian somite', Dev Growth Differ, 35, 501-19.

Aoyama, H. and Asamoto, K. (1988), 'Determination of somite cells: independence of cell differentiation and morphogenesis', Development, 104 (1), 15-28.

Aulehla, A., Pourquie, O. (2010), 'Signaling gradients during paraxial mesoderm development', Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 2 (2), a000869.

Aulehla, A. and Herrmann, B. G. (2004), 'Segmentation in vertebrates: clock and gradient finally joined', Genes Dev, 18 (17), 2060-7.

Aulehla, A. and Johnson, R. L. (1999), 'Dynamic expression of lunatic fringe suggests a link between notch signaling and an autonomous cellular oscillator driving somite segmentation', Dev Biol, 207 (1), 49-61.

Aulehla, A. and Pourquie, O. (2006), 'On periodicity and directionality of somitogenesis', Anat Embryol (Berl), 211 Suppl 1, 3-8.

Aulehla, A. and Pourquie, O. (2008), 'Oscillating signaling pathways during embryonic development', Curr Opin Cell Biol, 20 (6), 632-7.

Aulehla, A., Wehrle, C., Brand-Saberi, B., Kemler, R., Gossler, A., Kanzler, B. and Herrmann, B. G. (2003), 'Wnt3a plays a major role in the segmentation clock controlling somitogenesis', Dev Cell, 4 (3), 395-406.

Baker, R. E., Schnell, S., and Maini, P. K. (2006), 'A clock and wavefront mechanism for somite formation', Dev Biol, 293 (1), 116-26.

Balfour, F.M. (1881), 'Handbuch der velgleichenden Embryologie', Fischer Jena.

Balling, R., Deutsch, U., and Gruss, P. (1988), 'undulated, a mutation affecting the development of the mouse skeleton, has a point mutation in the paired box of Pax 1', Cell, 55 (3), 531-5.

Bard, J. B. (1990), 'Traction and the formation of mesenchymal condensations in vivo', Bioessays, 12 (8), 389-95.

Barnes, G. L., Alexander, P.G., Hsu, C.W., Mariani, B.D. and Tuan R. S. (1997), 'Cloning and characterization of chicken Paraxis: a regulator of paraxial mesoderm development and somite formation', Dev Biol, 189 (1), 95-111.

Barnes, G. L., Hsu, C.W., Mariani, B.D. and Tuan R. S. (1996), 'Chicken Pax-1 gene: structure and expression during embryonic somite development', Differentiation, 61 (1), 13-23.

Barrantes, I. B., Elia, A.J., Wünsch, K., Hrabe de Angelis, M. H., Mak, T. W., Rossant, J., Conlon, R. A., Gossler, A. and de la Pompa, J. L. (1999), 'Interaction between Notch signalling and Lunatic fringe during somite boundary formation in the mouse', Curr Biol, 9 (9), 470-80.

Barrios, A., Poole, R. J., Durbin, L., Brennan, C., Holder, N. and Wilson, S. W. (2003), 'Eph/Ephrin signaling regulates the mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition of the paraxial mesoderm during somite morphogenesis', Curr Biol, 13 (18), 1571-82.

Batlle, E., Sancho, E., Francí, C., Domínguez, D., Monfar, M., Baulida, J. and García De Herreros, A. (2000), 'The transcription factor snail is a repressor of E-cadherin gene expression in epithelial tumour cells', Nat Cell Biol, 2 (2), 84-9.

Beaster-Jones, L., Kaltenbach, S. L., Koop, D., Yuan, S., Chastain, R. and Holland, L. Z. (2008), 'Expression of somite segmentation genes in amphioxus: a clock without a wavefront?', Dev Genes Evol, 218 (11-12), 599-611.

Beddington, R. S. and Martin, P. (1989), 'An in situ transgenic enzyme marker to monitor migration of cells in the mid-gestation mouse embryo. Somite contribution to the early forelimb bud', Mol Biol Med, 6 (4), 263-74.

Bellairs, R. (1979), 'The mechanism of somite segmentation in the chick embryo', J Embryol Exp Morphol, 51, 227-43.

Bellairs, R. (1986), 'The primitive streak', Anat Embryol (Berl), 174 (1), 1-14.

Bellairs, R., Curtis, A. S., and Sanders, E. J. (1978), 'Cell adhesiveness and embryonic differentiation', J Embryol Exp Morphol, 46, 207-13.

Bellairs, R., Lorenz, F. W., and Dunlap, T. (1978), 'Cleavage in the chick embryo', J Embryol Exp Morphol, 43, 55-69.

Bellairs, R. and Veini, M. (1980), 'An experimental analysis of somite segmentation in the chick embryo', J Embryol Exp Morphol, 55, 93-108.

Bellairs, R. and Veini, M. (1984), 'Experimental analysis of control mechanisms in somite segmentation in avian embryos. II. Reduction of material in the gastrula stages of the chick', J Embryol Exp Morphol, 79, 183-200.

Beloussov, L. V. and Naumidi, I. I. (1983), 'Cell contacts and rearrangements preceding somitogenesis in chick embryo', Cell Differ, 12 (4), 191-204.

Ben-Yair, R., Kahane, N., and Kalcheim, C. (2011), 'LGN-dependent orientation of cell divisions in the dermomyotome controls lineage segregation into muscle and dermis', Development, 138 (19), 4155-66.

Ben-Yair, R. and Kalcheim, C. (2005), 'Lineage analysis of the avian dermomyotome sheet reveals the existence of single cells with both dermal and muscle progenitor fates', Development, 132 (4), 689-701.

Benazeraf, B., Francois, P., Baker, R. E., Denans, N., Little, C. D. and Pourquié, O. (2010), 'A random cell motility gradient downstream of FGF controls elongation of an amniote embryo', Nature, 466 (7303), 248-52.

Benazeraf, B. and Pourquie, O. (2013), 'Formation and segmentation of the vertebrate body axis', Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 29, 1-26.

Bessho, Y., Hirata, H., Masamizu, Y. and Kageyama, R. (2003), 'Periodic repression by the bHLH factor Hes7 is an essential mechanism for the somite segmentation clock', Genes Dev, 17 (12), 1451-6.

Bessho, Y. and Kageyama, R. (2003), 'Oscillations, clocks and segmentation', Curr Opin Genet Dev, 13 (4), 379-84.

Bessho, Y., Miyoshi, G., Sakata, R. and Kageyama, R. (2001), 'Hes7: a bHLH-type repressor gene regulated by Notch and expressed in the presomitic mesoderm', Genes Cells, 6 (2), 175-85.
Bessho, Y., Sakata, R., Komatsu, S., Shiota, K., Yamada, S. and Kageyama, R. (2001), 'Dynamic expression and essential functions of Hes7 in somite segmentation', Genes Dev, 15 (20), 2642-7.

Bober, E., Franz, T., Arnold, H. H., Gruss, P. and Tremblay, P. (1994), 'Pax-3 is required for the development of limb muscles: a possible role for the migration of dermomyotomal muscle progenitor cells', Development, 120 (3), 603-12.

Borman, W. H. and Yorde, D. E. (1994), 'Analysis of chick somite myogenesis by in situ confocal microscopy of desmin expression', J Histochem Cytochem, 42 (2), 265-72.

Borycki, A. G., Strunk, K. E., Savary, R. and Emerson, C. P. Jr (1997), 'Distinct signal/response mechanisms regulate pax1 and QmyoD activation in sclerotomal and myotomal lineages of quail somites', Dev Biol, 185 (2), 185-200.

Bottcher, R. T. and Niehrs, C. (2005), 'Fibroblast growth factor signaling during early vertebrate development', Endocr Rev, 26 (1), 63-77.

Braga, V. M. (2002), 'Cell-cell adhesion and signalling', Curr Opin Cell Biol, 14 (5), 546-56.

Brand, B., Christ, B. and Jacob, H. J. (1985), 'An experimental analysis of the developmental capacities of distal parts of avian leg buds', Am J Anat, 173 (4), 321-40.

Brand-Saberi, B. and Christ, B. (1993), 'Inhibition of myogenic cell migration by the application of antibodies raised against limb bud mesenchyme', Prog Clin Biol Res, 383B, 541-52.

Brand-Saberi, B. and Christ, B. (2000), 'Evolution and development of distinct cell lineages derived from somites', Curr Top Dev Biol, 48, 1-42.

Brand-Saberi, B., Ebensperger, C., Wilting, J., Balling, R. and Christ, B. (1993), 'The ventralizing effect of the notochord on somite differentiation in chick embryos', Anat Embryol (Berl), 188 (3), 239-45.

Brand-Saberi, B., Wilting, J., Ebensperger, C. and Christ B. (1996), 'The formation of somite compartments in the avian embryo', Int J Dev Biol, 40 (1), 411-20.

Brent, A. E., Schweitzer, R., and Tabin, C. J. (2003), 'A somitic compartment of tendon progenitors', Cell, 113 (2), 235-48.

Brent, A. E. and Tabin, C. J. (2002), 'Developmental regulation of somite derivatives: muscle, cartilage and tendon', Curr Opin Genet Dev, 12 (5), 548-57.

Bronner-Fraser, M., Stern, C. D., and Fraser, S. (1991), 'Analysis of neural crest cell lineage and migration', J Craniofac Genet Dev Biol, 11 (4), 214-22.

Brunet, L. J., McMahon, J. A., McMahon, A. P. and Harland, R. M. (1998), 'Noggin, cartilage morphogenesis, and joint formation in the mammalian skeleton', Science, 280 (5368), 1455-7.

Buchberger, A., Seidl, K., Klein, C., Eberhardt, H. and Arnold, H. H. (1998), 'cMeso-1, a novel bHLH transcription factor, is involved in somite formation in chicken embryos', Dev Biol, 199 (2), 201-15.

Buffinger, N. and Stockdale, F. E. (1994), 'Myogenic specification in somites: induction by axial structures', Development, 120 (6), 1443-52.

Burgess, R., Cserjesi, P., Ligon, K. L. and Olson, E. N. (1995), 'Paraxis: a basic helix-loop-helix protein expressed in paraxial mesoderm and developing somites', Dev Biol, 168 (2), 296-306.

Burgess, R., Rawls, A., Brown, D., Bradley, A. and Olson, E. N. (1996), 'Requirement of the paraxis gene for somite formation and musculoskeletal patterning', Nature, 384 (6609), 570-3.

Burke, A. C., Nelson, C. E., Morgan, B. A. and Tabin, C. (1995), 'Hox genes and the evolution of vertebrate axial morphology', Development, 121 (2), 333-46.

Campanelli, M. and Gedeon, T. (2010), 'Somitogenesis clock-wave initiation requires differential decay and multiple binding sites for clock protein', PLoS Comput Biol, 6 (4), e1000728.

Cano, A., Pérez-Moreno, M. A., Rodrigo, I., Locascio, A., Blanco, M. J., del Barrio, M. G., Portillo, F. and Nieto, M. A. (2000), 'The transcription factor snail controls epithelial-mesenchymal transitions by repressing E-cadherin expression', Nat Cell Biol, 2 (2), 76-83.

Capdevila, J. and Johnson, R. L. (1998), 'Endogenous and ectopic expression of noggin suggests a conserved mechanism for regulation of BMP function during limb and somite patterning', Dev Biol, 197 (2), 205-17.

Catala, M., Teillet, M. A., and Le Douarin, N. M. (1995), 'Organization and development of the tail bud analyzed with the quail-chick chimaera system', Mech Dev, 51 (1), 51-65.

Chalepakis, G., Fritsch, R., Fickenscher, H., Deutsch, U., Goulding, M. and Gruss, P. (1991), 'The molecular basis of the undulated/Pax-1 mutation', Cell, 66 (5), 873-84.

Chang, C. and Hemmati-Brivanlou, A. (1999), 'Xenopus GDF6, a new antagonist of noggin and a partner of BMPs', Development, 126 (15), 3347-57.

Chang, D. T., López, A., von Kessler, D. P., Chiang, C., Simandl, B. K., Zhao, R., Seldin, M. F., Fallon, J. F. and Beachy, P. A. (1994), 'Products, genetic linkage and limb patterning activity of a murine hedgehog gene', Development, 120 (11), 3339-53.

Chapman, S. C., Collignon, J., Schoenwolf, G. C. and Lumsden, A. (2001), 'Improved method for chick whole-embryo culture using a filter paper carrier', Dev Dyn, 220 (3), 284-9.

Chen, S. L., Dowhan, D. H., Hosking, B. M. and Muscat, G. E. O. (2000), 'The steroid receptor coactivator, GRIP-1, is necessary for MEF-2C-dependent gene expression and skeletal muscle differentiation', Genes Dev, 14 (10), 1209-28.

Cheney, C. M. and Lash, J. W. (1984), 'An increase in cell-cell adhesion in the chick segmental plate results in a meristic pattern', J Embryol Exp Morphol, 79, 1-10.

Cheng, H., Jiang, W., Phillips, F. M., Haydon, R. C., Peng, Y., Zhou, L., Luu, H. H., An, N., Breyer, B., Vanichakarn, P., Szatkowski, J. P., Park, J. Y. and He, T. C. (2003), 'Osteogenic activity of the fourteen

types of human bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs)', J Bone Joint Surg Am, 85-A (8), 1544-52.

Chernoff, E. A. and Lash, J. W. (1981), 'Cell movement in somite formation and development in the chick: inhibition of segmentation', Dev Biol, 87 (2), 212-9.

Chevallier, A., Kieny, M., and Mauger, A. (1977), 'Limb-somite relationship: origin of the limb musculature', J Embryol Exp Morphol, 41, 245-58.

Christ, B., Jacob, H.J., Jacob, M (1972), 'Experimentelle Untersuchungen zur Somitenentstehung beim Hunerembryo', Z Anto Entwickl- Gersch, 138, 82-97.

Christ, B., Jacob, H.J., Jacob, M (1979), 'Uber gestaltungsfunktionene der somiten bei der entwichlung der korperwand von huhnerembryonen', Verh Anat Ges, 73, 509-18.

Christ, B., Brand-Saberi, B., Jacob, H.J., Jacob, M., Seifert, R (1990), Principles of early muscle development. (CNRS Paris).

Christ, B., Wilting, J. (1992), 'From somites to vertebral column', Ann Anat, 174 (1), 23-32.

Christ, B., Brand-Saberi, B., Grim, M. and Wilting, J. (1992), 'Local signalling in dermomyotomal cell type specification', Anat Embryol (Berl), 186 (5), 505-10.

Christ, B., Huang, R., and Scaal, M. (2004), 'Formation and differentiation of the avian sclerotome', Anat Embryol (Berl), 208 (5), 333-50.

Christ, B., Huang, R., and Scaal, M. (2007), 'Amniote somite derivatives', Dev Dyn, 236 (9), 2382-96.

Christ, B., Huang, R., and Wilting, J. (2000), 'The development of the avian vertebral column', Anat Embryol (Berl), 202 (3), 179-94.

Christ, B., Jacob, H. J., and Jacob, M. (1974), '[Somitogenesis in the chick embryo. Determination of the segmentation direction]', Verh Anat Ges, 68, 573-9.

Christ, B., Jacob, M., and Jacob, H. J. (1983), 'On the origin and development of the ventrolateral abdominal muscles in the avian embryo. An experimental and ultrastructural study', Anat Embryol (Berl), 166 (1), 87-101.

Christ, B. and Ordahl, C. P. (1995), 'Early stages of chick somite development', Anat Embryol (Berl), 191 (5), 381-96.

Christ, B., Schmidt, C., Huang, R., Wilting, J. and Brand-Saberi, B. (1998), 'Segmentation of the vertebrate body', Anat Embryol (Berl), 197 (1), 1-8.

Christ, B. and Wilting, J. (1992), 'From somites to vertebral column', Ann Anat, 174 (1), 23-32.

Christ, B. Jacod, H.J., Jacob, M. (1978), 'On the formation of the myotomes in avian embryos. An exprerimentral and scanning electron microscope study', Experientia, 34, 514-16.

Cibois, M., Gautier-Courteille, C., Legagneux, V. and Paillard, L. (2010), 'Post-transcriptional controls - adding a new layer of regulation to clock gene expression', Trends Cell Biol, 20 (9), 533-41.

Cinnamon, Y., Ben-Yair, R., and Kalcheim, C. (2006), 'Differential effects of N-cadherin-mediated adhesion on the development of myotomal waves', Development, 133 (6), 1101-12.

Cinnamon, Y., Kahane, N. and Kalcheim, C. (1999), 'Characterization of the early development of specific hypaxial muscles from the ventrolateral myotome', Development, 126 (19), 4305-15.

Cinquin, O. (2007), 'Understanding the somitogenesis clock: what's missing?', Mech Dev, 124 (7-8), 501-17.

Collier, J. R., Mcinerney, D., Schnell, S., Maini, P. K., Gavaghan, D. J., Houston, P. and Stern, C. D. (2000), 'A cell cycle model for somitogenesis: mathematical formulation and numerical simulation', J Theor Biol, 207 (3), 305-16.

Conlon, R. A., Reaume, A. G., and Rossant, J. (1995), 'Notch1 is required for the coordinate segmentation of somites', Development, 121 (5), 1533-45.

Connolly, D. J., Patel, K., and Cooke, J. (1997), 'Chick noggin is expressed in the organizer and neural plate during axial development, but offers no evidence of involvement in primary axis formation', Int J Dev Biol, 41 (2), 389-96.

Cooke, J. (1975), 'Control of somite number during morphogenesis of a vertebrate, Xenopus laevis', Nature, 254 (5497), 196-9.

Cooke, J. and Zeeman, E. C. (1976), 'A clock and wavefront model for control of the number of repeated structures during animal morphogenesis', J Theor Biol, 58 (2), 455-76.

Correia, K. M. and Conlon, R. A. (2000), 'Surface ectoderm is necessary for the morphogenesis of somites', Mech Dev, 91 (1-2), 19-30.

Cossu, G., Kelly, R., Tajbakhsh, S., Di Donna, S., Vivarelli, E. and Buckingham, M. (1996), 'Activation of different myogenic pathways: myf-5 is induced by the neural tube and MyoD by the dorsal ectoderm in mouse paraxial mesoderm', Development, 122 (2), 429-37.

Cotterell, J., Robert-Moreno, A., Sharpe, J. (2015), 'A local, selforganizing reaction-diffusion model can explain somite patterning in embryos', Cell Systems, 1 (4), 257-69.

Coulthard, M. G., Duffy, S., Down, M., Evans, B., Power, M., Smith, F., Stylianou, C., Kleikamp, S., Oates, A., Lackmann, M., Burns, G. F. and Boyd, A. W. (2002), 'The role of the Eph-ephrin signalling system in the regulation of developmental patterning', Int J Dev Biol, 46 (4), 375-84.

Couly, G. F., Coltey, P. M., and Le Douarin, N. M. (1993), 'The triple origin of skull in higher vertebrates: a study in quail-chick chimeras', Development, 117 (2), 409-29.

Crawford, M. (1995), 'Transformations in null mutants of Hox genes: do they represent intercalary regenerates?', Bioessays, 17 (12), 1065-73. Crossin, K. L., Hoffman, S., Grumet, M., Thiery, J. P. and Edelman, G. M. (1986), 'Site-restricted expression of cytotactin during development of the chicken embryo', J Cell Biol, 102 (5), 1917-30.

Cserjesi, P., Brown, D., Ligon, K. L., Lyons, G. E., Copeland, N. G., Gilbert, D. J., Jenkins, N. A. and Olson, E. N. (1995), 'Scleraxis: a basic helix-loop-helix protein that prefigures skeletal formation during mouse embryogenesis', Development, 121 (4), 1099-110.

Dahmann, C., Oates, A. C., and Brand, M. (2011), 'Boundary formation and maintenance in tissue development', Nat Rev Genet, 12 (1), 43-55.

Dale, J. K., Malapert, P., Chal, J., Vilhais-Neto, G., Maroto, M., Johnson, T., Jayasinghe, S., Trainor, P., Herrmann, B. and Pourquié, O. (2006), 'Oscillations of the snail genes in the presomitic mesoderm coordinate segmental patterning and morphogenesis in vertebrate somitogenesis', Dev Cell, 10 (3), 355-66.

Dale, J. K., Maroto, M., Dequeant, M. L., Malapert, P., McGrew, M. and Pourquie, O. (2003), 'Periodic notch inhibition by lunatic fringe underlies the chick segmentation clock', Nature, 421 (6920), 275-8.

Dale, K. J. and Pourquie, O. (2000), 'A clock-work somite', Bioessays, 22 (1), 72-83.

Dale, L., Howes, G., Price, B. M. and Smith, J. C. (1992), 'Bone morphogenetic protein 4: a ventralizing factor in early Xenopus development', Development, 115 (2), 573-85.

de la Pompa, J. L., Wakeham, A., Correia, K. M., Samper, E., Brown, S., Aguilera, R. J., Nakano, T., Honjo, T., Mak, T. W., Rossant, J. and Conlon, R. A. (1997), 'Conservation of the Notch signalling

pathway in mammalian neurogenesis', Development, 124 (6), 1139-48.

Del Amo, F., Smith, D. E., Swiatek, P. J., Gendron-Maguire, M., Greenspan, R. J., McMahon, A. P. and Gridley, T. (1992), 'Expression pattern of Motch, a mouse homolog of Drosophila Notch, suggests an important role in early postimplantation mouse development', Development, 115 (3), 737-44.

Delfini, M. C., Dubrulle, J., Malapert, P., Chal, J. and Pourquié, O. (2005), 'Control of the segmentation process by graded MAPK/ERK activation in the chick embryo', Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 102 (32), 11343-8.

Denetclaw, W. F. Jr., Berdougo, E., Venters, S. J. and Ordahl, C. P. (2001), 'Morphogenetic cell movements in the middle region of the dermomyotome dorsomedial lip associated with patterning and growth of the primary epaxial myotome', Development, 128 (10), 1745-55.

Denetclaw, W. F., Jr., Christ, B., and Ordahl, C. P. (1997), 'Location and growth of epaxial myotome precursor cells', Development, 124 (8), 1601-10.

Denetclaw, W. F. and Ordahl, C. P. (2000), 'The growth of the dermomyotome and formation of early myotome lineages in thoracolumbar somites of chicken embryos', Development, 127 (4), 893-905.

Dequeant, M. L., Glynn, E., Gaudenz, K., Wahl, M., Chen, J., Mushegian, A. and Pourquié, O. (2006), 'A complex oscillating network of signaling genes underlies the mouse segmentation clock', Science, 314 (5805), 1595-8. Derynck, R. and Miyazono, K. (2008), 'TGFB and the TGFB family', The TGFB Family (New York: Cold Spring Harbour Laboratory Press), 29-43.

Derynck, R. and Zhang, Y. E. (2003), 'Smad-dependent and Smadindependent pathways in TGF-beta family signalling', Nature, 425 (6958), 577-84.

Deutsch, U., Dressler, G. R., and Gruss, P. (1988), 'Pax 1, a member of a paired box homologous murine gene family, is expressed in segmented structures during development', Cell, 53 (4), 617-25.

Dias, A. S., de Almeida, I., Belmonte, J. M., Glazier, J. A. and Stern, C. D. (2014), 'Somites without a clock', Science, 343 (6172), 791-5.

Dickinson, M. E., Selleck, M. A., McMahon, A. P. and Bronner-Fraser, M. (1995), 'Dorsalization of the neural tube by the non-neural ectoderm', Development, 121 (7), 2099-106.

Dietrich, S. and Gruss, P. (1995), 'undulated phenotypes suggest a role of Pax-1 for the development of vertebral and extravertebral structures', Dev Biol, 167 (2), 529-48.

Dietrich, S., Schubert, F. R., and Gruss, P. (1993), 'Altered Pax gene expression in murine notochord mutants: the notochord is required to initiate and maintain ventral identity in the somite', Mech Dev, 44 (2-3), 189-207.

Dietrich, S., Schubert, F. R., and Lumsden, A. (1997), 'Control of dorsoventral pattern in the chick paraxial mesoderm', Development, 124 (19), 3895-908.

Diez del Corral, R., Olivera-Martinez, I., Goriely, A., Gale, E., Maden, M. and Storey, K. (2003), 'Opposing FGF and retinoid pathways control ventral neural pattern, neuronal differentiation, and segmentation during body axis extension', Neuron, 40 (1), 65-79.

Dolle, P. and Duboule, D. (1989), 'Two gene members of the murine HOX-5 complex show regional and cell-type specific expression in developing limbs and gonads', EMBO J, 8 (5), 1507-15.

Dosch, R., Gawantka, V., Delius, H., Blumenstock, C. and Niehrs, C. (1997), 'Bmp-4 acts as a morphogen in dorsoventral mesoderm patterning in Xenopus', Development, 124 (12), 2325-34.

Dottori, M., Hartley, L., Galea, M., Paxinos, G., Polizzotto, M., Kilpatrick, T., Bartlett, P. F., Murphy, M., Köntgen, F. and Boyd, A. W. (1998), 'EphA4 (Sek1) receptor tyrosine kinase is required for the development of the corticospinal tract', Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 95 (22), 13248-53.

Duband, J. L., Dufour, S., Hatta, K., Takeichi, M., Edelman, G. M. and Thiery, J. P. (1987), 'Adhesion molecules during somitogenesis in the avian embryo', J Cell Biol, 104 (5), 1361-74.

Duboule, D. (1994), 'Temporal colinearity and the phylotypic progression: a basis for the stability of a vertebrate Bauplan and the evolution of morphologies through heterochrony', Dev Suppl, 135-42.

Duboule, D. (1998), 'Vertebrate hox gene regulation: clustering and/or colinearity?', Curr Opin Genet Dev, 8 (5), 514-8.

Dubrulle, J., McGrew, M. J., and Pourquie, O. (2001), 'FGF signaling controls somite boundary position and regulates segmentation clock control of spatiotemporal Hox gene activation', Cell, 106 (2), 219-32.

Dubrulle, J. and Pourquie, O. (2002), 'From head to tail: links between the segmentation clock and antero-posterior patterning of the embryo', Curr Opin Genet Dev, 12 (5), 519-23.

Dubrulle, J. and Pourquie, O. (2004), 'fgf8 mRNA decay establishes a gradient that couples axial elongation to patterning in the vertebrate embryo', Nature, 427 (6973), 419-22.

Dubrulle, J. and Pourquie, O. (2004), 'Coupling segmentation to axis formation', Development, 131 (23), 5783-93.

Dunwoodie, S. L., Clements, M., Sparrow, D. B., Sa, X., Conlon, R. A. and Beddington, R. S. (2002), 'Axial skeletal defects caused by mutation in the spondylocostal dysplasia/pudgy gene DII3 are associated with disruption of the segmentation clock within the presomitic mesoderm', Development, 129 (7), 1795-806.

Durston, A. J., Jansen, H. J. and Wacker, S. A. (2010), 'Review: Time-space translation regulates trunk axial patterning in the early vertebrate embryo', Genomics, 95 (5), 250-5.

Ebensperger, C., Wilting, J., Brand-Saberi, B., Mizutani, Y., Christ, B., Balling, R. and Koseki, H. (1995), 'Pax-1, a regulator of sclerotome development is induced by notochord and floor plate signals in avian embryos', Anat Embryol (Berl), 191 (4), 297-310.

Echelard, Y., Epstein, D. J., St-Jacques, B., Shen, L., Mohler, J., McMahon, J. A. and McMahon, A. P. (1993), 'Sonic hedgehog, a member of a family of putative signaling molecules, is implicated in the regulation of CNS polarity', Cell, 75 (7), 1417-30.

Elmasri, H., Liedtke, D., Lücking, G., Volff, J. N., Gessler, M. and Winkler, C. (2004), 'her7 and hey1, but not lunatic fringe show dynamic expression during somitogenesis in medaka (Oryzias latipes)', Gene Expr Patterns, 4 (5), 553-9.

Eloy-Trinquet, S. and Nicolas, J. F. (2002), 'Cell coherence during production of the presomitic mesoderm and somitogenesis in the mouse embryo', Development, 129 (15), 3609-19.

Emerson, C. P., Jr. (1993), 'Embryonic signals for skeletal myogenesis: arriving at the beginning', Curr Opin Cell Biol, 5 (6), 1057-64.

Etienne-Manneville, S. (2004), 'Cdc42--the centre of polarity', J Cell Sci, 117 (Pt 8), 1291-300.

Evans, D. J. and Noden, D. M. (2006), 'Spatial relations between avian craniofacial neural crest and paraxial mesoderm cells', Dev Dyn, 235 (5), 1310-25.

Evrard, Y. A., Lun, Y., Aulehla, A., Gan, L. and Johnson, R. L. (1998), 'lunatic fringe is an essential mediator of somite segmentation and patterning', Nature, 394 (6691), 377-81.

Eyal-Giladi, H. and Kochav, S. (1976), 'From cleavage to primitive streak formation: a complementary normal table and a new look at the first stages of the development of the chick. I. General morphology', Dev Biol, 49 (2), 321-37.

Fainsod, A., Steinbeisser, H., and De Robertis, E. M. (1994), 'On the function of BMP-4 in patterning the marginal zone of the Xenopus embryo', EMBO J, 13 (21), 5015-25.

Fan, C. M., Lee, C. S., and Tessier-Lavigne, M. (1997), 'A role for WNT proteins in induction of dermomyotome', Dev Biol, 191 (1), 160-5.

Fan, C. M., Porter, J. A., Chiang, C., Chang, D. T., Beachy, P. A. and Tessier-Lavigne, M. (1995), 'Long-range sclerotome induction by sonic hedgehog: direct role of the amino-terminal cleavage product and modulation by the cyclic AMP signaling pathway', Cell, 81 (3), 457-65.

Fan, C. M. and Tessier-Lavigne, M. (1994), 'Patterning of mammalian somites by surface ectoderm and notochord: evidence for sclerotome induction by a hedgehog homolog', Cell, 79 (7), 1175-86.

Feller, J., Schneider, A., Schuster-Gossler, K. and Gossler, A. (2008), 'Noncyclic Notch activity in the presomitic mesoderm demonstrates uncoupling of somite compartmentalization and boundary formation', Genes Dev, 22 (16), 2166-71.

Ferguson, C. A. and Graham, A. (2004), 'Redefining the head-trunk interface for the neural crest', Dev Biol, 269 (1), 70-80.

Ferjentsik, Z., Hayashi, S., Dale, J. K., Bessho, Y., Herreman, A., De Strooper, B., del Monte, G., de la Pompa, J. L., Maroto, M. (2009), 'Notch is a critical component of the mouse somitogenesis oscillator and is essential for the formation of the somites', PLoS Genet, 5 (9), e1000662.

Fleming, A., Keynes, R., and Tannahill, D. (2004), 'A central role for the notochord in vertebral patterning', Development, 131 (4), 873-80.

Forlani, S., Lawson, K. A., and Deschamps, J. (2003), 'Acquisition of Hox codes during gastrulation and axial elongation in the mouse embryo', Development, 130 (16), 3807-19.

Forsberg, H., Crozet, F. and Brown, N. A. (1998), 'Waves of mouse Lunatic fringe expression, in four-hour cycles at two-hour intervals, precede somite boundary formation', Curr Biol, 8 (18), 1027-30.

Freitas, C., Rodrigues, S., Charrier, J. B., Teillet, M. A. and Palmeirim, I. (2001), 'Evidence for medial/lateral specification and positional information within the presomitic mesoderm', Development, 128 (24), 5139-47.

Freitas, C., Rodrigues, S., Saude, L. and Palmeirim, I. (2005), 'Running after the clock', Int J Dev Biol, 49 (2-3), 317-24.

Fujii, H., Sato, T., Kaneko, S., Gotoh, O., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y., Osawa, K., Kato, S. and Hamada, H. (1997), 'Metabolic inactivation of retinoic acid by a novel P450 differentially expressed in developing mouse embryos', EMBO J, 16 (14), 4163-73.

Fukata, M. and Kaibuchi, K. (2001), 'Rho-family GTPases in cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion', Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2 (12), 887-97.

Fukata, M., Nakagawa, M. and Kaibuchi, K. (2003), 'Roles of Rhofamily GTPases in cell polarisation and directional migration', Curr Opin Cell Biol, 15 (5), 590-7.

Furumoto, T. A., Miura, N., Akasaka, T., Mizutani-Koseki, Y., Sudo, H., Fukuda, K., Maekawa, M., Yuasa, S., Fu, Y., Moriya, H., Taniguchi, M., Imai, K., Dahl, E., Balling, R., Pavlova, M., Gossler, A. and Koseki, H. (1999), 'Notochord-dependent expression of MFH1 and PAX1 cooperates to maintain the proliferation of sclerotome cells during the vertebral column development', Dev Biol, 210 (1), 15-29.

Gadow, H.F. (1933), The Evolution of the Vertebral Column (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).

Galceran, J., Sustmann, C., Hsu, S. C., Folberth, S. and Grosschedl, R. (2004), 'LEF1-mediated regulation of Delta-like1 links Wnt and Notch signaling in somitogenesis', Genes Dev, 18 (22), 2718-23.

Gale, N. W., Holland, S. J., Valenzuela, D. M., Flenniken, A., Pan, L., Ryan, T. E., Henkemeyer, M., Strebhardt, K., Hirai, H., Wilkinson, D. G., Pawson, T., Davis, S. and Yancopoulos, G. D. (1996), 'Eph receptors and ligands comprise two major specificity subclasses and are reciprocally compartmentalized during embryogenesis', Neuron, 17 (1), 9-19.

Gaunt, S. J. (1988), 'Mouse homeobox gene transcripts occupy different but overlapping domains in embryonic germ layers and organs: a comparison of Hox-3.1 and Hox-1.5', Development, 103 (1), 135-44.

Gaunt, S. J. (1994), 'Conservation in the Hox code during morphological evolution', Int J Dev Biol, 38 (3), 549-52.

Gaunt, S. J. and Strachan, L. (1996), 'Temporal colinearity in expression of anterior Hox genes in developing chick embryos', Dev Dyn, 207 (3), 270-80.

Geetha-Loganathan, P., Nimmagadda, S., Prols, F., Patel, K., Scaal, M. T., Huang, R. J. and Christ, B. (2005), 'Ectodermal Wnt-6 promotes Myf5-dependent avian limb myogenesis', Dev Biol, 288 (1), 221-33.

Gibb, S., Maroto, M. and Dale, J. K. (2010), 'The segmentation clock mechanism moves up a notch', Trends Cell Biol, 20 (10), 593-600.

Gibb, S., Zagorska, A., Melton, K., Tenin, G., Vacca, I., Trainor, P., Maroto, M. and Dale, J. K. (2009), 'Interfering with Wnt signalling alters the periodicity of the segmentation clock', Dev Biol, 330 (1), 21-31.

Giovannone, D., Ortega, B., Reyes, M., El-Ghali, N., Rabadi, M., Sao, S., de Bellard, M. E. (2015), 'Chicken trunk neural crest migration visualized with HNK1', Acta Histochem, 117 (3), 255-66.

Giudicelli, F. and Lewis, J. (2004), 'The vertebrate segmentation clock', Curr Opin Genet Dev, 14 (4), 407-14.

Giudicelli, F., Özbudak, E. M., Wright, G. J. and Lewis, J. (2007), 'Setting the tempo in development: an investigation of the zebrafish somite clock mechanism', PLoS Biol, 5 (6), e150.

Glinka, A., Wu, W., Delius, H., Monaghan, A. P., Blumenstock, C. and Niehrs, C. (1998), 'Dickkopf-1 is a member of a new family of secreted proteins and functions in head induction', Nature, 391 (6665), 357-62.

Gomez, C. and Pourquie, O. (2009), 'Developmental control of segment numbers in vertebrates', J Exp Zool B Mol Dev Evol, 312 (6), 533-44.

Gont, L. K., Steinbeisser, H., Blumberg, B. and de Robertis, E. M. (1993), 'Tail formation as a continuation of gastrulation: the multiple cell populations of the Xenopus tailbud derive from the late blastopore lip', Development, 119 (4), 991-1004.

Gossler, A. and Hrabe de Angelis, M. (1998), 'Somitogenesis', Curr Top Dev Biol, 38, 225-87.

Goulding, M., Lumsden, A. and Paquette, A. J. (1994), 'Regulation of Pax-3 expression in the dermomyotome and its role in muscle development', Development, 120 (4), 957-71.

Goulding, M. D., Lumsden, A. and Gruss, P. (1993), 'Signals from the notochord and floor plate regulate the region-specific expression of two Pax genes in the developing spinal cord', Development, 117 (3), 1001-16.

Graham, A., Papalopulu, N. and Krumlauf, R. (1989), 'The murine and Drosophila homeobox gene complexes have common features of organization and expression', Cell, 57 (3), 367-78.

Grapin-Botton, A., Bonnin, M. A., McNaughton, L. A., Krumlauf, R. and Le Douarin, N. M. (1995), 'Plasticity of transposed rhombomeres: Hox gene induction is correlated with phenotypic modifications', Development, 121 (9), 2707-21.

Greco, T. L., Takada, S., Newhouse, M. M., McMahon, J. A., McMahon, A. P. and Camper, S. A. (1996), 'Analysis of the vestigial tail mutation demonstrates that Wnt-3a gene dosage regulates mouse axial development', Genes Dev, 10 (3), 313-24.

Groppe, J., Greenwald, J., Wiater, E., Rodriguez-Leon, J., Economides, A. N., Kwiatkowski, W., Affolter, M., Vale, W. W., Izpisua Belmonte, J. C. and Choe, S. (2002), 'Structural basis of BMP signalling inhibition by the cystine knot protein Noggin', Nature, 420 (6916), 636-42.

Gros, J., Manceau, M., Thomé, V. and Marcelle, C. (2005), 'A common somitic origin for embryonic muscle progenitors and satellite cells', Nature, 435 (7044), 954-8.

Halata, Z., Grim, M. and Christ, B. (1990), 'Origin of spinal cord meninges, sheaths of peripheral nerves, and cutaneous receptors including Merkel cells. An experimental and ultrastructural study with avian chimeras', Anat Embryol (Berl), 182 (6), 529-37.

Hall, B. K. (1977), 'Chondrogenesis of the somitic mesoderm', Adv Anat Embryol Cell Biol, 53 (4), 3-47.

Hamburger, V. and Hamilton, H. L. (1951), 'A series of normal stages in the development of the chick embryo', J Morphol, 88 (1), 49-92.

Hamilton, H. L. and Hinsch, G. W. (1956), 'The developmental fate of the first somite of the chick', Anat Rec, 125 (2), 225-45.

Hara, K. (1971), 'Micro-surgical operation on the chick embryo in ovo without vital staining. A modification of the intra-coelomic grafting technique', Mikroskopie, 27 (9), 267-70.

Harland, R. M. (1994), 'The transforming growth factor beta family and induction of the vertebrate mesoderm: bone morphogenetic proteins are ventral inducers', Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 91 (22), 10243-6.

Hatada, Y. and Stern, C. D. (1994), 'A fate map of the epiblast of the early chick embryo', Development, 120 (10), 2879-89.

Hatta, K., Takagi, S., Fujisawa, H. and Takeichi, M. (1987), 'Spatial and temporal expression pattern of N-cadherin cell adhesion

molecules correlated with morphogenetic processes of chicken embryos', Dev Biol, 120 (1), 215-27.

Heldin, C. H., Miyazono, K. and ten Dijke, P. (1997), 'TGF-beta signalling from cell membrane to nucleus through SMAD proteins', Nature, 390 (6659), 465-71.

Heldin, C. H. and Moustakas, A. (2012), 'Role of Smads in TGFbeta signaling', Cell Tissue Res, 347 (1), 21-36.

Henkes, B. and Sandor, S. (1977), 'Somitogenesis, regulation potencies, sequence determination and primordial interactions.', Vertebrate limb and somite morphogenesis. (Cambridge University Press), 405-19.

Henrique, D., Adam, J., Myat, A., Chitnis, A., Lewis, J. and Ish-Horowicz, D. (1995), 'Expression of a Delta homologue in prospective neurons in the chick', Nature, 375 (6534), 787-90.

Henry, C. A., Urban, M. K., Dill, K. K., Merlie, J. P., Page, M. F., Kimmel, C. B. and Amacher, S. L. (2002), 'Two linked hairy/Enhancer of split-related zebrafish genes, her1 and her7, function together to refine alternating somite boundaries', Development, 129 (15), 3693-704.

Herreman, H., Schneider, M. J. B., Neukon, B. J. and Moore, J. A. (1951), 'Quantitative data on the growth procress of the somites of the chick embryo: linear measurements, volumes, protein, nitrogen, nucleic acids', J Exp Zool, 243-68.

Herrgen, L., Ares, S., Morelli, L. G., Schröter, C., Jülicher, F., Oates, A. C. (2010), 'Intercellular coupling regulates the period of the segmentation clock', Curr Biol, 20 (14), 1244-53.

Hester, S. D., Belmonte, J. M., Gens, J. S., Clendenon, S. G. and Glazier, J. A. (2011), 'A multi-cell, multi-scale model of vertebrate segmentation and somite formation', PLoS Comput Biol, 7 (10), e1002155.

Hirano, S., Hirako, R., Kajita, N. and Norita, M. (1995), 'Morphological analysis of the role of the neural tube and notochord in the development of somites', Anat Embryol (Berl), 192 (5), 445-57.

Hirata, H., Bessho, Y., Kokubu, H., Masamizu, Y., Yamada, S., Lewis, J. and Kageyama, R. (2004), 'Instability of Hes7 protein is crucial for the somite segmentation clock', Nat Genet, 36 (7), 750-4.

Hirsinger, E., Duprez, D., Jouve, C., Malapert, P., Cooke, J. and Pourquié, O. (1997), 'Noggin acts downstream of Wnt and Sonic Hedgehog to antagonize BMP4 in avian somite patterning', Development, 124 (22), 4605-14.

Hofmann, M., Schuster-Gossler, K., Watabe-Rudolph, M., Aulehla, A., Herrmann, B. G. and Gossler, A. (2004), 'WNT signaling, in synergy with T/TBX6, controls Notch signaling by regulating Dll1 expression in the presomitic mesoderm of mouse embryos', Genes Dev, 18 (22), 2712-7.

Hogan, B. L., Thaller, C. and Eichele, G. (1992), 'Evidence that Hensen's node is a site of retinoic acid synthesis', Nature, 359 (6392), 237-41.

Holder, N. and Klein, R. (1999), 'Eph receptors and ephrins: effectors of morphogenesis', Development, 126 (10), 2033-44.

Holley, S. A., Geisler, R. and Nusslein-Volhard, C. (2000), 'Control of her1 expression during zebrafish somitogenesis by a deltadependent oscillator and an independent wave-front activity', Genes Dev, 14 (13), 1678-90.

Horbelt, D., Denkis, A. and Knaus, P. (2012), 'A portrait of Transforming Growth Factor beta superfamily signalling: Background matters', Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 44 (3), 469-74.

Horikawa, K., Ishimatsu, K., Yoshimoto, E., Kondo, S. and Takeda, H. (2006), 'Noise-resistant and synchronized oscillation of the segmentation clock', Nature, 441 (7094), 719-23.

Hosokawa, R., Urata, M., Han, J., Zehnaly, A., Bringas, P. Jr, Nonaka, K. and Chai, Y. (2007), 'TGF-beta mediated Msx2 expression controls occipital somites-derived caudal region of skull development', Dev Biol, 310 (1), 140-53.

Hrabe de Angelis, M., McIntyre, J. 2nd and Gossler, A. (1997), 'Maintenance of somite borders in mice requires the Delta homologue DII1', Nature, 386 (6626), 717-21.

Hsu, D. R., Economides, A. N., Wang, X., Eimon, P. M. and Harland, R. M. (1998), 'The Xenopus dorsalizing factor Gremlin identifies a novel family of secreted proteins that antagonize BMP activities', Mol Cell, 1 (5), 673-83.

Huang, R. and Christ, B. (2000), 'Origin of the epaxial and hypaxial myotome in avian embryos', Anat Embryol (Berl), 202 (5), 369-74.

Huang, R., Stolte, D., Kurz, H., Ehehalt, F., Cann, G. M., Stockdale, F. E., Patel, K. and Christ, B. (2003), 'Ventral axial organs regulate expression of myotomal Fgf-8 that influences rib development', Dev Biol, 255 (1), 30-47.

Huang, R., Zhi, Q., Neubüser, A., Müller, T. S., Brand-Saberi, B., Christ, B. and Wilting, J. (1996), 'Function of somite and somitocoele cells in the formation of the vertebral motion segment in avian embryos', Acta Anat (Basel), 155 (4), 231-41.

Huang, R., Zhi, Q., Ordahl, C. P. and Christ, B. (1997), 'The fate of the first avian somite', Anat Embryol (Berl), 195 (5), 435-49.

Huang, R., Zhi, Q., Schmidt, C., Wilting, J., Brand-Saberi, B. and Christ, B. (2000), 'Sclerotomal origin of the ribs', Development, 127 (3), 527-32.

Huang, R., Zhi, Q., Wilting, J. and Christ, B. (1994), 'The fate of somitocoele cells in avian embryos', Anat Embryol (Berl), 190 (3), 243-50.

Hubbard, S. J., Grafham, D. V., Beattie, K. J., Overton, I. M., McLaren, S. R., Croning, M. D., Boardman, P.E., Bonfield, J.K., Burnside, J., Davies, R.M., Farrell, E. R., Francis, M. D., Griffiths-Jones, S., Humphray, S. J., Hyland, C., Scott, C. E., Tang, H., Taylor, R. G., Tickle, C., Brown, W. R., Birney, E., Rogers, J. and Wilson, S. A. (2005), 'Transcriptome analysis for the chicken based on 19,626 finished cDNA sequences and 485,337 expressed sequence tags', Genome Res, 15 (1), 174-83.

Hughes, D. S., Keynes, R. J. and Tannahill, D. (2009), 'Extensive molecular differences between anterior- and posterior-half-sclerotomes underlie somite polarity and spinal nerve segmentation', BMC Dev Biol, 9, 30.

Huppert, S. S., Ilagan, M. X., De Strooper, B. and Kopan, R. (2005), 'Analysis of Notch function in presomitic mesoderm suggests a gamma-secretase-independent role for presenilins in somite differentiation', Dev Cell, 8 (5), 677-88. limura, T., Denans, N. and Pourquie, O. (2009), 'Establishment of Hox vertebral identities in the embryonic spine precursors', Curr Top Dev Biol, 88, 201-34.

limura, T. and Pourquie, O. (2006), 'Collinear activation of Hoxb genes during gastrulation is linked to mesoderm cell ingression', Nature, 442 (7102), 568-71.

limura, T. and Pourquie, O. (2007), 'Hox genes in time and space during vertebrate body formation', Dev Growth Differ, 49 (4), 265-75.

Ikeya, M. and Takada, S. (1998), 'Wnt signaling from the dorsal neural tube is required for the formation of the medial dermomyotome', Development, 125 (24), 4969-76.

Ikeya, M. and Takada, S. (2001), 'Wnt-3a is required for somite specification along the anteroposterior axis of the mouse embryo and for regulation of cdx-1 expression', Mech Dev, 103 (1-2), 27-33.

International Chicken Genome Sequencing, Consortium (2004), 'Sequence and comparative analysis of the chicken genome provide unique perspectives on vertebrate evolution', Nature, 432 (7018), 695-716.

Ish-Horowicz, D., Howard, K. R., Pinchin, S. M. and Ingham, P. W. (1985), 'Molecular and genetic analysis of the hairy locus in Drosophila', Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol, 50, 135-44.

Ishikawa, A., Kitajima, S., Takahashi, Y., Kokubo, H., Kanno, J., Inoue, T. and Saga, Y. (2004), 'Mouse Nkd1, a Wnt antagonist, exhibits oscillatory gene expression in the PSM under the control of Notch signaling', Mech Dev, 121 (12), 1443-53. Ishimatsu, K., Takamatsu, A. and Takeda, H. (2010), 'Emergence of traveling waves in the zebrafish segmentation clock', Development, 137 (10), 1595-9.

Itasaki, N., Bel-Vialar, S. and Krumlauf, R. (1999), "Shocking' developments in chick embryology: electroporation and in ovo gene expression', Nat Cell Biol, 1 (8), E203-7.

Izpisua-Belmonte, J. C., De Robertis, E. M., Storey, K. G. and Stern, C. D. (1993), 'The homeobox gene goosecoid and the origin of organizer cells in the early chick blastoderm', Cell, 74 (4), 645-59.

Jacob, H. J., Christ, B. and Jacod, M. (1974), 'Die somitogenese beim huhnerembryo.Experimente zur lageentwicklung der myotom', Verh Anat Ges, 68, 581-89.

Jacob, M., Christ, B. and Jacob, H. J. (1975), '[Regional determination of the paraxial mesoderm in young chick embryos]', Verh Anat Ges, 69, 263-9.

Jen, W. C., Wettstein, D., Turner, D., Chitnis, A. and Kintner, C. (1997), 'The Notch ligand, X-Delta-2, mediates segmentation of the paraxial mesoderm in Xenopus embryos', Development, 124 (6), 1169-78.

Jiang, Y. J., Aerne, B. L., Smithers, L., Haddon, C., Ish-Horowicz, D. and Lewis, J. (2000), 'Notch signalling and the synchronization of the somite segmentation clock', Nature, 408 (6811), 475-9.

Johnson, J., Rhee, J., Parsons, S. M., Brown, D., Olson, E. N. and Rawls, A. (2001), 'The anterior/posterior polarity of somites is disrupted in paraxis-deficient mice', Dev Biol, 229 (1), 176-87. Jones, C. M., Rhee, J., Parsons, S. M., Brown, D., Olson, E. N. and Rawls, A. (1992), 'DVR-4 (bone morphogenetic protein-4) as a posterior-ventralizing factor in Xenopus mesoderm induction', Development, 115 (2), 639-47.

Joseph, E. M. and Melton, D. A. (1997), 'Xnr4: a Xenopus nodalrelated gene expressed in the Spemann organizer', Dev Biol, 184 (2), 367-72.

Jouve, C., limura, T. and Pourquie, O. (2002), 'Onset of the segmentation clock in the chick embryo: evidence for oscillations in the somite precursors in the primitive streak', Development, 129 (5), 1107-17.

Jouve, C., Palmeirim, I., Henrique, D., Beckers, J., Gossler, A., Ish-Horowicz, D. and Pourquié, O. (2000), 'Notch signalling is required for cyclic expression of the hairy-like gene HES1 in the presomitic mesoderm', Development, 127 (7), 1421-9.

Juan, A. H. and Ruddle, F. H. (2003), 'Enhancer timing of Hox gene expression: deletion of the endogenous Hoxc8 early enhancer', Development, 130 (20), 4823-34.

Kaehn, K., Jacob, H. J., Christ, B., Hinrichsen, K. and Poelmann, R. E. (1988), 'The onset of myotome formation in the chick', Anat Embryol (Berl), 177 (3), 191-201.

Kageyama, R., Niwa, Y. and Shimojo, H. (2009), 'Rhythmic gene expression in somite formation and neural development', Mol Cells, 27 (5), 497-502.

Kahane, N., Cinnamon, Y. and Kalcheim, C. (1998), 'The cellular mechanism by which the dermomyotome contributes to the second wave of myotome development', Development, 125 (21), 4259-71.

Kahane, N., Cinnamon, Y. and Kalcheim, C. (2002), 'The roles of cell migration and myofiber intercalation in patterning formation of the postmitotic myotome', Development, 129 (11), 2675-87.

Kalcheim, C., Kahane, N., Cinnamon, Y. and Ben-Yair, R. (2006), 'Mechanisms of lineage segregation in the avian dermomyotome', Anat Embryol (Berl), 211 Suppl 1, 31-6.

Kato, N. and Aoyama, H. (1998), 'Dermomyotomal origin of the ribs as revealed by extirpation and transplantation experiments in chick and quail embryos', Development, 125 (17), 3437-43.

Kawabata, M., Imamura, T. and Miyazono, K. (1998), 'Signal transduction by bone morphogenetic proteins', Cytokine Growth Factor Rev, 9 (1), 49-61.

Kawamura, A., Koshida, S., Hijikata, H., Ohbayashi, A., Kondoh, H. and Takada, S. (2005), 'Groucho-associated transcriptional repressor ripply1 is required for proper transition from the presomitic mesoderm to somites', Dev Cell, 9 (6), 735-44.

Kazama, A., Karashima, A., Katayama, N. and Nakao, M. (2009), 'Modeling of segmentation clock mechanism in presomitic mesoderm', Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc, 2009, 3267-70.

Kerszberg, M. and Wolpert, L. (2000), 'A clock and trail model for somite formation, specialization and polarization', J Theor Biol, 205 (3), 505-10.

Kessel, M. and Gruss, P. (1990), 'Murine developmental control genes', Science, 249 (4967), 374-9.

Kessel, M. and Gruss, P. (1991), 'Homeotic transformations of murine vertebrae and concomitant alteration of Hox codes induced by retinoic acid', Cell, 67 (1), 89-104.

Keynes, R. J. (1988), 'Mechanisms of vertebrate segmentation', Development, 103 (3), 413-29.

Keynes, R. J. and Stern, C. D. (1988), 'The Development of Neural Segmentation in Vertebrate Embryos', The Making of the Nervous System (Oxford University Press), 84-100.

Keynes, R. J. and Stern, C. D. (1984), 'Segmentation in the vertebrate nervous system', Nature, 310 (5980), 786-9.

Kieny, M., Mauger, A. and Sengel, P. (1972), 'Early regionalization of somitic mesoderm as studied by the development of axial skeleton of the chick embryo', Dev Biol, 28 (1), 142-61.

Kimura, Y., Matsunami, H., Inoue, T., Shimamura, K., Uchida, N., Ueno, T., Miyazaki, T. and Takeichi, M. (1995), 'Cadherin-11 expressed in association with mesenchymal morphogenesis in the head, somite, and limb bud of early mouse embryos', Dev Biol, 169 (1), 347-58.

Kingsley, D. M. (1994), 'The TGF-beta superfamily: new members, new receptors, and new genetic tests of function in different organisms', Genes Dev, 8 (2), 133-46.

Krauss, S., Concordet, J. P. and Ingham, P. W. (1993), 'A functionally conserved homolog of the Drosophila segment polarity gene hh is expressed in tissues with polarizing activity in zebrafish embryos', Cell, 75 (7), 1431-44.

Krull, C. E., Lansford, R., Gale, N. W., Collazo, A., Marcelle, C., Yancopoulos, G. D., Fraser, S. E. and Bronner-Fraser, M. (1997), 'Interactions of Eph-related receptors and ligands confer rostrocaudal pattern to trunk neural crest migration', Curr Biol, 7 (8), 571-80.

Kuan, C. Y., Tannahill, D., Cook, G. M. and Keynes, R. J. (2004), 'Somite polarity and segmental patterning of the peripheral nervous system', Mech Dev, 121 (9), 1055-68.

Kulesa, P. M. and Fraser, S. E. (2002), 'Cell dynamics during somite boundary formation revealed by time-lapse analysis', Science, 298 (5595), 991-5.

Kulesa, P. M., Schnell, S., Rudloff, S., Baker, R. E. and Maini, P. K. (2007), 'From segment to somite: segmentation to epithelialization analyzed within quantitative frameworks', Dev Dyn, 236 (6), 1392-402.

Kurz, H., Gärtner, T., Eggli, P. S. and Christ, B. (1996), 'First blood vessels in the avian neural tube are formed by a combination of dorsal angioblast immigration and ventral sprouting of endothelial cells', Dev Biol, 173 (1), 133-47.

Lamb, T. M., Knecht, A. K., Smith, W. C., Stachel, S. E., Economides, A. N., Stahl, N., Yancopolous, G. D. and Harland, R. M. (1993), 'Neural induction by the secreted polypeptide noggin', Science, 262 (5134), 713-8.

Lance-Jones, C. (1988), 'The somitic level of origin of embryonic chick hindlimb muscles', Dev Biol, 126 (2), 394-407.

Lash, J. W., Seitz, A. W., Cheney, C. M. and Ostrovsky, D. (1984), 'On the role of fibronectin during the compaction stage of somitogenesis in the chick embryo', J Exp Zool, 232 (2), 197-206.

Lawrence, P. A. (1990), 'Developmental biology. Compartments in vertebrates?', Nature, 344 (6265), 382-3.

Le Douarin, N. M. (1969), '[Details of the interphase nucleus in Japanese quail (Coturnix coturnix japonica)]', Bull Biol Fr Belg, 103 (3), 435-52.

Le Douarin, N. M. (1973), 'A biological cell labeling technique and its use in experimental embryology', Dev Biol, 30 (1), 217-22.

Le Douarin, N. M., Dupin, E., Baroffio, A. and Dulac, C. (1992), 'New insights into the development of neural crest derivatives', Int Rev Cytol, 138, 269-314.

Leimeister, C., Dale, K., Fischer, A., Klamt, B., Hrabe de Angelis, M., Radtke, F., McGrew, M. J., Pourquié, O. and Gessler, M. (2000), 'Oscillating expression of c-Hey2 in the presomitic mesoderm suggests that the segmentation clock may use combinatorial signaling through multiple interacting bHLH factors', Dev Biol, 227 (1), 91-103.

Leimeister, C., Externbrink, A., Klamt, B. and Gessler, M. (1999), 'Hey genes: a novel subfamily of hairy- and Enhancer of split related genes specifically expressed during mouse embryogenesis', Mech Dev, 85 (1-2), 173-7. Lewis, E. B. (1978), 'A gene complex controlling segmentation in Drosophila', Nature, 276 (5688), 565-70.

Lewis, J. and Ozbudak, E. M. (2007), 'Deciphering the somite segmentation clock: beyond mutants and morphants', Dev Dyn, 236 (6), 1410-5.

Li, L., Cserjesi, P. and Olson, E. N. (1995), 'Dermo-1: a novel twistrelated bHLH protein expressed in the developing dermis', Dev Biol, 172 (1), 280-92.

Li, Y., Fenger, U., Niehrs, C. and Pollet, N. (2003), 'Cyclic expression of esr9 gene in Xenopus presomitic mesoderm', Differentiation, 71 (1), 83-9.

Liem, K. F. Jr., Tremml, G., Roelink, H. and Jessell, T. M. (1995), 'Dorsal differentiation of neural plate cells induced by BMP-mediated signals from epidermal ectoderm', Cell, 82 (6), 969-79.

Lim, T. M., Lunn, E. R., Keynes, R. J. and Stern, C. D. (1987), 'The differing effects of occipital and trunk somites on neural development in the chick embryo', Development, 100 (3), 525-33.

Linker, C., Lesbros, C., Gros, J., Burrus, L. W., Rawls, A. and Marcelle, C. (2005), 'beta-Catenin-dependent Wnt signalling controls the epithelial organisation of somites through the activation of paraxis', Development, 132 (17), 3895-905.

Lipton, B. H. and Jacobson, A. G. (1974), 'Analysis of normal somite development', Dev Biol, 38 (1), 73-90.

Love, J. M. and Tuan, R. S. (1993), 'Pair-rule gene expression in the somitic stage chick embryo: association with somite segmentation and border formation', Differentiation, 54 (2), 73-83.

Lyons, K. M., Jones, C. M. and Hogan, B. L. (1991), 'The DVR gene family in embryonic development', Trends Genet, 7 (11-12), 408-12.

Marcelle, C., Lesbros, C. and Linker, C. (2002), 'Somite patterning: a few more pieces of the puzzle', Results Probl Cell Differ, 38, 81-108.

Marcelle, C., Stark, M. R. and Bronner-Fraser, M. (1997), 'Coordinate actions of BMPs, Whts, Shh and noggin mediate patterning of the dorsal somite', Development, 124 (20), 3955-63.

Mariani, F. V. and Harland, R. M. (1998), 'XBF-2 is a transcriptional repressor that converts ectoderm into neural tissue', Development, 125 (24), 5019-31.

Maroto, M., Bone, R. A. and Dale, J. K. (2012), 'Somitogenesis', Development, 139 (14), 2453-6.

Maroto, M., Dale, J. K., Dequéant, M. L., Petit, A. C. and Pourquié, O. (2005), 'Synchronised cycling gene oscillations in presomitic mesoderm cells require cell-cell contact', Int J Dev Biol, 49 (2-3), 309-15.

Marti, E., Takada, R., Bumcrot, D. A., Sasaki, H. and McMahon, A. P. (1995), 'Distribution of Sonic hedgehog peptides in the developing chick and mouse embryo', Development, 121 (8), 2537-47.

Martins, G. G., Rifes, P., Amândio, R., Rodrigues, G., Palmeirim, I. and Thorsteinsdóttir, S. (2009), 'Dynamic 3D cell rearrangements

guided by a fibronectin matrix underlie somitogenesis', PLoS One, 4 (10), e7429.

McGinnis, W. and Krumlauf, R. (1992), 'Homeobox genes and axial patterning', Cell, 68 (2), 283-302.

McGrew, M. J., Dale, J. K., Fraboulet, S. and Pourquié, O. (1998), 'The lunatic fringe gene is a target of the molecular clock linked to somite segmentation in avian embryos', Curr Biol, 8 (17), 979-82.

McGrew, M. J., McGrew, M. J., Sherman, A., Ellard, F. M., Lillico, S. G., Gilhooley, H. J., Kingsman, A. J., Mitrophanous, K. A. and Sang, H. (2004), 'Efficient production of germline transgenic chickens using lentiviral vectors', EMBO Rep, 5 (7), 728-33.

McGrew, M. J., Sherman, A., Lillico, S. G., Ellard, F. M., Radcliffe, P. A., Gilhooley, H. J., Mitrophanous, K. A., Cambray, N., Wilson, V. and Sang, H. (2008), 'Localised axial progenitor cell populations in the avian tail bud are not committed to a posterior Hox identity', Development, 135 (13), 2289-99.

McMahon, J. A., Takada, S., Zimmerman, L. B., Fan, C. M., Harland, R. M. and McMahon, A. P. (1998), 'Noggin-mediated antagonism of BMP signaling is required for growth and patterning of the neural tube and somite', Genes Dev, 12 (10), 1438-52.

Meier, S. (1979), 'Development of the chick embryo mesoblast. Formation of the embryonic axis and establishment of the metameric pattern', Dev Biol, 73 (1), 24-45.

Meinhardt, H. (1982), 'Theory of regulatory functions of the genes in the bithorax complex', Prog Clin Biol Res, 85 Pt A, 337-48.

Meinhardt, H. (1986), 'Hierarchical inductions of cell states: a model for segmentation in Drosophila', J Cell Sci Suppl, 4, 357-81.

Minelli, A. and Peruffo, B. (1991), 'Developmental pathways, homology and homonomy in metameric animals', J of Evoluionary Biology, 4 (3), 429-45.

Mishina, Y., Suzuki, A., Ueno, N. and Behringer, R. R. (1995), 'Bmpr encodes a type I bone morphogenetic protein receptor that is essential for gastrulation during mouse embryogenesis', Genes Dev, 9 (24), 3027-37.

Mittapalli, V. R., Huang, R., Patel, K., Christ, B. and Scaal, M. (2005), 'Arthrotome: a specific joint forming compartment in the avian somite', Dev Dyn, 234 (1), 48-53.

Monsoro-Burq, A. H., Duprez, D., Watanabe, Y., Bontoux, M., Vincent, C., Brickell, P. and Le Douarin, N. (1996), 'The role of bone morphogenetic proteins in vertebral development', Development, 122 (11), 3607-16.

Monsoro-Burq, A. H. and Le Douarin, N. (2000), 'Duality of molecular signaling involved in vertebral chondrogenesis', Curr Top Dev Biol, 48, 43-75.

Morales, A. V., Acloque, H., Ocaña, O. H., de Frutos, C. A., Gold, V. and Nieto, M. A. (2007), 'Snail genes at the crossroads of symmetric and asymmetric processes in the developing mesoderm', EMBO Rep, 8 (1), 104-9.

Morelli, L. G., Ares, S., Herrgen, L., Schröter, C., Jülicher, F. and Oates, A. C. (2009), 'Delayed coupling theory of vertebrate segmentation', HFSP J, 3 (1), 55-66.

Moreno, T. A. and Kintner, C. (2004), 'Regulation of segmental patterning by retinoic acid signaling during Xenopus somitogenesis', Dev Cell, 6 (2), 205-18.

Morimoto, M., Takahashi, Y., Endo, M. and Saga, Y. (2005), 'The Mesp2 transcription factor establishes segmental borders by suppressing Notch activity', Nature, 435 (7040), 354-9.

Morimoto, M., Sasaki, N., Oginuma, M., Kiso, M., Igarashi, K., Aizaki, K., Kanno, J. and Saga, Y. (2007), 'The negative regulation of Mesp2 by mouse Ripply2 is required to establish the rostro-caudal patterning within a somite', Development, 134 (8), 1561-9.

Morin-Kensicki, E. M., Melancon, E. and Eisen, J. S. (2002), 'Segmental relationship between somites and vertebral column in zebrafish', Development, 129 (16), 3851-60.

Morriss-Kay, G. and Tucket, F. (1991), 'Early events in mammalian craniofacial morphogenesis', J Craniofac Genet Dev Biol, 11 (4), 181-91.

Muller, M., v Weizsacker, E. and Campos-Ortega, J. A. (1996), 'Expression domains of a zebrafish homologue of the Drosophila pair-rule gene hairy correspond to primordia of alternating somites', Development, 122 (7), 2071-8.

Muller, T. S., Ebensperger, C., Neubüser, A., Koseki, H., Balling, R., Christ, B. and Wilting, J. (1996), 'Expression of avian Pax1 and Pax9 is intrinsically regulated in the pharyngeal endoderm, but depends on environmental influences in the paraxial mesoderm', Dev Biol, 178 (2), 403-17.
Munsterberg, A. E., Kitajewski, J., Bumcrot, D. A., McMahon, A. P. and Lassar, A. B. (1995), 'Combinatorial signaling by Sonic hedgehog and Wnt family members induces myogenic bHLH gene expression in the somite', Genes Dev, 9 (23), 2911-22.

Munsterberg, A. E. and Lassar, A. B. (1995), 'Combinatorial signals from the neural tube, floor plate and notochord induce myogenic bHLH gene expression in the somite', Development, 121 (3), 651-60.

Murray, P. J., Maini, P. K. and Baker, R. E. (2011), 'The clock and wavefront model revisited', J Theor Biol, 283 (1), 227-38.

Nagai, H., Sezaki, M., Nakamura, H. and Sheng, G. (2014), 'Extending the limits of avian embryo culture with the modified Cornish pasty and whole-embryo transplantation methods', Methods, 66 (3), 441-6.

Naiche, L. A., Holder, N. and Lewandoski, M. (2011), 'FGF4 and FGF8 comprise the wavefront activity that controls somitogenesis', Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 108 (10), 4018-23.

Nakajima, Y., Morimoto, M., Takahashi, Y., Koseki, H. and Saga, Y. (2006), 'Identification of Epha4 enhancer required for segmental expression and the regulation by Mesp2', Development, 133 (13), 2517-25.

Nakamura, T., Takio, K., Eto, Y., Shibai, H., Titani, K. and Sugino, H. (1990), 'Activin-binding protein from rat ovary is follistatin', Science, 247 (4944), 836-8.

Nakaya, Y., Kuroda, S., Katagiri, Y. T., Kaibuchi, K. and Takahashi, Y. (2004), 'Mesenchymal-epithelial transition during somitic segmentation is regulated by differential roles of Cdc42 and Rac1', Dev Cell, 7 (3), 425-38.

Neubuser, A., Koseki, H. and Balling, R. (1995), 'Characterization and developmental expression of Pax9, a paired-box-containing gene related to Pax1', Dev Biol, 170 (2), 701-16.

New, D. A. T (1955), 'A new technique for the cultivation of the chick embryo in vitro ', J Embryol Exp Morphol, 3, 326-31.

Nickel, R., Schummer, A., Seiferle, E., Siller, W.G. and Wright, P. A. L. (1977), Anatomy of Domestic Birds (Springer-Verlag).

Nicolas, J. F., Mathis, L., Bonnerot, C. and Saurin, W. (1996), 'Evidence in the mouse for self-renewing stem cells in the formation of a segmented longitudinal structure, the myotome', Development, 122 (9), 2933-46.

Nicolet, G. (1965), '[Autoradiographic study of the fate of cells invaginating through Hensen's node in the chick embryo at the definitive streak stage]', Acta Embryol Morphol Exp, 8 (3), 213-20.

Nicolet, G. (1967), 'La choreographie d'invagination chez le Poulet. Etude a l'aide de la thymidine tritee', Experientia, 23, 576-77.

Nicolet, G. (1967), '[The chronology of invagination in chickens: study using tritiated thymidine]', Experientia, 23 (7), 576-7.

Nicolet, G. (1970), '[An autoradiographic study of the presumptive fate of the primitive streak in chick embryos]', J Embryol Exp Morphol, 23 (1), 70-108.

Nicolet, G. (1971), 'Avian gastrulation', Adv Morphog, 9, 231-62.

Niederreither, K., McCaffery, P., Dräger, U. C., Chambon, P. and Dollé, P. (1997), 'Restricted expression and retinoic acid-induced downregulation of the retinaldehyde dehydrogenase type 2 (RALDH-2) gene during mouse development', Mech Dev, 62 (1), 67-78.

Nimmagadda, S., Geetha Loganathan, P., Huang, R., Scaal, M., Schmidt, C. and Christ, B. (2005), 'BMP4 and noggin control embryonic blood vessel formation by antagonistic regulation of VEGFR-2 (Quek1) expression', Dev Biol, 280 (1), 100-10.

Niwa, Y., Masamizu, Y., Liu, T., Nakayama, R., Deng, C. X. and Kageyama, R. (2007), 'The initiation and propagation of Hes7 oscillation are cooperatively regulated by Fgf and notch signaling in the somite segmentation clock', Dev Cell, 13 (2), 298-304.

Noden, D. M. (1988), 'Interactions and fates of avian craniofacial mesenchyme', Development, 103 Suppl, 121-40.

Noden, D. M. (1991), 'Origins and patterning of avian outflow tract endocardium', Development, 111 (4), 867-76.

Nomura-Kitabayashi, A., Takahashi, Y., Kitajima, S., Inoue, T., Takeda, H. and Saga, Y. (2002), 'Hypomorphic Mesp allele distinguishes establishment of rostrocaudal polarity and segment border formation in somitogenesis', Development, 129 (10), 2473-81.

Nowicki, J. L. and Burke, A. C. (2000), 'Hox genes and morphological identity: axial versus lateral patterning in the vertebrate mesoderm', Development, 127 (19), 4265-75.

Nusslein-Volhard, C. and Wieschaus, E. (1980), 'Mutations affecting segment number and polarity in Drosophila', Nature, 287 (5785), 795-801.

Oates, A. C. and Ho, R. K. (2002), 'Hairy/E(spl)-related (Her) genes are central components of the segmentation oscillator and display redundancy with the Delta/Notch signaling pathway in the formation of anterior segmental boundaries in the zebrafish', Development, 129 (12), 2929-46.

Oates, A. C., Morelli, L. G. and Ares, S. (2012), 'Patterning embryos with oscillations: structure, function and dynamics of the vertebrate segmentation clock', Development, 139 (4), 625-39.

Oates, A. C., Mueller, C. and Ho, R. K. (2005), 'Cooperative function of deltaC and her7 in anterior segment formation', Dev Biol, 280 (1), 133-49.

Oginuma, M., Niwa, Y., Chapman, D. L. and Saga, Y. (2008), 'Mesp2 and Tbx6 cooperatively create periodic patterns coupled with the clock machinery during mouse somitogenesis', Development, 135 (15), 2555-62.

Oginuma, M., Takahashi, Y., Kitajima, S., Kiso, M., Kanno, J., Kimura, A. and Saga, Y. (2010), 'The oscillation of Notch activation, but not its boundary, is required for somite border formation and rostral-caudal patterning within a somite', Development, 137 (9), 1515-22.

Oka, C., Nakano, T., Wakeham, A., de la Pompa, J. L., Mori, C., Sakai, T., Okazaki, S., Kawaichi, M., Shiota, K., Mak, T. W. and Honjo, T. (1995), 'Disruption of the mouse RBP-J kappa gene results in early embryonic death', Development, 121 (10), 3291-301.

Olivera-Martinez, I., Coltey, M., Dhouailly, D. and Pourquié, O. (2000), 'Mediolateral somitic origin of ribs and dermis determined by quail-chick chimeras', Development, 127 (21), 4611-7.

Ordahl, C. (1993), 'Myogenic lineages within the developing somites.', in M. Bernsfield (ed.), Molecular basis of morphogenesis (New York: John Wiley and Sons), 165-76.

Ordahl, C. P., Berdougo, E., Venters, S. J., Denetclaw, W. F. Jr. (2001), 'The dermomyotome dorsomedial lip drives growth and morphogenesis of both the primary myotome and dermomyotome epithelium', Development, 128 (10), 1731-44.

Ordahl, C. P. and Le Douarin, N. M. (1992), 'Two myogenic lineages within the developing somite', Development, 114 (2), 339-53.

Ostrovsky, D., Cheney, C. M., Seitz, A. W. and Lash, J. W. (1983), 'Fibronectin distribution during somitogenesis in the chick embryo', Cell Differ, 13 (3), 217-23.

Ozbudak, E. M. and Lewis, J. (2008), 'Notch signalling synchronizes the zebrafish segmentation clock but is not needed to create somite boundaries', PLoS Genet, 4 (2), e15.

Packard, D. S., Jr. (1976), 'The influence of axial structures on chick somite formation', Dev Biol, 53 (1), 36-48.

Packard, D. S., Jr. (1980), 'Somite formation in cultured embryos of the snapping turtle. Chelydra serpentina', J Embryol Exp Morphol, 59, 113-30.

Packard, D. S., Jr. and Meier, S. (1983), 'An experimental study of the somitomeric organization of the avian segmental plate', Dev Biol, 97 (1), 191-202.

Paine-Saunders, S., Viviano, B. L., Economides, A. N. and Saunders, S. (2002), 'Heparan sulfate proteoglycans retain Noggin at the cell surface: a potential mechanism for shaping bone morphogenetic protein gradients', J Biol Chem, 277 (3), 2089-96.

Palmeirim, I., Dubrulle, J., Henrique, D., Ish-Horowicz, D. and Pourquié, O. (1998), 'Uncoupling segmentation and somitogenesis in the chick presomitic mesoderm', Dev Genet, 23 (1), 77-85.

Palmeirim, I., Henrique, D., Ish-Horowicz, D. and Pourquié, O. (1997), 'Avian hairy gene expression identifies a molecular clock linked to vertebrate segmentation and somitogenesis', Cell, 91 (5), 639-48.

Palmer, A. and Klein, R. (2003), 'Multiple roles of ephrins in morphogenesis, neuronal networking, and brain function', Genes Dev, 17 (12), 1429-50.

Pannett, C.A. and Compton, A. (1924), 'The cultivation of tissues in saline embryonic juice', Lancet, 206, 381-84.

Pearce, J. J., Penny, G. and Rossant, J. (1999), 'A mouse cerberus/Dan-related gene family', Dev Biol, 209 (1), 98-110.

Peters, H., Doll, U. and Niessing, J. (1995), 'Differential expression of the chicken Pax-1 and Pax-9 gene: in situ hybridization and immunohistochemical analysis', Dev Dyn, 203 (1), 1-16.

Peters, H., Wilm, B., Sakai, N., Imai, K., Maas, R. and Balling, R. (1999), 'Pax1 and Pax9 synergistically regulate vertebral column development', Development, 126 (23), 5399-408.

Piccolo, S., Agius, E., Leyns, L., Bhattacharyya, S., Grunz, H., Bouwmeester, T. and De Robertis, E. M. (1999), 'The head inducer Cerberus is a multifunctional antagonist of Nodal, BMP and Wnt signals', Nature, 397 (6721), 707-10.

Piccolo, S., Sasai, Y., Lu, B. and De Robertis, E. M. (1996), 'Dorsoventral patterning in Xenopus: inhibition of ventral signals by direct binding of chordin to BMP-4', Cell, 86 (4), 589-98.

Pourquie, O. (2000), 'Vertebrate segmentation: is cycling the rule?', Curr Opin Cell Biol, 12 (6), 747-51.

Pourquie, O. (2003), 'Vertebrate somitogenesis: a novel paradigm for animal segmentation?', Int J Dev Biol, 47 (7-8), 597-603.

Pourquie, O. (2004), 'The chick embryo: a leading model in somitogenesis studies', Mech Dev, 121 (9), 1069-79.

Pourquie, O., Coltey, M., Bréant, C. and Le Douarin, N. M. (1995), 'Control of somite patterning by signals from the lateral plate', Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 92 (8), 3219-23.

Pourquie, O., Coltey, M., Teillet, M. A., Ordahl, C., Le Douarin, N. M. (1993), 'Control of dorsoventral patterning of somitic derivatives by notochord and floor plate', Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 90 (11), 5242-6.

Pourquie, O., Fan, C. M., Coltey, M., Hirsinger, E., Watanabe, Y., Bréant, C., Francis-West, P., Brickell, P., Tessier-Lavigne, M. and Le Douarin, N. M. (1996), 'Lateral and axial signals involved in avian somite patterning: a role for BMP4', Cell, 84 (3), 461-71.

Pourquie, O. and Kusumi, K. (2001), 'When body segmentation goes wrong', Clin Genet, 60 (6), 409-16.

Primmett, D. R., Norris, W. E., Carlson, G. J., Keynes, R. J. and Stern, C. D. (1989), 'Periodic segmental anomalies induced by heat shock in the chick embryo are associated with the cell cycle', Development, 105 (1), 119-30.

Primmett, D. R., Stern, C. D. and Keynes, R. J. (1988), 'Heat shock causes repeated segmental anomalies in the chick embryo', Development, 104 (2), 331-9.

Psychoyos, D. and Stern, C. D. (1996), 'Fates and migratory routes of primitive streak cells in the chick embryo', Development, 122 (5), 1523-34.

Radice, G. L., Rayburn, H., Matsunami, H., Knudsen, K. A., Takeichi, M., Hynes, R. O. (1997), 'Developmental defects in mouse embryos lacking N-cadherin', Dev Biol, 181 (1), 64-78.

Raff, R. A. (1996), The Shape of Life: Genes, Development, and the Evolution of Animal Form (University of Chicago Press).

Ranscht, B. and Bronner-Fraser, M. (1991), 'T-cadherin expression alternates with migrating neural crest cells in the trunk of the avian embryo', Development, 111 (1), 15-22.

Re'em-Kalma, Y., Lamb, T. and Frank, D. (1995), 'Competition between noggin and bone morphogenetic protein 4 activities may regulate dorsalization during Xenopus development', Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 92 (26), 12141-5.

Remak, R. (1850), 'Untersuchungen uber die Entwicklung der Wirbelthiere', Reimer, Berlin.

Resende, T. P., Ferreira, M., Teillet, M. A., Tavares, A. T., Andrade, R. P. and Palmeirim, I. (2010), 'Sonic hedgehog in temporal control of somite formation', Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 107 (29), 12907-12.

Reshef, R., Maroto, M. and Lassar, A. B. (1998), 'Regulation of dorsal somitic cell fates: BMPs and Noggin control the timing and pattern of myogenic regulator expression', Genes Dev, 12 (3), 290-303.

Revel, J. P., Yip, P. and Chang, L. L. (1973), 'Cell junctions in the early chick embryo--a freeze etch study', Dev Biol, 35 (2), 302-17.

Richardson, M. K., Allen, S. P., Wright, G. M., Raynaud, A. and Hanken, J. (1998), 'Somite number and vertebrate evolution', Development, 125 (2), 151-60.

Rickmann, M., Fawcett, J. W. and Keynes, R. J. (1985), 'The migration of neural crest cells and the growth of motor axons through the rostral half of the chick somite', J Embryol Exp Morphol, 90, 437-55.

Riddle, R. D., Johnson, R. L., Laufer, E. and Tabin, C. (1993), 'Sonic hedgehog mediates the polarizing activity of the ZPA', Cell, 75 (7), 1401-16.

Ridley, A. J., Schwartz, M. A., Burridge, K., Firtel, R. A., Ginsberg, M. H., Borisy, G., Parsons, J. T. and Horwitz, A. R. (2003), 'Cell migration: integrating signals from front to back', Science, 302 (5651), 1704-9.

Rifes, P., Carvalho, L., Lopes, C., Andrade, R. P., Rodrigues, G., Palmeirim, I. and Thorsteinsdóttir, S. (2007), 'Redefining the role of ectoderm in somitogenesis: a player in the formation of the fibronectin matrix of presomitic mesoderm', Development, 134 (17), 3155-65.

Roberts, D. J., Johnson, R. L., Burke, A. C., Nelson, C. E., Morgan, B. A. and Tabin, C. (1995), 'Sonic hedgehog is an endodermal signal inducing Bmp-4 and Hox genes during induction and regionalization of the chick hindgut', Development, 121 (10), 3163-74.

Rodrigues, S., Santos, J. and Palmeirim, I. (2006), 'Molecular characterization of the rostral-most somites in early somitic stages of the chick embryo', Gene Expr Patterns, 6 (7), 673-7.

Rodriguez-Niedenfuhr, M., Dathe, V., Jacob, H. J., Pröls, F. and Christ, B. (2003), 'Spatial and temporal pattern of Wnt-6 expression during chick development', Anat Embryol (Berl), 206 (6), 447-51.

Roehl, H. and Nusslein-Volhard, C. (2001), 'Zebrafish pea3 and erm are general targets of FGF8 signaling', Curr Biol, 11 (7), 503-7.

Rong, P. M., Teillet, M.A., Ziller, C. and Le Douarin, N. M. (1992), 'The neural tube/notochord complex is necessary for vertebral but not limb and body wall striated muscle differentiation', Development, 115 (3), 657-72.

Rosenquist, G. C. (1966), 'A radioautographic study of labelled grafts in the chick blastoderm. Development from primitive-streak stages to stag 12. ', Contrib. Embryo. Carnegie Inst. Wash., 38, 71-110.

Rosenquist, G. C. (1970), 'Location and movements of cardiogenic cells in the chick embryo: the heart-forming portion of the primitive streak', Dev Biol, 22 (3), 461-75.

Rosenquist, G. C. (1972), 'Endoderm movements in the chick embryo between the early short streak and head process stages', J Exp Zool, 180 (1), 95-103.

Rosenquist, G. C. (1983), 'The chorda center in Hensen's node of the chick embryo', Anat Rec, 207 (2), 349-55.

Rosenquist, G. C. (1983), 'The chorda center in Hensen's node of the chick embryo', Anat Rec, 207 (2), 349-55.

Rossant, J., Zirngibl, R., Cado, D., Shago, M. and Giguère, V. (1991), 'Expression of a retinoic acid response element-hsplacZ transgene defines specific domains of transcriptional activity during mouse embryogenesis', Genes Dev, 5 (8), 1333-44.

Roy, M. N., Prince, V. E. and Ho, R. K. (1999), 'Heat shock produces periodic somitic disturbances in the zebrafish embryo', Mech Dev, 85 (1-2), 27-34.

Saga, Y. (2007), 'Segmental border is defined by the key transcription factor Mesp2, by means of the suppression of Notch activity', Dev Dyn, 236 (6), 1450-5.

Saga, Y., Hata, N., Koseki, H. and Taketo, M. M. (1997), 'Mesp2: a novel mouse gene expressed in the presegmented mesoderm and essential for segmentation initiation', Genes Dev, 11 (14), 1827-39.

Saga, Y. and Takeda, H. (2001), 'The making of the somite: molecular events in vertebrate segmentation', Nat Rev Genet, 2 (11), 835-45.

Sakai, Y., Meno, C., Fujii, H., Nishino, J., Shiratori, H., Saijoh, Y., Rossant, J. and Hamada, H. (2001), 'The retinoic acid-inactivating enzyme CYP26 is essential for establishing an uneven distribution of retinoic acid along the anterio-posterior axis within the mouse embryo', Genes Dev, 15 (2), 213-25.

Sakamoto, K., Yan, L., Imai, H., Takagi, M., Nabeshima, Y., Takeda, S. and Katsube, K. (1997), 'Identification of a chick homologue of Fringe and C-Fringe 1: involvement in the neurogenesis and the somitogenesis', Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 234 (3), 754-9.

Sambrook, J., Fritsch, E.D. and Maniatis, T (1989), Molecular Cloniing: A Laboratory Manual (Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press).

Sander, K (1983), THe evolution of patterning mechanisms: gleanings from insect embryogenesis and spermatogenesis in Development and Evolution (Cambridge University Press).

Santillan, M. and Mackey, M. C. (2008), 'A proposed mechanism for the interaction of the segmentation clock and the determination front in somitogenesis', PLoS One, 3 (2), e1561.

Sasaki, N., Kiso, M., Kitagawa, M. and Saga, Y. (2011), 'The repression of Notch signaling occurs via the destabilization of

mastermind-like 1 by Mesp2 and is essential for somitogenesis', Development, 138 (1), 55-64.

Sato, Y., Yasuda, K. and Takahashi, Y. (2002), 'Morphological boundary forms by a novel inductive event mediated by Lunatic fringe and Notch during somitic segmentation', Development, 129 (15), 3633-44.

Saude, L., Lourenço, R., Gonçalves, A. and Palmeirim, I. (2005), 'terra is a left-right asymmetry gene required for left-right synchronization of the segmentation clock', Nat Cell Biol, 7 (9), 918-20.

Savagner, P., Yamada, K. M. and Thiery, J. P. (1997), 'The zincfinger protein slug causes desmosome dissociation, an initial and necessary step for growth factor-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition', J Cell Biol, 137 (6), 1403-19.

Sawada, A., Fritz, A., Jiang, Y. J., Yamamoto, A., Yamasu, K., Kuroiwa, A., Saga, Y. and Takeda, H. (2000), 'Zebrafish Mesp family genes, mesp-a and mesp-b are segmentally expressed in the presomitic mesoderm, and Mesp-b confers the anterior identity to the developing somites', Development, 127 (8), 1691-702.

Scaal, M. and Christ, B. (2004), 'Formation and differentation of the avian dermomyotome', Anat Embryol 208, 411-24.

Scaal, M., Fuchtbauer, E. M. and Brand-Saberi, B. (2001), 'cDermo-1 expression indicates a role in avian skin development', Anat Embryol (Berl), 203 (1), 1-7.

Scaal, M., Gros, J., Lesbros, C. and Marcelle, C. (2004), 'In ovo electroporation of avian somites', Dev Dyn, 229 (3), 643-50.

Schmidt, C., Bladt, F., Goedecke, S., Brinkmann, V., Zschiesche, W., Sharpe, M., Gherardi, E. and Birchmeier, C. (1995), 'Scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor is essential for liver development', Nature, 373 (6516), 699-702.

Schmidt, C., Christ, B., Maden, M., Brand-Saberi, B. and Patel, K. (2001), 'Regulation of Epha4 expression in paraxial and lateral plate mesoderm by ectoderm-derived signals', Dev Dyn, 220 (4), 377-86.

Schmidt, C., Stoeckelhuber, M., McKinnell, I., Putz, R., Christ, B. and Patel, K. (2004), 'Wnt 6 regulates the epithelialisation process of the segmental plate mesoderm leading to somite formation', Dev Biol, 271 (1), 198-209.

Schnell, S. and Maini, P. K. (2000), 'Clock and induction model for somitogenesis', Dev Dyn, 217 (4), 415-20.

Schock, F. and Perrimon, N. (2002), 'Cellular processes associated with germ band retraction in Drosophila', Dev Biol, 248 (1), 29-39.

Schoenwolf, G. C., Garcia-Martinez, V. and Dias, M. S. (1992), 'Mesoderm movement and fate during avian gastrulation and neurulation', Dev Dyn, 193 (3), 235-48.

Schragle, J., Huang, R., Christ, B. and Pröls, F. (2004), 'Control of the temporal and spatial Uncx4.1 expression in the paraxial mesoderm of avian embryos', Anat Embryol (Berl), 208 (4), 323-32.

Schramm, C. and Solursh, M. (1990), 'The formation of premuscle masses during chick wing bud development', Anat Embryol (Berl), 182 (3), 235-47.

Schroter, C., Ares, S., Morelli, L. G., Isakova, A., Hens, K., Soroldoni, D., Gajewski, M., Jülicher, F., Maerkl, S. J., Deplancke, B. and Oates, A. C. (2012), 'Topology and dynamics of the zebrafish segmentation clock core circuit', PLoS Biol, 10 (7), e1001364.

Schroter, C., Herrgen, L., Cardona, A., Brouhard, G. J., Feldman, B. and Oates, A. C. (2008), 'Dynamics of zebrafish somitogenesis', Dev Dyn, 237 (3), 545-53.

Schroter, C. and Oates, A. C. (2010), 'Segment number and axial identity in a segmentation clock period mutant', Curr Biol, 20 (14), 1254-8.

Sefton, M., Sanchez, S. and Nieto, M. A. (1998), 'Conserved and divergent roles for members of the Snail family of transcription factors in the chick and mouse embryo', Development, 125 (16), 3111-21.

Sela-Donenfeld, D. and Kalcheim, C. (2000), 'Inhibition of noggin expression in the dorsal neural tube by somitogenesis: a mechanism for coordinating the timing of neural crest emigration', Development, 127 (22), 4845-54.

Sela-Donenfeld, D. and Kalcheim, C. (2002), 'Localized BMP4noggin interactions generate the dynamic patterning of noggin expression in somites', Dev Biol, 246 (2), 311-28.

Selleck, M. A. and Bronner-Fraser, M. (1995), 'Origins of the avian neural crest: the role of neural plate-epidermal interactions', Development, 121 (2), 525-38.

Selleck, M. A. J. and Stern, C. D. (1991), 'Fate mapping and cell lineage analysis of Hensen's node in the chick embryo', Development, 112 (2), 615-26.

Selleck, M. A. J. and Stern, C.D. (1992), 'Commitment of mesoderm cells in Hensen's node in the chick embryo', 114, 403-15.

Sen, S., Ghosh, P., Riaz, S. S. and Ray, D. S. (2010), 'Spatial periodicity induced by a chemical wave train', Phys Rev E Stat Nonlin Soft Matter Phys, 81 (1 Pt 2), 017101.

Settleman, J. (2001), 'Rac 'n Rho: the music that shapes a developing embryo', Dev Cell, 1 (3), 321-31.

Sewell, W., Sparrow, D. B., Smith, A. J., Gonzalez, D. M., Rappaport, E. F., Dunwoodie, S. L. and Kusumi, K. (2009), 'Cyclical expression of the Notch/Wnt regulator Nrarp requires modulation by Dll3 in somitogenesis', Dev Biol, 329 (2), 400-9.

Shashikant, C. S., Utset, M. F., Violette, S. M., Wise, T. L., Einat, P., Einat, M., Pendleton, J. W., Schughart, K. and Ruddle, F. H. (1991), 'Homeobox genes in mouse development', Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr, 1 (3), 207-45.

Sheeba, C. J., Palmeirim, I. and Andrade, R. P. (2012), 'Retinoic acid signaling regulates embryonic clock hairy2 gene expression in the developing chick limb', Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 423 (4), 889-94.

Shen, J., Bronson, R. T., Chen, D. F., Xia, W., Selkoe, D. J. and Tonegawa, S. (1997), 'Skeletal and CNS defects in Presenilin-1-deficient mice', Cell, 89 (4), 629-39.

Skuntz, S., Mankoo, B., Nguyen, M. T., Hustert, E., Nakayama, A., Tournier-Lasserve, E., Wright, C. V., Pachnis, V., Bharti, K. and Arnheiter, H. (2009), 'Lack of the mesodermal homeodomain protein MEOX1 disrupts sclerotome polarity and leads to a remodeling of the cranio-cervical joints of the axial skeleton', Dev Biol, 332 (2), 383-95.

Smith, W. C. and Harland, R. M. (1992), 'Expression cloning of noggin, a new dorsalizing factor localized to the Spemann organizer in Xenopus embryos', Cell, 70 (5), 829-40.

Snapper, S. B., Takeshima, F., Antón, I., Liu, C. H., Thomas, S. M., Nguyen, D., Dudley, D., Fraser, H., Purich, D., Lopez-Ilasaca, M., Klein, C., Davidson, L., Bronson, R., Mulligan, R. C., Southwick, F., Geha, R., Goldberg, M. B., Rosen, F. S., Hartwig, J. H. and Alt, F. W. (2001), 'N-WASP deficiency reveals distinct pathways for cell surface projections and microbial actin-based motility', Nat Cell Biol, 3 (10), 897-904.

Solursh, M., Drake, C. and Meier, S. (1987), 'The migration of myogenic cells from the somites at the wing level in avian embryos', Dev Biol, 121 (2), 389-96.

Solursh, M., Fisher, M., Meier, S. and Singley, C. T. (1979), 'The role of extracellular matrix in the formation of the sclerotome', J Embryol Exp Morphol, 54, 75-98.

Sosic, D., Brand-Saberi, B., Schmidt, C., Christ, B. and Olson, E. N. (1997), 'Regulation of paraxis expression and somite formation by ectoderm- and neural tube-derived signals', Dev Biol, 185 (2), 229-43.

Sparrow, D. B., Chapman, G., Smith, A. J., Mattar, M. Z., Major, J. A., O'Reilly, V. C., Saga, Y., Zackai, E. H., Dormans, J. P., Alman, B. A., McGregor, L., Kageyama, R., Kusumi, K. and Dunwoodie, S. L.

(2012), 'A mechanism for gene-environment interaction in the etiology of congenital scoliosis', Cell, 149 (2), 295-306.

Spence, M. S., Yip, J. and Erickson, C. A. (1996), 'The dorsal neural tube organizes the dermamyotome and induces axial myocytes in the avian embryo', Development, 122 (1), 231-41.

Spratt, N. T., Jr. (1957), 'Analysis of the organizer center in the early chick embryo. II. Studies of the mechanics of notochord elongation and somite formation', J Exp Zool, 134 (3), 577-612.

Spratt, N. T., Jr. and Condon, L. (1947), 'Localization of prospective chorda and somite mesoderm during regression of the primitive streak in the chick blastoderm', Anat Rec, 99 (4), 653.

Stafford, D. A., Brunet, L. J., Khokha, M. K., Economides, A. N. and Harland, R. M. (2011), 'Cooperative activity of noggin and gremlin 1 in axial skeleton development', Development, 138 (5), 1005-14.

Stanley, E., Biben, C., Kotecha, S., Fabri, L., Tajbakhsh, S., Wang, C. C., Hatzistavrou, T., Roberts, B., Drinkwater, C., Lah, M., Buckingham, M., Hilton, D., Nash, A., Mohun, T. and Harvey, R. P. (1998), 'DAN is a secreted glycoprotein related to Xenopus cerberus', Mech Dev, 77 (2), 173-84.

Stauber, M., Sachidanandan, C., Morgenstern, C. and Ish-Horowicz, D. (2009), 'Differential axial requirements for lunatic fringe and Hes7 transcription during mouse somitogenesis', PLoS One, 4 (11), e7996.

Stern, C. D. (1998), 'Detection of multiple gene products simultaneously by in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry in whole mounts of avian embryos', Curr Top Dev Biol, 36, 223-43.

Stern, C. D. (2005), 'The chick; a great model system becomes even greater', Dev Cell, 8 (1), 9-17.

Stern, C. D. and Bachvarova, R. (1997), 'Early chick embryos in vitro', Int J Dev Biol, 41 (2), 379-87.

Stern, C. D. and Bellairs, R. (1984), 'Mitotic activity during somite segmentation in the early chick embryo', Anat Embryol (Berl), 169 (1), 97-102.

Stern, C. D., Charité, J., Deschamps, J., Duboule, D., Durston, A. J., Kmita, M., Nicolas, J. F., Palmeirim, I., Smith, J. C. and Wolpert, L. (2006), 'Head-tail patterning of the vertebrate embryo: one, two or many unresolved problems?', Int J Dev Biol, 50 (1), 3-15.

Stern, C. D., Fraser, S. E., Keynes, R. J. and Primmett, D. R. N. (1988), 'A cell lineage analysis of segmentation in the chick embryo', Development, 104 Suppl, 231-44.

Stern, C. D. and Ireland, G. W. (1981), 'An integrated experimental study of endoderm formation in avian embryos', Anat Embryol (Berl), 163 (3), 245-63.

Stern, C. D. and Piatkowska, A. M. (2015), 'Multiple roles of timing in somite formation', Semin Cell Dev Biol, 42, 134-9.

Stern, C. D., Sisodiya, S. M. and Keynes, R. J. (1986), 'Interactions between neurites and somite cells: inhibition and stimulation of nerve growth in the chick embryo', J Embryol Exp Morphol, 91, 209-26.

Stern, C. D. and Vasiliauskas, D. (1998), 'Clocked gene expression in somite formation', Bioessays, 20 (7), 528-31.

Stern, H. M. and Hauschka, S. D. (1995), 'Neural tube and notochord promote in vitro myogenesis in single somite explants', Dev Biol, 167 (1), 87-103.

Sternad, D. and Schaal, S. (1999), 'Segmentation of endpoint trajectories does not imply segmented control', Exp Brain Res, 124 (1), 118-36.

Stolte, D., Huang, R. and Christ, B. (2002), 'Spatial and temporal pattern of Fgf-8 expression during chicken development', Anat Embryol (Berl), 205 (1), 1-6.

Storey, K. G., Crossley, J. M., De Robertis, E. M., Norris, W. E. and Stern, C. D. (1992), 'Neural induction and regionalisation in the chick embryo', Development, 114 (3), 729-41.

Streit, A., Lee, K. J., Woo, I., Roberts, C., Jessell, T. M. and Stern, C. D. (1998), 'Chordin regulates primitive streak development and the stability of induced neural cells, but is not sufficient for neural induction in the chick embryo', Development, 125 (3), 507-19.

Streit, A. and Stern, C. D. (1999), 'Mesoderm patterning and somite formation during node regression: differential effects of chordin and noggin', Mech Dev, 85 (1-2), 85-96.

Streit, A. and Stern, C. D. (2001), 'Combined whole-mount in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry in avian embryos', Methods, 23 (4), 339-44.

Sugihara, K., Nakatsuji, N., Nakamura, K., Nakao, K., Hashimoto, R., Otani, H., Sakagami, H., Kondo, H., Nozawa, S., Aiba, A. and

Katsuki, M. (1998), 'Rac1 is required for the formation of three germ layers during gastrulation', Oncogene, 17 (26), 3427-33.

Suriben, R., Fisher, D. A. and Cheyette, B. N. (2006), 'Dact1 presomitic mesoderm expression oscillates in phase with Axin2 in the somitogenesis clock of mice', Dev Dyn, 235 (11), 3177-83.

Takahashi, Y., Inoue, T., Gossler, A. and Saga, Y. (2003), 'Feedback loops comprising DII1, DII3 and Mesp2, and differential involvement of Psen1 are essential for rostrocaudal patterning of somites', Development, 130 (18), 4259-68.

Takahashi, Y. and Sato, Y. (2008), 'Somitogenesis as a model to study the formation of morphological boundaries and cell epithelialization', Dev Growth Differ, 50 Suppl 1, S149-55.

Takahashi, Y., Tonegawa, A., Matsumoto, K., Ueno, N., Kuroiwa, A., Noda, M. and Nifuji, A. (1996), 'BMP-4 mediates interacting signals between the neural tube and skin along the dorsal midline', Genes Cells, 1 (8), 775-83.

Takashima, Y., Ohtsuka, T., González, A., Miyachi, H. and Kageyama, R. (2011), 'Intronic delay is essential for oscillatory expression in the segmentation clock', Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 108 (8), 3300-5.

Takeichi, M. (1988), 'The cadherins: cell-cell adhesion molecules controlling animal morphogenesis', Development, 102 (4), 639-55.

Tam, P. P. (1981), 'The control of somitogenesis in mouse embryos', J Embryol Exp Morphol, 65 Suppl, 103-28.

Tam, P. P. and Tan, S. S. (1992), 'The somitogenetic potential of cells in the primitive streak and the tail bud of the organogenesis-stage mouse embryo', Development, 115 (3), 703-15.

Tam, P. P. and Trainor, P. A. (1994), 'Specification and segmentation of the paraxial mesoderm', Anat Embryol (Berl), 189 (4), 275-305.

Tan, S. S., Crossin, K. L., Hoffman, S. and Edelman, G. M. (1987), 'Asymmetric expression in somites of cytotactin and its proteoglycan ligand is correlated with neural crest cell distribution', Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 84 (22), 7977-81.

Tanaka, M. and Tickle, C. (2004), 'Tbx18 and boundary formation in chick somite and wing development', Dev Biol, 268 (2), 470-80.

Teillet, M. A., Kalcheim, C. and Le Douarin, N. M. (1987), 'Formation of the dorsal root ganglia in the avian embryo: segmental origin and migratory behavior of neural crest progenitor cells', Dev Biol, 120 (2), 329-47.

Teillet, M. A., Lapointe, F. and Le Douarin, N. M. (1998), 'The relationships between notochord and floor plate in vertebrate development revisited', Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 95 (20), 11733-8.

Teillet, M. A. and Le Douarin, N. M. (1983), 'Consequences of neural tube and notochord excision on the development of the peripheral nervous system in the chick embryo', Dev Biol, 98 (1), 192-211.

Teillet, M. A. and Le Douarin, N. M. (1983), 'Consequences of neural tube and notochord excision on the development of the peripheral nervous system in the chick embryo', Dev Biol, 98 (1), 192-211.

Theis, S., Patel, K., Valasek, P., Otto, A., Pu, Q., Harel, I., Tzahor, E., Tajbakhsh, S., Christ, B. and Huang, R. (2010), 'The occipital lateral plate mesoderm is a novel source for vertebrate neck musculature', Development, 137 (17), 2961-71.

Thiery, J. P., Duband, J. L. and Delouvee, A. (1982), 'Pathways and mechanisms of avian trunk neural crest cell migration and localization', Dev Biol, 93 (2), 324-43.

Tonegawa, A., Funayama, N., Ueno, N. and Takahashi, Y. (1997), 'Mesodermal subdivision along the mediolateral axis in chicken controlled by different concentrations of BMP-4', Development, 124 (10), 1975-84.

Tonegawa, A. and Takahashi, Y. (1998), 'Somitogenesis controlled by Noggin', Dev Biol, 202 (2), 172-82.

Toporsian, M., Jerkic, M., Zhou, Y. Q., Kabir, M. G., Yu, L. X., McIntyre, B. A., Davis, A., Wang, Y. J., Stewart, D. J., Belik, J., Husain, M., Henkelman, M. and Letarte, M. (2010), 'Spontaneous adult-onset pulmonary arterial hypertension attributable to increased endothelial oxidative stress in a murine model of hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia', Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 30 (3), 509-17.

Tosney, K. W. (1988), 'Somites and axon guidance', Scanning Microsc, 2 (1), 427-42.

Trelstad, R. L. (1977), 'Mesenchymal cell polarity and morphogenesis of chick cartilage', Dev Biol, 59 (2), 153-63.

Trelstad, R. L., Hay, E. D. and Revel, J. D. (1967), 'Cell contact during early morphogenesis in the chick embryo', Dev Biol, 16 (1), 78-106.

Tzouanacou, E., Wegener, A., Wymeersch, F. J., Wilson, V. and Nicolas, J. F. (2009), 'Redefining the progression of lineage segregations during mammalian embryogenesis by clonal analysis', Dev Cell, 17 (3), 365-76.

Urist, M. R., Mikulski, A. and Lietze, A. (1979), 'Solubilized and insolubilized bone morphogenetic protein', Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 76 (4), 1828-32.

Van Aelst, L. and Symons, M. (2002), 'Role of Rho family GTPases in epithelial morphogenesis', Genes Dev, 16 (9), 1032-54.

Vasiliauskas, D., Hancock, S. and Stern, C. D. (1999), 'SWiP-1: novel SOCS box containing WD-protein regulated by signalling centres and by Shh during development', Mech Dev, 82 (1-2), 79-94.

Veini, M. and Bellairs, R. (1991), 'Early mesoderm differentiation in the chick embryo', Anat Embryol (Berl), 183 (2), 143-9.

Venters, S. J., Hultner, M. L. and Ordahl, C. P. (2008), 'Somite cell cycle analysis using somite-staging to measure intrinsic developmental time', Dev Dyn, 237 (2), 377-92.

Vermot, J. and Pourquie, O. (2005), 'Retinoic acid coordinates somitogenesis and left-right patterning in vertebrate embryos', Nature, 435 (7039), 215-20.

Vilhais-Neto, G. C., Maruhashi, M., Smith, K. T., Vasseur-Cognet, M., Peterson, A. S., Workman, J. L. and Pourquié, O. (2010), 'Rere controls retinoic acid signalling and somite bilateral symmetry', Nature, 463 (7283), 953-7.

Voiculescu, O., Bodenstein, L., Lau, I. J., Stern, C. D. (2014), 'Local cell interactions and self-amplifying individual cell ingression drive amniote gastrulation', Elife, 3, e01817.

Voiculescu, O., Papanayotou, C. and Stern, C. D. (2008), 'Spatially and temporally controlled electroporation of early chick embryos', Nat Protoc, 3 (3), 419-26.

von Baer, K.E. (1828), 'Entwickelungsgerchichte der Thiene Beobachtung und Reflexion Borntnagen', Konigsberg.

von der Hardt, S., Bakkers, J., Inbal, A., Carvalho, L., Solnica-Krezel, L., Heisenberg, C. P. and Hammerschmidt, M. (2007), 'The Bmp gradient of the zebrafish gastrula guides migrating lateral cells by regulating cell-cell adhesion', Curr Biol, 17 (6), 475-87.

Wachtler, F. and Christ, B. (1992), 'The basic embryology of skeletal muscle formation in vertebrates: the avian model', Semin Cell Dev Biol, 3, 217-27.

Wachtler, F., Christ, B. and Jacob, H. J. (1981), 'On the determination of mesodermal tissues in the avian embryonic wing bud', Anat Embryol (Berl), 161 (3), 283-9.

Wacker, S. A., Jansen, H. J., McNulty, C. L., Houtzager, E. and Durston, A. J. (2004), 'Timed interactions between the Hox expressing non-organiser mesoderm and the Spemann organiser generate positional information during vertebrate gastrulation', Dev Biol, 268 (1), 207-19.

Wagner, J., Schmidt, C., Nikowits, W. Jr. and Christ, B. (2000), 'Compartmentalization of the somite and myogenesis in chick embryos are influenced by wnt expression', Dev Biol, 228 (1), 86-94.

Wahl, M. B., Deng, C., Lewandoski, M. and Pourquié, O. (2007), 'FGF signaling acts upstream of the NOTCH and WNT signaling pathways to control segmentation clock oscillations in mouse somitogenesis', Development, 134 (22), 4033-41.

Wallin, J., Wilting, J., Koseki, H., Fritsch, R., Christ, B. and Balling, R. (1994), 'The role of Pax-1 in axial skeleton development', Development, 120 (5), 1109-21.

Wallis, J. W., Aerts, J., Groenen, M. A., Crooijmans, R. P., Layman, D., Graves, T. A., Scheer, D. E., Kremitzki, C., Fedele, M. J., Mudd, N. K., Cardenas, M., Higginbotham, J., Carter, J., McGrane, R., Gaige, T., Mead, K., Walker, J., Albracht, D., Davito, J., Yang, S. P., Leong, S., Chinwalla, A., Sekhon, M., Wylie, K., Dodgson, J., Romanov, M. N., Cheng, H., de Jong, P. J., Osoegawa, K., Nefedov, M., Zhang, H., McPherson, J. D., Krzywinski, M., Schein, J., Hillier, L., Mardis, E. R., Wilson, R. K. and Warren, W. C. (2004), 'A physical map of the chicken genome', Nature, 432 (7018), 761-4.

Walls, J. R., Coultas, L., Rossant, J. and Henkelman, R. M. (2008), 'Three-dimensional analysis of vascular development in the mouse embryo', PLoS One, 3 (8), e2853.

Wang, H. U. and Anderson, D. J. (1997), 'Eph family transmembrane ligands can mediate repulsive guidance of trunk neural crest migration and motor axon outgrowth', Neuron, 18 (3), 383-96.

Watanabe, T., Saito, D., Tanabe, K., Suetsugu, R., Nakaya, Y., Nakagawa, S. and Takahashi, Y. (2007), 'Tet-on inducible system combined with in ovo electroporation dissects multiple roles of genes in somitogenesis of chicken embryos', Dev Biol, 305 (2), 625-36.

Watanabe, T., Sato, Y., Saito, D., Tadokoro, R. and Takahashi, Y. (2009), 'EphrinB2 coordinates the formation of a morphological boundary and cell epithelialization during somite segmentation', Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 106 (18), 7467-72.

Watanabe, Y. and Le Douarin, N. M. (1996), 'A role for BMP-4 in the development of subcutaneous cartilage', Mech Dev, 57 (1), 69-78.

Wellik, D. M. (2007), 'Hox patterning of the vertebrate axial skeleton', Dev Dyn, 236 (9), 2454-63.

Wijgerde, M., Karp, S., McMahon, J. and McMahon, A. P. (2005), 'Noggin antagonism of BMP4 signaling controls development of the axial skeleton in the mouse', Dev Biol, 286 (1), 149-57.

Williams, B. A. and Ordahl, C. P. (1994), 'Pax-3 expression in segmental mesoderm marks early stages in myogenic cell specification', Development, 120 (4), 785-96.

Williams, L.W. (1910), 'The somites of the chick', Am J Anat, 11, 55-100.

Wilson, V. and Beddington, R. S. (1996), 'Cell fate and morphogenetic movement in the late mouse primitive streak', Mech Dev, 55 (1), 79-89.

Wilson, V., Olivera-Martinez, I. and Storey, K. G. (2009), 'Stem cells, signals and vertebrate body axis extension', Development, 136 (10), 1591-604.

Winnier, G., Blessing, M., Labosky, P. A. and Hogan, B. L. (1995), 'Bone morphogenetic protein-4 is required for mesoderm formation and patterning in the mouse', Genes Dev, 9 (17), 2105-16.

Wong, P. C., Zheng, H., Chen, H., Becher, M. W., Sirinathsinghji, D. J., Trumbauer, M. E., Chen, H. Y., Price, D. L., Van der Ploeg, L. H. and Sisodia, S. S. (1997), 'Presenilin 1 is required for Notch1 and DII1 expression in the paraxial mesoderm', Nature, 387 (6630), 288-92.

Wozney, J. M., Rosen, V., Celeste, A. J., Mitsock, L. M., Whitters, M. J., Kriz, R. W., Hewick, R. M. and Wang, E. A. (1988), 'Novel regulators of bone formation: molecular clones and activities', Science, 242 (4885), 1528-34.

Yamaguchi, K., Shirakabe, K., Shibuya, H., Irie, K., Oishi, I., Ueno, N., Taniguchi, T., Nishida, E. and Matsumoto, K. (1995), 'Identification of a member of the MAPKKK family as a potential mediator of TGF-beta signal transduction', Science, 270 (5244), 2008-11.

Yan, C., Martinez-Quiles, N., Eden, S., Shibata, T., Takeshima, F., Shinkura, R., Fujiwara, Y., Bronson, R., Snapper, S. B., Kirschner, M. W., Geha, R., Rosen, F. S. and Alt, F. W. (2003), 'WAVE2 deficiency reveals distinct roles in embryogenesis and Rac-mediated actinbased motility', EMBO J, 22 (14), 3602-12.

Yao, D., Dore, J. J., Jr. and Leof, E. B. (2000), 'FKBP12 is a negative regulator of transforming growth factor-beta receptor internalization', J Biol Chem, 275 (17), 13149-54.

Zhang, L., Kendrick, C., Jülich, D. and Holley, S. A. (2008), 'Cell cycle progression is required for zebrafish somite morphogenesis but not segmentation clock function', Development, 135 (12), 2065-70.

Zhang, N. and Gridley, T. (1998), 'Defects in somite formation in lunatic fringe-deficient mice', Nature, 394 (6691), 374-7.

Zhang, N., Norton, C. R. and Gridley, T. (2002), 'Segmentation defects of Notch pathway mutants and absence of a synergistic phenotype in lunatic fringe/radical fringe double mutant mice', Genesis, 33 (1), 21-8.

Zhang, Y. E. (2009), 'Non-Smad pathways in TGF-beta signaling', Cell Res, 19 (1), 128-39.

Zimmerman, L. B., De Jesus-Escobar, J. M. and Harland, R. M. (1996), 'The Spemann organizer signal noggin binds and inactivates bone morphogenetic protein 4', Cell, 86 (4), 599-606.

# **Appendix 1: Publication**



# Somites Without a Clock Ana S. Dias, Irene de Almeida, Julio M. Belmonte, James A. Glazier and Claudio D. Stern (January 9, 2014) *Science* 343 (6172), 791-795. [doi: 10.1126/science.1247575] originally published online January 9, 2014

Editor's Summary

#### Cell-Cell Interactions in Development

In vertebrate embryos, the number, size, and positional identity of mesodermal segments (somites) located bilaterally along the anteriorposterior axis is widely believed to be controlled by a molecular clock of oscillating gene expression interacting with a traveling wave of signals to determine how many cells make up a somite. **Dias** *et al.* (p. 791, published online 9 January; see the Perspective by **Kondo**) reveal that it is possible to generate somites of normal size, shape, and identity without either a clock or a wavefront. Instead, the findings suggest that somite size and shape are regulated by local cell-cell interactions.

This copy is for your personal, non-commercial use only.	
Article Tools	Visit the online version of this article to access the personalization and article tools: http://science.sciencemag.org/content/343/6172/791
Permissions	Obtain information about reproducing this article: http://www.sciencemag.org/about/permissions.dtl

# **Appendix 2**

## **Reagents setup**

Saline solution used for modified New (1955) technique of culture of chicken embryos: Pannett-Compton saline (Pannett and Compton, 1924)

#### Solution A

121 g NaCl

15.5 g KCl

10.42 g CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O

12.7 g MgCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O

 $H_2O$  to 1 litre

### Solution **B**

2.365 g Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O

0.188 g NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O

H<sub>2</sub>O to 1 litre

Both stock solutions were autoclaved for storage at room temperature, and once opened kept at 4°C. Before use, mixed in order 120 ml of solution A, 2700 ml H<sub>2</sub>O, and 180 ml of solution B. To prevent infections 1:1000 dilution antibiotic/antimycotic (GIBCO) solution was added.
#### Saline solution used for dissection of grafts: Tyrode's saline.

#### 10x concentrated stock

80 g NaCl

2 g KCl

2.71 g CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O

0.5 g NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>

2 g MgCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O

10 g glucose

H<sub>2</sub>O to 1 litre

Stock solution was autoclaved for storage at room temperature.

Before use, diluted 1:10 with distilled water.

#### Solutions for whole mount *in situ* hybridization

#### Hybridization buffer (HB)

50% Formamide

1.3x SSC (pH 5.3)

5 mM EGTA

50 µg/ml yeast RNA

0.2% Tween-20

0.005% CHAPS

100 µg/ml Heparin

#### **Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS)**

8.76 g NaCl

 $2.14 \text{ g} \text{ N}_2\text{HPO}_4.7\text{H}_2\text{O}$ 

 $2.3 \ g \ Na_2H_2PO_4$ 

 $H_2O$  to 1 litre

pH 7.0

#### PTW

Phosphate Buffered Saline; 0.1% Tween-20 solution

#### Tris-Buffered Saline Tween-20 (TBST)

- 1.4 M NaCl
- 27 mM KCl
- 0.25 M Tris-HCl pH7.5
- 1% Tween-20

#### NTMT

0.1M NaCl

- 0.1M Tris-HCl pH 9.5
- $0.005M\;MgCl_2$
- 0.1% Tween-20

#### **Developing solution**

NTMT with 4.5  $\mu$ l BCIP (5-bromo-4chloro-3-indolyl phosphate: 7.5 mg/ml in 70% dimethylformamide) and 3.5  $\mu$ l NBT (Nitro-blue teratzolium: 50 mg/ml in 100% dimethylformamide) per ml.

#### Solutions for imunohistochemistry

#### **Blocking solution**

PBS + 1% Bovine serum + 0.1% Triton X100

## Appendix 3

Axial Level	Somite Stage	Diameter (µm)	Volume (µm <sup>3</sup> )	
	Er	and more of		
		nbryo 1		
17		120	9.05 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
16	Ш	115	7.96 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
15	III	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
14	IV	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
	Er	nbryo 2		
16	1	70	1.8 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
15	IJ	80	2.68 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
14	Ш	70	$1.8 \times 10^{5}$	
13	IV	85	3.22 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
	Er	nbryo 3		
16	1	80	2.68 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
15	1	80	2.68 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
14	11	95	4.49 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
13	IV	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
	Er	nbryo 4		
17	I	80	2.68 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
16	11	90	3.82 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
15	Ш	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
14	IV	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
	Er	nbryo 5		
17	1	110	6.97 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
16	11	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
15	III	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
14	IV	95	4.49 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
	Er	nbryo 6		
17	1	95	4.49 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
16	11	90	3.82 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
15	III	90	3.82 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
14	IV	75	2.29 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
	Er	nbryo 7		
18	1	120	9.05 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
17	11	95	4.49 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
16	111	95	4.49 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
15	IV	95	4.49 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
	Er	nbryo 8		
19	1	125	1.02 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
18	П	125	1.02 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
17		125	1.02 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
16	IV	110	6.97 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	

#### Table A3.1. Endogenous epithelial somite measurements.

Diameter column shows the measurement of the diameter of the endogenous epithelial somites from live embryos (8 embryos, n=24 endogenous epithelial somites measured). Somite axial level is provided in Arabic numerals. Somite stages (Christ and Ordahl, 1995) are provided in Roman numerals and correspond to the

youngest epithelial endogenous somites (SI, SII, SII, SIV) for each embryo.

	"Bunche	es of grapes"-	Experimental Sc	xperimental Somites		
Experimental Somite	Diameter (µm)	Volume (µm <sup>3</sup> )	Experimental Somite	Diameter (µm)	Volume (µm³)	
1	Host-Embryo 1		Host-Embryo 6			
1	120	9.05 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	1	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
2	105	6.06 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	2	90	3.82 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
3	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	3	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
4	150	1.77 x 10 <sup>6</sup>	4	90	3.82 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
5	90	3.82 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	5	90	3.82 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
6	80	2.68 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	6	90	3.82 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
7	90	3.82 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	7	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
8	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	8	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
9	80	2.68 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	Host-Embryo 7			
Host-Embryo 2			1	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
1	75	2.21 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	2	110	6.97 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
2	75	2.21 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	3	110	6.97 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
3	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	4	80	2.68 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
4	120	1.05 x 10 <sup>6</sup>	5	80	2.68 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
5	120	1.05 x 10 <sup>6</sup>	6	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
6	110	6.97 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	7	110	6.97 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
1	Host-Embryo 3			125	1.02 x 10 <sup>6</sup>	
1	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	9	125	1.02 x 10 <sup>6</sup>	
2	85	3.22 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	Host-Embryo 8			
3	150	1.77 x 10 <sup>6</sup>	1	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
4	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	2	95	1.29 x 10 <sup>6</sup>	
5	150	1.77 x 10 <sup>6</sup>	3	60	1.13 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
6	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	4	60	1.13 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
Host-Embryo 4			5	60	1.13 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
1	80	2.68 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	6	65	1.44 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
2	75	2.21 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	7	60	1.13 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	
3	80	2.68 x 10 <sup>5</sup>				
4	85	3.22 x 10 <sup>5</sup>				
5	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	_			
Host-Embryo 5			-			
1	70	1.8 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	-			
2	90	3.82 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	_			
3	90	3.82 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	_			
4	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	_			
5	105	6.06 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	4			
6	110	6.97 x 10⁵				
7	125	1.02 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	-			
8	100	5.24 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	4			
9	115	7.96 x 10⁵				

#### Table A3.2. Experimental Somites measurements.

Table shows the measurements of the diameter and calculated volumes of experimental somites from "bunches of grapes" ("bunches of grapes" from 8 embryos, n=59 experimental somites measured). (Note that these experimental somites were formed in host chicken embryos from which the endogenous epithelial somite measurements were taken for size comparison in Table A3.1).



Graph A3.1. The experimental somites and the endogenous somites do not present a significant difference in their volumes.

### **Appendix 4**

# Figure A4.1-A4.5. Time-course of the expression of the molecular clock markers *Hairy1*-, *Hairy2*, and *Lunatic fringe.*

No evidence of oscillatory expression of the molecular clock genes, *Hairy1*, *Hairy2* or *LFng* in PPS explants, at different time-points of the time-course. A4.1 – 3 hours, A4.2 – 4.5 hours, A4.3 -5.15 hours, A4.4 – 6.5 hours and A4.5 – 7.5 hours after Noggin protein treatment of the HH-St.5 PPS explant. Different examples of the expression of the markers are shown for a single time-point. The host embryos show typical variations of expression patterns; by comparison the explants show comparatively invariance of expression patterns (insets).



Figure A4.1



Figure A4.2



Figure A4.3



Figure A4.4



Figure A4.5